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ASL at a Glance BB R G EFEE

CORPORATE OVERVIEW £ B &N

e Information Technology (IT) services provider since 1973 o B t=FRREEEMBERS
e Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd. (SHSE Stock Code: 600410) becomes the o IEREBRAREHEBRNBERAR (LEBFHZSHAHM

ZRRMAREE - 600410) R=_ZEZNFNAKEBAA
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Company’s ultimate holding company in September 2009

e Dedicated to delivering innovative, industry-specific and one-stop IT solutions and .
services to customers across the region with business operations in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, United States, Europe, Taiwan, Macau, Thailand, Singapore and

Malaysia, etc.
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Business Review - Asia Pacific I8 X B 5[0 E

Orders Adjusted
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Operational Highlights - Asia Pacific T2 K E%£ = 2

3 core businesses divisions contributed approximately 80% adjusted EBITDA of entire Asia Pacific

“AREEEBHMPIRTAREBNEIEERE A AREBFLFEEBITDALI80%

(according to the total contract amount received from application development projects, as
well as the cumulative total contract amount of all service category contracts)

Received a project that can benefit the 7 million citizens in Hong
Kong from a

Equipped with new and diversified delivery model, such as and

Staffed with 800+ technical staff with and

(MR MENIBER AR  ERMBRBEN AN R ASHE)
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Intelligent Cybersecurity
Services Business
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Integrated Managed
Services Business
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Win cases

B Leveraged its domain knowledge, network and security competitive advantages to obtain
orders from the various industries

B Provided cybersecurity services for SWIFT-related applications for banking and finance
industries & built comprehensive networking infrastructure and implementation of
network construction for the world’s busiest airport

Key projects
B Launched the A-TIP, an ASL Threat Intelligence Portal, and leveraged Security Operation
Center Plus to provide security services
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Win cases

B Provision of IT Managed Service for most of the public housing estates’ management
offices in Hong Kong

W Provision of IT operation services for more than 20,000 users from a healthcare
authority

B Provision of IT operation services for more than tens of thousands users from numerous
China-funded and multi-national banks

Key projects

B Signed partnership with Apple and Equinix to enhance managed services
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Revenue Distribution - Asia Pacific It KX E U A 72 4

Non-core Businesses
FEFEETG
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Integrated Managed Services Business
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Innovative Solutions Business
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Intelligent Cybersecurity Services Business
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Competitive Advantages - Asia Pacific 22 X &
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Market Penetration - Asia Pacific B KBTI EZEER
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Top 3

Local IT
services provider

in Hong Kong
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Data source: IDC (according to revenue**)
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Order-in represents the 2019 Orders newly secured in 3 Core Businesses Divisions, for reference only.



Business Review - U.S. and Europe & 3% & ¥ 75 [0 B
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Operational Highlights - U.S. and Europe BB X B %K= %

Win Cases IBRIESY]

I Revenue from increased customers reaches HK$100 million approximately B REETEEPMWAZRNEET

M Continues to serve the Fortune 500 customers, including Google and Apple B #EA BE 500 52 BERMERS - 40 Google

AN Apple

B Opens up 1/3 more customers in the retail sector, and added more logos in other B HEZERFIEFELIFBEH =KL EMITERRE
industries FPEHEER

B Wins significant contracts, e.g. enhancement of the client’s omni-selling products M mEZFHEMEAL - 1§|J§ZD7%%EE§KE’]§EQETZ
and experience from one of the largest department stores in the U.S. —RAAEFNZREEMHERS

Key Investment Achievements BERRERR

M Grid Dynamics International, Inc (Grid Dynamics or GDI), located at Silicon Valley, ~ M 2017 F Y& iz i E B % A #) Grid Dynamics
was acquired by the Group in 2017 and the Group intended to spin GDI off in International, Inc (Grid Dynamics 3% GDI) * B
November 2019 2019 F 11 ARG E D

B Grid Dynamics, was named a leader among midsize agile software development B Grid Dynamics 7 2019 G # Forrester (NASDAQ:
service providers by Forrester (NASDAQ: FORR), one of the world’s most FORR) #F AH B B S F R IR BB E
influential research and consultancy firms. The recognition is attributable to the FRREGERRR - ARFEAHLE—B8E
implementation of a new share option scheme, an incentive measure thereby BTH - AEBEEDLERMNBEIEK - URE
encouraging employee’s further contribution to the Group, and also to the &7 B B 3 JUHA N ES DA 48 H#E B Grid Dynamics
R&D investment amounted to US$7.0 million to continuously promote the BRI

technological change of Grid Dynamics
B Enhances brand awareness by participating in various large-scale marketing B EiB2 ETE MR R IE AR T 5 H BT B KR

activities hosted in different locations, e.g. dispatching data scientists as speakers FREAEE - IR EHEERNERNESRH
in Al Ukraine conference in Kyiv, Ukraine and more AERBTHNERMALEEE SRS REES
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Market Penetration - U.S. and Europe BiEE T B2 EER

Google & Apple

(Top IT companies)
choose GDI's data analytics services

Google & Apple

(B ma=)
212 GDI B EUIE DT RS

2016-2019
Revenue CAGR Compound
Annual Growth Rate

29.5%

2016-2019
WAERFEEER
29.5%

World’s largest

store adopts GDI's e-commerce
services for its online shop

2B KR
eI A E A8 _E R £ GDIAY
BT RG

2016 — 2019
gross profit margin
at 38-45%
(much higher than the market benchmark of 30%)
Adjusted EBITDA

increased by

20% +

compared to last year

2016 -2019
ESRIES
38-45%
(ERNTIEERER30%)
#EFIEEBITDA
BEFEM
20% A E




Outlooks KK EE

B The merger agreement between Grid Dynamics and ChaSerg Technology
Acquisition Corp. (“ChaSerg”) has been completed on 5 March 2020 (Pacific
Time), the closing price was US$12.0, with a market value of approximately
US$650.0 million (approximately HK$5,093.0 million). Grid Dynamics was
successfully merged with ChaSerg, a NASDAQ listed company, with a structure of
a reverse triangular merger followed immediately by a forward triangular merger
through ChaSerg, in order to finally achieve listing on NASDAQ and traded
under the name of Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc (ticker symbol: GDYN). (“Grid
Dynamics Holdings”). Upon completion, the Group received cash consideration
of approximately US$93.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$731.6 million)
and was interested in approximately 38.3% of the issued share capital of Grid
Dynamics Holdings as at the date of Completion

B The listing of Grid Dynamics Holdings will greatly improve the Group’s asset-
liability structure, through acquiring sufficient cash to support the development
of major operating businesses, thereby coping with the current macroeconomic
downward pressure, and further promoting and refining the business layout and
development in the Asia-Pacific region

B With respect to Asia Pacific business, the Group will:

¢ launch an omni-channel and cloud-based service platform

e continue its annual promotional activity “ASL Solution Tour” to promote the
Group's Unified Technology Services

e carry out “as-a-Service” strategy for unifying ASL services capabilities to cater
customers’ needs

Note 1: Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortisation (Adjusted EBITDA)
is calculated based on profit for the year excluding interest income and expenses, tax, depreciation,
amortisation, fair value change on revaluation of investment properties, equity-settled share-
based payments expense, share of results of associates, impairment loss recognised on interests in
associates, fair value change on contingent consideration payable, fair value change on financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and equity-transaction-related expenses (mainly include
professional fees). Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” during the year, the rental expenses of
the Group’s leases are recorded as depreciation of right-of-use assets and finance charges on lease
liabilities, these expenses are excluded from 2019 Adjusted EBITDA, the prior year's rental expenses
were included in lease charges and included in 2018 Adjusted EBITDA.

* In terms of number of team members. Internal figures for reference only.

A In terms of sales volume. Internal figures for reference only.

** |DC Asia/Pacific Semiannual Services Tracker, 2H 2017

B Grid Dynamics £ ChaSerg Technology Acquisition
Corp. ([ ChaSerg ) B9& B AR T+ 3
A5 AT - SERRRIWTER 12.0%T - A
#7650.0 B&3EIT (4950.918/%7T) ° Grid Dynamics
I ER AR ETE S _ETRYZA E] ChaSerg & 6F » Wil
B ChaSerg 1T [A) « IEAMMN = AHE - &
EEIRPNNETES BME T - 3L Grid Dynamics
Holdings, Inc. ([ Grid Dynamics Holdings ) FATT#57%
B(RERIER [GDYN]) « NRZF T - A&
EESHN B8 EEET(HHERN 7316 BEHAT)
2 S RB KA Grid Dynamics Holdings A5eAk B
HA%)38.3% 2 B EATIRAN
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Quality Policy of ASL
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Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
BEIRA(ER)ERAHE

1SO 9001 : 2015
Certificate No.: CC 1505
Service Delivery

BRI

1SO 9001 : 2015
Certificate No.: CC 5337
Sales Operation Division

SHEEIFRD

ELM Computer Technologies Limited
RMMBEREERAE

1SO 9001 : 2015
Certificate No.: CC 3268
Service Delivery
R A

2 Annual Report 2019 & #f

ISO/IEC 20000-1 : 2011
Certificate No.: CC 5406
IT Service Center
BB R

We are committed to be the excellent IT services partner by providing
customers innovative, quality and integrated one-stop IT services and
solutions. We aim at satisfying our customers’ business needs through forging
strategic alliance with our business partners and the core values of the Group
— "SPACT":

"S" — Strive for Excellence
Perform work with best effort and the highest standard. Always looking for
ways to make further improvement.

“P" - Problem Solving

Solve problem with effective solutions in a timely manner and be able to
identify the core of the problems and provide workable solutions in an honest
manner.

“A" — Accountable

Be accountable for one’s area of responsibilities whilst working towards the
goal of the company, be responsible for managing and following up with the
work until complete success.

“C" - Courage

To change and innovate — respond timely to change and to enable the
company to become efficient and competitive. Eager to invent new ideas and
new ways of work to advance in a leading position.

“T" — Teamwork
Work as part of the team, co-operate and contribute to team effort and
success. Willing to offer help, share ideas and knowledge.

€ cMMIDEV/3

0, _SGS.
ISO/IEC 27001 : 2013
Certificate No.: HK12/00068
Security Operation Center Plus

ZREMEPO+

Capability Maturity Model Integration for Development (CMMI)
Version 1.3 - Maturity Level 3 - DEV
Software Development and Support Service Organization

BB R EREAS



Customer Service Excellence with Corporate Responsibility

BITERER  NEREBEREFPRK

Ml 1T Racing Championship
TEESER

M Tung Chun
Walk 2019
ROBHETT 2019

B Staff Award of
Excellence

e B T 58@h= T4

SO B Y
M ASL is awarded the Best HR Awards 2018’s Best
Employee Wellness Award by the CTgoodjobs, a

member of the Hong Kong Economic Times Group in
January 2019

BENRMN2019F 1 AREREBLE R BEEE
A & CTgoodjobs £2###) Best HR Awards 2018 - %
FHEETREAE

ASL is committed to care the community, the
employees and the environment by organizing
various kinds of activities, including “Graduate
Trainee Program”, “Tung Chung Family Walk
2019", “Staff Award of Excellence”, “Kharkiv
Summer Party 2019”, “Kyiv Summer Party
2019", “Race of Heroes”, “Annual Airport Run
Marathon”, “IT Racing Championship”, “Big
Concert”, “New Year Party”, etc. Besides, the
leading human resources platform CTgoodjobs
bestowed the “Best HR Awards 2018" to ASL to
recognize its outstanding talent management.
Furthermore, ASL was awarded the “Triple Gold
Award” under the Web Accessibility Recognition
Scheme to recognize its contributions and
commitments towards an accessible digital city.

M Kharkiv Summer Party
2019
BERKE Bk

BERRARNBBARRSEITH
REELR  BTHMIRE B
[EXETEHE ] TREED
772019) - [ B TH8E) =181 -
[MaREIERE BIRE 2019) - [E8H
ERIRY 2019 [ HIEEHRE] -
[FEMSERNR] [ TEBEEE
B [bEENTLE] [FF
R | & o BHN - BEMATER
& CTgoodjobs 4] & &) K &8 2
[Best HR Awards 2018] IA K5 H
BIELAT HEAHLRE - &
ERES et a A |
WZEeR] LA THEAHEDE
ERHR T ATE L M BB -

/19 IR T W Web Accessibility

Automated Systems Holdings Limited 58 Z 5B BR AR

Recognition Scheme
Triple Gold Award
BEEHE B AT
R (=g




Corporate Information
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Weihang (Chairman)
WANG Yueou (Chief Executive Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Wei
CUI'Yong

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

PAN Xinrong
DENG Jianxin
OR Siu Ching, Rerina

AUDIT COMMITTEE

DENG Jianxin (Chairman)
LI Wei

PAN Xinrong

OR Siu Ching, Rerina

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

PAN Xinrong (Chairman)
LI Wei
OR Siu Ching, Rerina

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

WANG Weihang (Chairman)
PAN Xinrong
DENG Jianxin

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

WANG Yueou (Chairman)
LI Wei
CUI Yong

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

WANG Weihang (Chairman)
WANG Yueou

PAN Xinrong

DENG lJianxin

COMPANY SECRETARY

NGAN Wai Hing
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

SOLICITORS

Jones Day
Woo Kwan Lee & Lo
Appleby

AUDITOR

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor,

31 Victoria Street,

Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 771

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

15th Floor, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
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Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor,

31 Victoria Street,

Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda
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Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda
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Financial Calendar
B % B

RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
EEBENE
08/2019 03/2020
| |
Interim Annual
(for the six months ended 30th June 2019) (for the year ended 31st December 2019)
27th August 2019 25th March 2020
AR FE
(BEZZ-—NFXA=1+HLA~EAR) (B2 Z—NFt+-_A=+—HIFE)
—ZE-AFENB=++tH —EZZEHF=AC+HH
DIVIDEND
Hﬁl%\
05/2020 i 06/2020 i
Proposed special dividend Proposed final dividend
(7.3 HK cents per share) (3.0 HK cents per share)
20th May 2020 24th June 2020
EEEIRE EERARERE
(& 7.37%810) (=& 3.0800)
“E-ZEFRAZTH ZECEFARAZTHNA
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
TERER 0B FES
04/2020 05/2020
| |
29th April 2020 22nd May 2020 to 27th May 2020
ZEZFFMA=FRA CECTFRACT AR EFAA=-1+EH

06/2020

3rd June 2020 to 5th June 2020
—E-TEXAZHE-T-_THFXAEHA

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

RRBF KRS
05/2020

27th May 2020
—T-ZFRA-++H
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Financial Summary

I EE

RESULTS
N
E4
For the year ended 31st December
BE+-A=t+-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“EB-NE | Z2-N\F ZZ—tF ZZ-RF ZT-AafF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FEL FET THET
Revenue WA 2,828,773 | 2,344,457 1917453 1,521,985 1,506,041
Profit before income tax FRETE A& A 139,381 127,335 69,748 38,978 27,578
Income tax expense FEHRAX (39,073) (43,002) (17,169) (10,181) (7,874)
Profit for the year ER R 100,308 84,333 52,579 28,797 19,704
Profit for the year attributable to R
non-controlling interests R 7,032 - - - -
Profit for the year attributable to ARARAFRA
equity holders of the Company FEAS S P 93,276 84,333 52,579 28,797 19,704

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERAE
At 31st December
Rt=A=t+-8
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-RE | ZE-\F Tt ZT-XF ZT-1fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T FET FET FHET
Total assets BEE 2,798,592 | 2,381,032 2264893 1166328 1,175,121
Total liabilities BafE 1,345,810 | 1,168,155 1,167,075 447,295 491,771
Equity attributable to equity ARRRAFEA
holders of the Company ElhiER 1,405,272 | 1,212,877 1,097,818 719,033 683,350
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In 2020, Grid Dynamics, a business of the Group in Europe
and the United States, has successfully listed on NASDAQ
which will further promote and improve the Group'’s
business layout and development in the Asia Pacific.

R=ZBZZ2F » AEEETHMEEZE Grid Dynamics i
MEPERRI EH  E— S HBNEELEBETAEN
EBHRMBRE -

Mr. WANG Weihang
Chairman

T#HM EF

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present to
the shareholders the annual report of Automated Systems Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “ASL" or the “Group”).

2019 definitely marks another year of prosperity, for we recorded growth in both
revenue and profit. It was attributable to the assiduous implementation of the digital
transformation within the Group, technological upgrades and service capabilities and
being resolute in tapping into comparative advantages endowed in the industry. All
these brought to the continuous consolidation of our market position.

In 2019, the Group recorded a revenue of HK$2,828.8 million, increased by 20.7%,
compared to the same period of last year. The increase in revenue was primarily due to
approximately 30.0% growth in newly secured orders of the Group’s regular business
in Hong Kong, Macau, Asia Pacific and Europe and the United States, compared to
that of previous year. During the year, profit increased by 18.9%, compared to last
year; profit attributable to equity holders of the Company during the year increased
by 10.6% to HK$93.3 million. The Group maintained a healthy financial position, with
bank balances and cash standing at approximately HK$456.1 million. The Board has
resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of 3.0 HK cents per share and
a special dividend of 7.3 HK cents per share.

During the year, our businesses in the Asia Pacific, Europe and the United States
has grown in tandem with vigour. In the Asia Pacific market, we are faced with the
pressing demand from the customers on unifying both existing and ever-evolving
leading technologies, namely, cloud, big data analytics and forecast, and artificial
intelligence, among others. To this end, the Group, has achieved remarkable progress
by adhering to its core value of unified technology services, and forging ahead
with its three core businesses, including Innovative Solutions business, Intelligent
Cybersecurity Services business and Integrated Managed Services business. The Group
received benchmarking orders from various industry sectors, including our proprietary
mobile application project, which can benefit to 7 million citizens in Hong Kong, a
comprehensive networking infrastructure for the busiest airport across the globe and
the provision of IT operation to serve more than 20,000 users in a healthcare authority.
By dint of technological competencies and meticulous services, the Group was
awarded with a vast number of technology and service awards from IT service vendors
and industry players. Encouraging results have been achieved, for instance, the Group
was honourably elected as one of 2019 Huawei’s best-selling partners in Hong Kong,
along with five grand prizes from the Mob-Ex Awards 2019.
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During the year, aside from implementing the predesignated strategies, ASL also rolled
out its in-house branded services, including the launch of ASL Threat Intelligence
Portal (A-TIP), while the preparation work for an omni-channel and cloud-based
service platform is underway, that served to boost our competitive edges. The Group
continued to work with Huawei, Alibaba Cloud, Apple Inc., Equinix, Check Point and
many other top-notch partners worldwide, and we hosted promotional activities on
solutions and services for the three core businesses in Hong Kong and other areas.
It is noteworthy that the Group’s annual event “ASL Solution Tour” has received an
overwhelming support, which further solidified the Group’s reputation within the area.

For overseas business, Grid Dynamics International, Inc. (“Grid Dynamics”), a
subsidiary of the Group operated in Silicon Valley, continued to benefit from the
immediate demand for digital transformation and outstanding results performance
accomplished during the year. At the end of 2019, the Group announced that it
intended to spin off Grid Dynamics at a valuation approximately US$390.0 million
(approximately HK$3,043.0 million), and was successfully merged with ChaSerg
Technology Acquisition Corp. (“ChaSerg”) on 5th March 2020 (Pacific Time). The
closing price upon the completion was US$12.0, with a market value of approximately
US$650.0 million (approximately HK$5,093.0 million), with an increase of 17.8%
compared with its contracted issue price. Grid Dynamics was successfully merged with
ChaSerg, a NASDAQ listed company, with a structure of a reverse triangular merger
followed immediately by a forward triangular merger through ChaSerg, in order
to finally achieve listing on NASDAQ and traded under the name of Grid Dynamics
Holdings, Inc (ticker symbol: GDYN). (“Grid Dynamics Holdings”). Marking a successful
end to the Grid Dynamics listing plan with a planning period of up to one year, and
marking a new milestone for the Group.

Looking ahead, the spin-off and separate listing of Grid Dynamics is expected to
further consolidate the Group’s position in the IT industry in the United States. Besides,
the Group received cash consideration of approximately US$93.8 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$731.6 million) and was interested in approximately 38.3% of
the issued share capital of Grid Dynamics Holdings as at the date of completion. The
Group is convinced that the additional funding is able to prepare us for the prevailing
downside persisted in the economy, as well as helping facilitate the next round of
rapid development ventures in the Asia Pacific. With the backing of adequate funding,
we are poised to leverage on our unique competitive strength and are ready to enter
into potential markets.

Being a forward-looking technology service and solution provider, we regard both
transformation and restructuring as a boundless journey. The Group will continue to
strive to nurture the finest talents and technical expertise, to expand regional markets,
to pursue operational excellence, and to leap forward with an innovative mindset by
achieving sustainable business development. Based on an “as-a-Service” business
operation mode, we manage to integrate application development, cybersecurity
and omni-channel managed services into three-in-one professional technical service
capabilities. As such, we aim to provide the best application experience, and support
customers in advancing business transformation with innovative technology. We also
aspire stride forward, hand-in-hand, with our valued customers.

The Group’s fruit-bearing results of the year is largely attributable to the loyalty,
hard work and innovative mindset of all our staff members, the strategic guidance
and directives of all members of the Board, as well as the unfailing support from
shareholders, business partners, and customers. To all of you, we deeply extend our
sincere gratitude.

Wang Weihang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th March 2020
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement
THETRE

Officer

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Results

For the year ended 31st December 2019, total revenue of the Group was HK$2,828.8
million, representing a 20.7% increase from last year, among which, sales in Hong
Kong, Macau and Asia Pacific were increased by 17.2% to HK$1,903.2 million and
sales in Europe and the United States were increased by 28.5% to HK$925.6 million.
The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to approximately 30% growth in
newly secured orders of the Group’s regular business in Hong Kong, Macau and Asia
Pacific as well as Europe and the United States, as compared to last year.

For the year ended 31st December 2019, product sales and service revenue
contributed 36.3% and 63.7% to total revenue respectively, compared to 34.9% and
65.1% last year. Commercial and public sector sales contributed 64.3% and 35.7% to
total revenue respectively, compared to 62.7% and 37.3% last year.

Gross profit for the year ended 31st December 2019 was HK$564.1 million, an
increase of HK$71.5 million or 14.5% compared with last year, among which, gross
profit of the Group’s regular business in Hong Kong, Macau and Asia Pacific were
increased by 4.4% to HK$209.2 million and in Europe and the United States were
increased by 21.4% to HK$354.9 million. Gross profit margin for the year was 19.9%
and at similar level as last year.
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The Group continued to run digital transformation,
improve its technical and service capabilities,
further cultivate advantageous industries and
strengthen its market position in 2019.
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WANG Yueou Chief Executive
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The Group recorded a profit for the year of HK$100.3 million, a rise of 18.9%
compared to last year of HK$84.3 million, of which profit attributable to the
Company’s equity holders was HK$93.3 million, representing a 10.6% increase
compared to last year.

For the year ended 31st December 2019, orders newly secured by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,077.9 million, an increase of 29.5% from
HK$2,376.3 million of last year, among which, newly secured orders in Hong Kong,
Macau and Asia Pacific were increased by 26.6% to HK$2,153.6 million and newly
secured orders in Europe and the United States were increased by 36.9% to HK$924.3
million. As at 31st December 2019, the order book balance was approximately
HK$1,322.7 million, an increase of 17.2% compared to last year of HK$1,128.2
million. The Group’s cash stood at approximately HK$456.1 million with a working
capital ratio of 1.19:1. The Group maintained a healthy financial position and
outstanding borrowings amounted to HK$439.8 million as at 31st December 2019.

Business Review

The Group’s business recorded a substantial increase in 2019. As one of the innovative
service leaders in the global IT industry, remarkable results have been achieved
attributable to its advantages and core competitiveness, with the performance
reaching a new high in recent years.

At present, the Group’s business has covered the Asia Pacific, Europe and the United
States; the core business in each region is developing well. For the year ended 31st
December 2019, the Group's revenue, gross profit, profit and adjusted EBITDA were
in HK$2,828.8 million, HK$564.1 million, HK$100.3 million and HK$263.0 million,
respectively, with a significant year-on-year increase of 20.7%, 14.5%, 18.9% and
18.7% respectively.

Revenue, gross profit and adjusted EBITDA in Asia Pacific (including its subsidiaries in
and outside Hong Kong) were HK$1,903.2 million, HK$209.2 million, and HK$108.6
million respectively, with a year-on-year increase of 17.2%, 4.4%, and 13.9%
respectively, accounting for 67.3%, 37.1%, and 41.3% of the Group’s overall business
respectively.

Business in Hong Kong

The Group’s core business division is a major contributor to the business in the Asia-
Pacific, accounting for 82.4% and 78.3% of the Asia-Pacific business revenue and
adjusted EBITDA, while the revenue and adjusted EBITDA recorded HK$1,568.6 million
and HK$85.0 million respectively.

The core business division achieved satisfactory growth, with the orders newly secured
amounted to more than HK$1,757.8 million, including many major landmark projects.
The revenue of the core business division recorded a year-on-year increase of 34.3%,
reflecting the favorable results made by the Group due to its continuous technological
upgrades and service transformation.
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During the year, the Group continued to improve its service capabilities, captured
market demand, and by virtue of solid customer relations, it further cultivated
advantageous industries to gradually secure competitive advantages in the industries.
In addition, the Group adheres to its core value of unified technology services to
effectively promote the development of its three core businesses, as follows:

(1) Innovative Solutions business
(2) Intelligent Cybersecurity Services business

(3) Integrated Managed Services business

Innovative Solutions Business

The innovative solutions achieved strong performance during the year, with overall
service orders newly secured enjoying a growth of reaching 60.9%. Service revenue
was HK$242.6 million, with a significant year-on-year increase of 26.4%.

Leading-edge Technology and Industry Advantages

The Group has more than 800 application development talents and a large agile
development team in Hong Kong. The technical professionals possess both depth and
width of expertise and know-how of current technologies and a variety of innovative
technologies such as cloud, artificial intelligence, etc. The Group also offers diversified
and new delivery models such as agile and DevOps, so as to empower the Group to
successfully seize numerous business opportunities.

In response to the public’s keen demand for electronic government services, the
Group has, during the year, undertaken a number of government service projects
under the Standing Offer Agreement for Quality Professional Services 4. The Group
ranks No.1 in terms of the total dollar amount awarded from application development
projects and also the cumulative total dollar amount of all service category contracts,
and the Group outperformed far more than its competitors. In the healthcare sector,
the Group has successfully received a mobile application project from a healthcare
authority, which can benefit Hong Kong’s 7 million citizens, thus improving experience
in the overall healthcare journey of the citizens.

Intelligent Cybersecurity Business

Service orders newly secured in the business performed well with outstanding results,
with a year-on-year increase of 48.1%. Service revenue recorded HK$126.6 million,
with a significant year-on-year increase of 19.7%.
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Leading-edge Technology and Industry Advantages

This business consists of two major services covering implementing network related
solutions and combating various kinds of cyberattacks for customers.

As the highest level partner of many leading cybersecurity vendors and being among
the top three local security service providers, the Group leverages and integrates the
industry advantages that it has accumulated in cybersecurity, to successfully assist
customers from all walks of life with technologies to meet their increasingly complex
application scenarios, such as certified in the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial
Telecommunication (SWIFT)'s Customer Security Programme (CSP) which enhances
the operational security of the financial industry in the application related to SWIFT. In
addition, as one of the highest sales revenue contribution partners of Huawei in Hong
Kong in 2019, the Group has made use of Huawei’s excellent technology to build
comprehensive network infrastructure for the world’s busiest airport and implement
network construction in the next three years.

In addition, another important initiative of the Group is to launch its own brand.
For example, the ASL Threat Intelligence Portal (A-TIP) of the Group was successfully
launched in 2019. This platform combines global defense information, big data
analytics and the Group’s industry experience, and leverages the Security Operation
Center Plus (SOC+) established by the Group in Hong Kong, to deliver all new security
services such as threat prevention and interdiction to customers and obtain favorable
feedbacks from customers.

Integrated Managed Services Business

During the year, service orders newly secured of the business performed desirably,
recorded 28.8% growth, and service revenue recorded HK$444.9 million.

The business growth is attributed to the Group’s achievements in expanding its IT
managed service support capability from frontend to backend, and with advantages in
human resources, process (ITSM) and technology.

Leading-edge Technology and Industry Advantages

With the increasing demand for mobile experience, the Group has entered into a
partnership with Apple Inc. to expand its development potential in product sales,
mobile application development, maintenance and Device as a Service. In addition,
in the field of multi-cloud management, the Group has become a partner of Equinix,
the world’s top data center provider, to provide customers with more comprehensive
managed services.

During the year, the Group has continued to perform well in the government,
healthcare and banking industries by virtue of its technical advantages, high-quality
services and solid customer relations, and thus has secured many orders. Among
other things, the landmark projects have been to provide IT managed services for a
public housing management organization, covering the public housing throughout
Hong Kong; and to provide IT operations to more than 20,000 users of a healthcare
authority, and to provide IT operations to more than tens of thousands of users from a
number of Chinese banks and multinational banks.
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Business in Europe and the United States

In its business in Europe and the United States, Grid Dynamics International, Inc.
("Grid Dynamics”) recorded a strong growth during the year, with its revenue and
gross profit significantly increased by 28.5% and 21.4% respectively compared with
last year. On the whole, the number of orders newly secured increased by more than
36.9%, driving the overall revenue growth of the Group. The Group continued to
focus on the financial, retail and technology industries and expand the customer base,
with encouraging results.

In 2019, Grid Dynamics was named by Forrester as a Leader among midsize agile
software development service providers. The recognition is attributed to the
implementation of a new share option scheme, an incentive measure thereby
encouraging employee’s further contribution to the Group, and also to the R&D
investment amounted to US$7.0 million to continuously promote the technological
change of Grid Dynamics. During the year, the Group introduced a new strategic
investor in Silicon Valley, and announced that it intended to spin off Grid Dynamics
with a valuation of about US$390.1 million (approximately HK$3,042.8 million), with a
structure of a reverse triangular merger followed immediately by a forward triangular
merger through ChaSerg Technology Acquisition Corp. (“ChaSerg”), a NASDAQ listed
company, in order to finally achieve listing on NASDAQ.

Annual Marketing Event — ASL Solution Tour

The Group successfully launched the ASL Solutions Tour in the first half of 2019,
in Macau, Taiwan and Hong Kong respectively, so as to promote its diversified and
innovative IT services and solutions and help the customers in Macau, Taiwan and
Hong Kong to carry out digital transformation.

Outlook and Prospects

The outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19") since early 2020 has posed
a tremendous challenge to the overall global economy. The Group has been closely
monitoring the impact of the development of the coronavirus on the Group's
businesses and services to customers. As of this stage, the Group’s business and
operations remain broadly normal. There may be adverse effect on the subsequent
financial performance, depending on the development of COVID-19 and its impact
on the economic conditions. The Group will closely monitor the situation and, to the
extent applicable, taking proactive actions to minimize the impact of COVID-19.

In 2020, the Group will embark on a new milestone. Grid Dynamics was successfully
merged with ChaSerg, a NASDAQ listed company, with a structure of a reverse
triangular merger followed immediately by a forward triangular merger through
ChaSerg, in order to finally achieve listing on NASDAQ and traded under the name
of Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc (ticker symbol: GDYN). (“Grid Dynamics Holdings").
The completion took place on 5th March, 2020 (Pacific Time), the closing price upon
the completion of the trade day was USD12.0, with a market value of approximately
USD650.0 million (approximately HK$5,093.0 million), with an increase of 17.8%
compared with its issue price, marking a successful end to the Grid Dynamics listing
plan with a planning period of up to one year.
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The Group has reaped considerable return on investment through Grid Dynamics
listing. Pre-investment valuation of Grid Dynamics has more than tripled compared
to that in 2017. Upon completion, the Group received cash consideration of
approximately USD93.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$731.6 million) and
was interested in approximately 38.3% of the issued share capital of Grid Dynamics
Holdings as at the date of Completion. This will greatly improve the Group’s asset-
liability structure and support the development of operating business with sufficient
cash flow, so as to cope with the pressure of the current macroeconomic downturn,
and further promote and improve the business layout and development in Asia Pacific.

As the single largest shareholder of Grid Dynamics Holdings, the Group will continue
to carry out in-depth collaboration with Grid Dynamics Holdings in three aspects:
technical capability improvement, delivery capability complementarity, and customer
resources sharing.

In its business in the Asia Pacific, the Group expects to officially and comprehensively
launch a service platform based on omni-channel and cloud services in a greater length
in the first half of 2020, so as to achieve the potential of sustainable development and
strengthen the depth of cooperation with customers. Many customers express their
welcome to this new generation of managed services.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue with the annual marketing activity “ASL Solution
Tour” to promote the Group’s Unified Technology Services to customers, while a
brand-new in-house branded services will be exhibited.

Finally, going forward, the Group’s strategy will integrate application development,
cybersecurity, and omni-channel managed services into three-in-one professional
technical service capabilities in the form of an “as-a-Service” business model. In the
fields of cloud computing, big data and more, combined with rich industry experience,
the Group will help customers realize the integration of technology into application
scenarios, and assist customers in carrying out business transformation with
technological innovation to create value for customers, while bringing satisfactory
returns for the investors.

Note:

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortisation (Adjusted EBITDA) is
calculated based on profit for the year excluding interest income and expenses, tax, depreciation,
amortisation, fair value change on revaluation of investment properties, equity-settled share-
based payments expense, share of results of associates, impairment loss recognised on interests in
associates, fair value change on contingent consideration payable, fair value change on financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and equity-transaction-related expenses (mainly include
professional fees). Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” during the year, the rental expenses of
the Group’s leases are recorded as depreciation of right-of-use assets and finance charges on lease
liabilities, these expenses are excluded from 2019 Adjusted EBITDA, the prior year’s rental expenses
were included in lease charges and included in 2018 Adjusted EBITDA.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31st December 2019, the Group's total assets of HK$2,798.6 million were
financed by current liabilities of HK$1,264.3 million, non-current liabilities of HK$81.5
million and total equity of HK$1,452.8 million. The Group had a working capital ratio
of approximately 1.19:1.
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As at 31st December 2019, the Group had an aggregate composite banking facility
from banks of approximately HK$363.4 million (2018: HK$388.1 million). The Group
had pledged land and buildings of HK$171.2 million (2018: HK$165.6 million),
investment properties of HK$55.8 million (2018: HK$54.0 million) and restricted bank
deposits HK$0.6 million (2018: HK$0.8 million) for bank borrowings and performance
bonds granted to the Group respectively. The performance bonds issued by the Group
to customers as security of contracts were approximately HK$85.9 million as at 31st
December 2019 (2018: HK$68.5 million). The Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings
over equity attributable to equity holders of the Company) was 31.3% as at 31st
December 2019 (2018: 39.7%).

Material Acquisition and Disposal

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 13th November
2019, the circular of the Company dated 31st December 2019 and the announcement
of the Company dated 8th March 2020, respectively, in relation to, among other
matters, very substantial disposal and very substantial acquisition in relation to the
mergers and proposed spin-off and separate listing of Grid Dynamics and completion
of disposal and spin-off of Grid Dynamics (the “Completion”). On 13th November
2019 (after trading hours), the Company, Grid Dynamics, ChaSerg, CS Merger Sub
1 Inc. ("Merger Sub 1”) and CS Merger Sub 2 LLC (“Merger Sub 2") entered into
the conditional merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”). The transactions
contemplated under the Merger Agreement involving the acquisition of Grid Dynamics
by ChaSerg (a special purpose acquisition company the shares of which are listed
on Nasdaq) through the two-step mergers (the “Mergers”) between Grid Dynamics
and the wholly-owned subsidiaries of ChaSerg, Merger Sub 1 and Merger Sub 2, are
effectively an injection of Grid Dynamics in exchange for cash and equity interest in
ChaSerg and thereby effecting the separate listing of Grid Dynamics on Nasdag.

The shareholders of the Company approved the mergers and proposed spin-off in the
special general meeting held on 22nd January 2020.

On 5th March 2020 (pacific time), all the conditions precedent set out in the Merger
Agreement have been fulfilled in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement
(the "Completion”). Upon Completion, Grid Dynamics has effectively become a
wholly owned subsidiary of Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc. (“GDH", formerly known
as ChaSerg) and Grid Dynamics is effectively listed on Nasdaq (ticker symbol of GDH:
GDYN). In connection with the Mergers, the Company received cash consideration
of approximately USD93.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$731.6 million)
which will predominantly be used to repay the relevant liabilities. Immediately upon
Completion, the Company was interested in approximately 38.3% of the issued share
capital of GDH as at the date of Completion, being the single largest shareholder of
GDH, and was entitled to appoint up to two directors to the board of GDH. As Grid
Dynamics is no longer a subsidiary of the Company, the Company will account for the
results of GDH as an associate in the results of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31st December 2019, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had material acquisition or disposal.
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Fund Raising Activities

Conversion of Convertible Bonds

Reference is made to the circular of the Company dated 24th February 2017, the
announcement of the Company dated 21st March 2017 in relation to, among
other things, the Placing of convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) under the
Specific Mandate, the announcements of the Company dated 8th June 2017 and
8th June 2018, respectively, in relation to, among other things, the adjustment to the
conversion price of the Convertible Bonds (the “Adjusted Conversion Price”), and
the announcement of the Company dated 29th June 2018 in relation to a transfer of
Convertible Bonds.

On 20th November 2019, Triple Wise Asset Holdings Ltd. (“Triple Wise"”) exercised
the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount
of HK$20,000,000 at the Adjusted Conversion Price of HK$0.91 per share (the
“Conversion”). As a result of the Conversion, on 20th November 2019, the Company
allotted and issued 21,978,022 Conversion Shares (the “Conversion Shares”) to Triple
Wise, representing approximately 2.66% of the number of issued Shares as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of Conversion Shares. The Conversion Shares ranks pari
passu with all the existing Shares at the date of allotment and among themselves in
all respects. The aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
reduced to HK$230,000,000 immediately after the Conversion.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31st December 2019, there was no
conversion or redemption of the Convertible Bonds.

Treasury Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated resources and
credit facilities provided by banks. Bank facilities available for the Group include trust
receipt loans, clean import loans, overdrafts and term loans. The interest rates of most
of them are fixed by reference to the respective countries’ Interbank Offer Rate. The
bank deposits are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and United
States dollars (“USD"). The bank borrowings are denominated in HKD.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in HKD and USD. Foreign exchange
exposure to USD of the Group will continue to be minimal as long as the policy of
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to link HKD to USD
remains in effect. There was no material exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates
and therefore no related hedging financial instrument was applied during the year
ended 31st December 2019 (2018: same).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December 2019, the Group had HK$0.6 million (2018: HK$0.8 million)
restricted bank deposits held as security for performance bonds. As at 31st December
2019, performance bonds of approximately HK$85.9 million (2018: HK$68.5 million)
had been issued by the bank on behalf of the Group to customers as security of
contracts.
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Capital Commitments

As at 31st December 2019, the Group had contracted capital commitments
amounting to approximately HK$10.8 million (2018: HK$11.5 million).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the five largest customers and single
largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 27.8% and 7.6%,
respectively, of the Group’s revenue. The five largest suppliers and single largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 35.4% and 11.2%, respectively, of
the Group’s purchases.

At no time during the year ended 31st December 2019 did a Director, their close
associate or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of the Company’s issued shares) has an
interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31st December 2019, the Group, excluding its associates, employed 2,493
permanent and contract staff in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Macau,
Thailand, the United States, Russia, Poland, Ukraine and Serbia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, working experience and the
prevailing market conditions. Bonuses are granted on a discretionary basis. Other
employee benefits include mandatory provident fund, insurance, medical coverage
and share option scheme.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR 2020 ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

The Company will convene the forthcoming annual general meeting on Wednesday,
27th May 2020. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Friday, 22nd May 2020 to Wednesday, 27th May 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 21st May 2020.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PROPOSED FINAL
DIVIDEND

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The record date for entitlement to the proposed
final dividend is Friday, 5th June 2020. For determining the entitlement of the final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
3rd June 2020 to Friday, 5th June 2020, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the
final dividend, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 2nd June 2020. The final
dividend warrants are expected to be despatched to the qualifying shareholders of the
Company on or before Wednesday, 24th June 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING

The Company will convene the special general meeting on Thursday, 23rd April 2020
to approve the proposed special dividend. For determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the special general meeting, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 20th April 2020 to Thursday, 23rd April 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the special general
meeting, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17th April 2020.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE PROPOSED
SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The proposed special dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at a
general meeting. The record date for entitlement to the proposed special dividend is
Wednesday, 29th April 2020. For determining the entitlement to the special dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Wednesday, 29th April
2020, on which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to
qualify for the special dividend, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 28th April
2020. The special dividend warrants are expected to be despatched to the qualifying
shareholders of the Company on or before Wednesday, 20th May 2020

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2019, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
annual results.

By Order of the Board

WANG Yueou
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25th March 2020
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Activity Highlights
EEER

RASLU soL
- 2019 | HoONG

71

3

I

B ASL Solution Tour 2019

Hong Kong

ASL R TT 20E

2019 &k
[l ASL Solution Tour 2019 Macau [l ASL Solution Tour 2019 Taiwan

ASL BRTT 2230 2019 JEFIT4 ASL BERTT ZeH0E 2019 B4

The year 2019 was an exciting year for ASL. ASLs local and regional HEBRFRH * 2019 FRLAREN—F - BBRFH ML
activities covering hot topics in various technologies, aimed to promote  1/1H/EB) - M R SERFEAPEE - EEHEREEDRFNZ L
ASLs diversified and innovative IT services and solutions. MBI EE AR AR MER TR -
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Activity Highlights
EBTER

[l Mr. Leon Wang, Executive Director and CEO of ASL delivers a
speech at the Signing Ceremony of the spin-off Grid Dynamics
LiS'iingon Nasda and Listing on NASDAQ Roadshow - Beijing Stop
q B RGP TEFRITHEH T ERBLE - RHHFGrid
Dynamics 3 E A NASDAQ ETEIEEIE — JERuhf 4 &R
FBEREE

GDI Spin-of g,
Signing Cerem

ony Speech

; By -_— ~
Ml Showcases Grid Dynamics’ latest smart technologies at the
YOUCON [T-conference in Saratov, Russia
PMRZEHTIE R FER 22975 YOUCON B &R Grid
Dynamics B#TH) & 21 iT

M Digital Transformation Isn't a Buzzword - It's the Way Seminar
M Wins 5 Mob-Ex Awards 2019 [ a7 B SR EAL B A |
held by the Marketing Magazine, [P AIZSERE*
Asia’s leading media
BEADMNELNELS
Marketing Magazine 23 &Y
Mob-Ex Awards 2019 AIEA 5%

oy poth L]

M Receives the FY19
NetApp Partner
Award Outstanding
Post-Sales Support
{5 [2019 F
NetApp £ H &%
RIERHRE]

Il Showcases leading solutions at the HolyJS Conference
in Saint Petersburg, Russia
REEITE LS H Holy)S S FRRBATR

M Exhibits and being a speaker at the UiPath Shanghai
Together conference
# [UiPath Shanghai Together | @2 B ETEE
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Major Contracts Secured in the Year

REAMEZEEZSH

CUSTOMER
B

SCOPE OF WORK
BHEE

A government authority

— B

Re-engineering the registration platform’s business and system workflows on
E-APP by redeveloping the online system and the website

FRBRPE RN LPU R EREFRE T ANEBTRAMRE

A government authority

— BT

Provision of IT managed services for the customer, covering the public
housing throughout Hong Kong
REPRE T EEBRE - PREEENAHEE

A government bank in Thailand
—REBUFIRTT

Provision of application development and infrastructure services based on
DevOps practice
LA DevOps R = 1R (2 A2 ZURM 3% R B R 2R e AR 1S

A large-scale integrated resort in Macau
—RPIREUR S IREES P

Provision of face-recognition technology system and implementation services

PR A BB BT O R R B HE AR

A leading Chinese bank
—REPEIRTT

Enhancement of the operational security in the application related to SWIFT

£ SWIFT (8RR FEF L NS i fEL 2

A multinational computer technology company
—BEREBHEER AR

Development of open-source machine learning platform

AR RIS B ERSE BT &

A number of Chinese banks and a multinational bank

ZREPERT R —BREIRTT

Provision of IT operations to more than tens of thousands of users

REAAMFREE  EAHEEAP

A renowned university in Macau

—RFINBRE

Provision of advanced artificial intelligence supercomputing platform

REFEENATEEEBET S

A world-leading airline company based in Hong Kong

—AREBHEREBEMERR

Provision of large-scale business intelligence and analytics services

REALEERELOTIRS

One of the busiest airports in the world

HERKEICHES 2 —

Making use of Huawei’s excellent technology to build comprehensive
network infrastructure for the customer and implementing network
construction in the next three years
MAERSEHARM - REF B2 E A AR TR M AR 3 FHERK
i

One of the largest department stores in the U.S.

EESEANBERFZ—

Enhancement of omni-channel customer shopping experience
HEBEFPZREBERIHERR

One of the world's largest Japanese style
chained department stores

HREANEXEHAERAZ—

Revamping the security network and ransomware protection solution

EHMBER L2 NP RARERRT R

One of the largest home improvement retailers in the
u.s.
ERSANTKERETERH 2 —

Building of machine learning model to better understand customer’s search
behaviors

BAUBMBERIINRT BEFPHNESTR
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEAEB/N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HTES

Mr. WANG Weihang
THMEE

Chairman

EF:4

Mr. Wang, aged 53, has been the Chairman of the Board of the
Company since May 2019 and a Director of the Company since
September 2009 and was re-designated from a Non-Executive
Director to an Executive Director in May 2014. Mr. Wang is currently
the chairman and a director of Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Teamsun”) and the sole director of Teamsun Technology (HK) Limited
("Hong Kong Teamsun”), the Company’s immediate holding company.
Hong Kong Teamsun is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Teamsun, the
Company’s ultimate holding company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600410.SH). Mr. Wang is currently a director of
certain subsidiaries of Teamsun. Prior to re-designation as the chairman
and president of Teamsun, Mr. Wang was the vice chairman and
general manager of the first board of directors of Teamsun, and the
vice chairman and president of the second, third and fourth board of
directors of Teamsun. Mr. Wang was also the president of the seventh
council of Beijing Software Industry Association. Mr. Wang holds an
Executive Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and a Master’s
Degree in Semi-Conductor Materials and Microelectronic Technology
from the Information and Electronic Engineering Department of
Zhejiang University in the PRC. Mr. Wang was awarded as A B & {4
BEE A ER (China Software Industry Outstanding Entrepreneur
Laureate®) and A B #% {4+ & 3£ Th Fh A ¥ (China Software Industry
Prestige Award Laureate”) by China Software Industry Association in
2009. He was also awarded the “Innovation Outstanding Personality
of Chinese Brand Award” in 2011.

IThE BFA+=m B-Z - NFRABREIARREESEFE
FEZEENFAABRHIARRES  WR-Z—NFEHAHIEH
TEEFATEHTES - TAERBEARFR EBELER S N
(BB H5E : 600410.5H) Z FAIERE A Rl REBAKEHE R D AR
ARI([EBAK D 2EERERES  WARNARZEEZR A RER
KB (BB BRAR ([BEBEBAK ) E—FF - FBEBK
MV EBRENE B2 2 EHBENB AR - TAERAEBRKET
MEBARIZES - RATAEZEBARCESRFREHEN  ThEYT
ERAKFE EEECHEERFOLERES CRNEEEEE
FEERREH - TAENEILERHTERSELEREEEER -
ThRESEREAREME([FE])EERSRE I SREBAET
AEBETEN LB T ASEEEF IRERZPEHE I METEE
B TEAR_TTNFRTFREMTEBSHEETRRUEE
BHCERERPETGEENBAY - BITR T ——FERE [H
B @AEBIFN G AR -

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEAS

Mr. WANG Yueou
FTEBEE

I Chief Executive Officer
T E

Mr. Wang Yueou, aged 45, has been the Chief Executive Officer
and an Executive Director of the Company since September 2016
and September 2015 respectively. Mr. Wang joined the Group in
2011 and was the Financial Controller, the Chief Financial Officer
and the Joint Company Secretary of the Group. He is currently a
director of certain subsidiaries and associates of the Company (i.e.
the directorships of i-Sprint Holdings Limited and i-Sprint Innovations
Pte Ltd), and a supervisor of Victorysoft Technology Ltd, the joint
venture company of the Company in the PRC. He has been appointed
as a director of Teamsun since December 2017 and is currently the
chief financial officer and a director of Carnation Software Ltd., a
subsidiary of Teamsun. Mr. Wang was the chief financial officer and
a board secretary of Guangzhou Headway Technology Co., Ltd.
and the regional finance manager (China) of Wistron Information
Technology & Services Corporation. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in International Accounting from Jinan University in the PRC,
a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from University of Wales
in the United Kingdom and an Executive Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Research Institute of Tsinghua University in the
PRC.

FTEBSA RENTHR  PRBE_E—R"ENLARZZ—0FH
AREHEARRZITRETHEIITES - THRERZT——FNEAR
FEREARNER L IEELIE - IS BE NIEARUE o KB
RANA RS T E A T B A Rz % % (BDi-Sprint Holdings Limited
K% i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd 2 E %) * ARARFRFREAZEER
AL REBREERARZES - FE T —tF+ - AREZTAE
RN EEURIBABEBRK  WBRRIEMNAT T E#ERGER
NAIZMBEERES - TREYRENEERERERAR 2 Mi5E
BEREEEWE  URERIEHRNERAR PRI FEIE - £
FEREPREERMAZRE BB S 28 - REFRITAEE
B IWEBELEM  URPEBERSHITEE S REREA
ETHERBELTESN -
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EENRSREBEAEB/N

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
FUTES

Mr. LI Wei
ZERE

Mr. Li, aged 55, has been a Non-Executive Director since September
2015. He has been appointed as a director of Teamsun since March
2014. Mr. Li is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of Teamsun.
He was the Chairman of the Board of the Company and the acting
chief financial officer of Teamsun, an instructor of Jinling Institute
of Technology, the manager of Jiangsu East Securities Brokerage
Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Jiangsu Securities Co., Ltd.), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601688.SH), the general
manager of Nanjing Weizhong Technology Industrial Co., Ltd., the
general manager of Nanning Yinhe South Software Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Galaxy Biomedical Investment Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Beihai Yinhe Industry Investment Co., Ltd.), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000806.57),
a director of the East China Representative Office of China Venture
Capital Research Institute and the general manager of Shanghai
Business Department of the International Division of China Potevio
Co., Ltd., in the PRC. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree from East China
Normal University in the PRC, a Master's Degree from Nanjing Normal
University in the PRC and an Executive Master's Degree in Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in the
PRC.

A4 BERTRR B AFNLABRBEIEARFERITE
E-FE-T-NE=-ARSTAEBARZES - TEERHER
ARETHBRARIZES - HEAARAESSEREINHE G TE
BARRRIEBIBEE - SERHIERERM - DEFEFX S ETAA
HREIFHFRMOEBRAR(AIE IHREEFDA) (BRI - 601688,
SH) Z2EMBARNIEHRE S BFACLARKE  REPRBEE
BRARBEE  FINBER S LRGSR EMEELRE
BHOABRAR (1S  LBRTEERERMDERAF) (BRHRSR
000806.52) 2 = &M fE A R E R B A BT BRAFBLE -
BEREBIEEA R ERRREEARFEEREEEERNERAR
BIRN AR R IALIE - ZRARBEhRERMBABHE
ZEBATBN - hERRAEASEE BTN URPERIHE
PRAEE SMEREAE TEEIEBLENT -
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Mr. CUI Yong
EBRRAE

Mr. Cui, aged 52, has been a Non-Executive Director of the Company
since September 2015. He joined Teamsun in March 2005. He has
been appointed as a director, the executive vice president and the
general manager of the system information product (plate) and
service (plate) division in Teamsun since December 2017, January
2017 and January 2015 respectively. During his tenure with Teamsun,
Mr. Cui was the general manager of various divisions, including
telecommunications industry, value-added storage business division
and system product business division. Mr. Cui holds an Executive
Master of Business Administration from Guanghua School of
Management in Peking University in the PRC.

BeE BFERAT R AT AFNAREEAEAREIENTE
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BUYFHTES

Mr. PAN Xinrong
B RE

Mr. Pan, aged 65, has been an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company since September 2015. He was an executive director
and the deputy chairman of Sinopec Kantons Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (Stock Code: 934) from 2004 to 2007 and was the
chief executive officer of Petro-Cyberworks Information Technology
Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2014. Mr. Pan also held financial positions
in various companies, including China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation (“SINOPEC"), China Petrochemical Corporation, China
Eastern United Petrochemical (Group) Company Limited and SINOPEC
Anging Company (formerly known as China Petrochemical Anging
Petrochemical Plate). Mr. Pan graduated from China Huazhong
University of Science and Technology with a profession in Quantitative
Economics. Mr. Pan was awarded the “Outstanding Management
Award” by China Petroleum and Chemical Industries Integration of
Informatization and Industrialization in 2011 and the First Prize of
SINOPEC Technology Advancement in 2014.

ERE  BRENTHRE - B-Z - AFNABRERARFELIER
TES - REN_ZENFE T EEREHARZMER AT
TR ETABRRALEEERARAE (BRMORE : 934) BERTE
EREFERR _EERNFE_T-NERARBMEERMERE
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EENRSREBEAEB/N

Mpr. DENG Jianxin
WEIFEE

Mr. Deng, aged 55, has been an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company since September 2015. He is currently an executive
director of Shenzhen Zhuoyuan Capital Investment Management Co.,
Ltd.* ORI ETEKIEEEIZAE A7), an executive director of
Shenzhen Zhuoyi Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (R3IIT1 #1z & 32
AR A F]), an executive director of Shenzhen Zhuoyuan Enterprise
Consultants Co., Ltd* (RIITIE T BRI BBRAF]), the chairman
of Shanghai Debimai Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*
(EBEMIREEEREABRAF), the chairman of Shanghai
4Smart Technology Co., Ltd.and the chairman of Hangzhou Zhuoyuan
Ledao Holding Co., Ltd.. Mr. Deng was a supervisor of Shanghai
Dobe Cultural & Creative Industry Development (Group) Co., Ltd., a
partner of Beijing JD Capital Co., Ltd., a partner of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Limited (“Deloitte”), a full-time member of the 7th and 8th
Stock Offering Approval Committee of China Securities Regulatory
Commission, an independent director of Guangbo Group Stock Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002103.5Z), a director of Suzhou Gardens Construction Industry
Corporation, a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations System (the “New Third Board”) in the PRC (Stock Code:
833209.0C) and a director of Shandong Bori Bioenergy Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the New Third Board (Stock Code: 871585.0C). Mr.
Deng was mainly responsible for managing and auditing the listing of
companies as well as the merger and acquisition services in Deloitte.
Mr. Deng holds a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law in the PRC and an Executive Master’s
Degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business in the PRC.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEABRBN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

BIYEHITESE o)

Ms. Or Siu Ching, Rerina
MNEZE

Ms. Or Siu Ching, Rerina, aged 50, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since April 2017. She has been
a senior vice-president of Schneider Electric SE (collectively with its
subsidiaries “Schneider Electric”), a company listed on the Euronext
Paris Stock Exchange (Stock Code: SU) since February 2019.

She joined Schneider Electric in 1994 and held various positions with
Schneider Electric, including the director and president of Schneider
Electric (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Schneider
Electric SE between 2015 and January 2019, the vice president of
global purchasing of Schneider Electric between 2012 and 2014, the
president of Schneider Electric Taiwan Co., Ltd. between 2008 and
2011 and the director of certain subsidiaries of Schneider Electric.
Ms. Or has also been appointed as a member of Energy Advisory
Commitee of Environment Bureau of The Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region since 2016. She has more than
20 years’ management experience in energy management and
automation industry. Ms. Or holds an Executive Master’s Degree in
Business Administrative from the Kellogg School of Management at
Northwestern University in the United States of America and the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology, and a Master’s degree of
Science in Management from ESSEC Graduate School of Management
in France.

W NEat BER+TR B8-S —tENARZREAKRDGEIIE
PITES - HE T NF-ABETERIEELARSLETA
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BRERMESRBABITRAS IRERETEMN LEESSEH
] S ETRRZERT (ESSEC) B IR E2RE + 24 -

# For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEAS

g

Mr. NGAN Wai Hing
BEESE

Financial Controller and Company Secretary
B BRI R 1 A&

Mr. Ngan, aged 48, has been the Financial Controller and the
Company Secretary of the Company since September 2016. Mr.
Ngan joined the Company in 2009 and was a financial controller
of a subsidiary of the Company. He was also the Joint Company
Secretary of the Company from September 2014 to August 2016.
Mr. Ngan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Financial Administration (major
in accounting) from University of New England in Australia and is a
certified public accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia.
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERHRE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s healthy growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the needs of its business.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). During the year
ended 31st December 2019, the Company has complied with all the code provisions,
save and except for code provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2, details of which are explained
below. The Company regularly monitors and reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure these continue to meet the increasing stringent regulatory
requirements and to improve its practices.

The Company wishes to highlight the importance of its Board of Directors (the “Board”)
in ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company and transparency and
accountability of all operations.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Company has formalised and adopted the written terms on the division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Board provides leadership and approves strategic policies and plans with a view to
enhancing shareholder interests while the day-to-day operations of the Company are
delegated to the management.

The Board reserves its decisions for all major matters of the Company, including
the approval of long term objectives and strategies, changes to capital and overall
corporate structure, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those which may involve conflicts of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the
advice and services from the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the Company are
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approvals have to be obtained
from the Board prior to entering into any significant transactions by the above-
mentioned officers.

The Board has the full support from the Chief Executive Officer and senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary for independent decision making and fulfilling its business
needs.

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of two Executive Directors,
two Non-Executive Directors and three Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
number of Independent Non-Executive Directors represents more than one-third of the
Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board currently comprises the following members:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Weihang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yueou (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Cui Yong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Pan Xinrong

Mr. Deng Jianxin

Ms. Or Siu Ching, Rerina

None of the members of the Board has any financial, business, family or other material
relationships with each other.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23 to 26 of this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate communications
issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules and is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-Executive Directors with at least one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all Independent Non-Executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a wide
range of business and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to
the Board. Through active participation in Board meetings and affairs of the Company,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests and serving
in Board committees, all Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive
Directors make various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures for the
appointment of Directors.

The Company has adopted the procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company. These procedures are available and accessible
on the Company’s website at http:/Amwww.asl.com.hk.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors
are as set out in the Bye-laws of the Company. The Board established a Nomination
Committee to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least
annually, identify suitable candidates for the Board, and to make recommendations
on any matters in relation to the appointment and re-appointment of members of the
Board. Appointment of new Directors is reserved for the Board'’s approval.

The Nomination Committee ensures that the Board comprises members with a diverse
range of skills and experience with the appropriate knowledge necessary to oversee
the business development, strategies, operations, challenges and opportunities of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The Nomination Committee takes that
person’s skills, qualifications and expected contributions to the Company into account
before making any recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment or
re-appointment of members of the Board.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the selection process,
with the advice provided by the Nomination Committee, by making reference to the
proposed candidates’ skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and
time commitments as well as the needs of the Company and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to
carry out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each annual general meeting
of the Company (“AGM") one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as additional Director shall be subject to re-
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors (Continued)

Each of the Non-Executive Directors is appointed under a specific term and they are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company.

The Company has formal letters of appointment for all Non-Executive Directors
(including Independent Non-Executive Directors) or service contracts for Executive
Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment and the terms
of references have set out the work scope of the Board committees and delegation
were made by the Board in respect of the responsibilities of the Non-Executive
Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors) in such Board Committees.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Wang Weihang, Mr. Deng
Jianxin and Mr. Cui Yong will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of these Directors standing for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company's circular regarding the notice of the forthcoming AGM contains
detailed information of the Directors standing for re-election.

Training for Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the
conduct, business activities and development of the Company. Each newly-appointed
Director receives a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable training for its
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Directors are
continually updated on developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and the
business environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for Directors are arranged where necessary.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Training for Directors (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December 2019, a training session was organised by
the Company in August 2019 titled “IPO Code: Techniques for Overseas Listings
by Chinese Companies” and provided Directors with relevant training materials.
The training session was conducted by a professional institute with a presentation
and briefing materials. All Directors have provided the Company with records of
the trainings during the Year. According to the training records maintained by the
Company, the types of trainings received by each of the Directors during the Year are
summarised as follows:
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Types of Training
IR
Attending seminar(s)/
conference and/or
Receiving updates and forums conducted
briefings from the

Company/self-study

by the Company or
external parties

WEHADTE HEARATRIBEN

RENEFTERR ERHTEE
Name of Director EEER Eh/ 88 Bk HwE
Executive Directors HITES
Wang Weihang F 4 v
Wang Yueou FERS v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Li Wei FE v
Cui Yong EH v/
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Pan Xinrong EREE v/
Deng Jianxin BT v 4
Or Siu Ching, Rerina T NE v/

Insurance Cover for Directors EENRBERHEE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors to comply with the requirement of the Code.

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee members
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has at least four regular meetings a year and holds additional meetings on
other occasions as needed.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Board held five Board meetings.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee members
(Continued)

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance (Continued)

The individual attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings, meetings of

BEE=
BREENRZEEREHFELSE@®)

PHANBREFLFEAZ(E)
BREERBE_T-NF+_A=+—HLFEET

Board committees and/or the general meetings of the Company held during the year HIARGEEEMHEETZEENEHELIBREK
ended 31st December 2019 are set out below: g2 BRI ERsEHIIInT
Attendance/Number of Meetings held during the tenure of directorship
RESEHREE CETEERR
Remuneration Audit Nomination Management Investment 2019 AGM
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee —E-hE
Name of Directors ESpg Bzg FHESS ERZES REZE8 EEZEE REZEE RRAFAE
Executive Directors HrES
Wang Weihang T 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 373 1
TER TER TR TER
Wang Yueou TER 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 33 313 11
TER TER @R
Non-Executive Directors ~ JF#{TEZE
Li Wei' g 0/5 073 0/4 0/t 03 N/A 0/
TER
Cui Yong 1 3/5 N/A N/A N/A 23 N/A 0N
TER TEm TER TERm
Independent Non- BuksTES
Executive Directors
Pan Xinrong EmR 5/5 33 44 0 N/A 33 11
TER
Deng Jianxin Bz 5/5 N/A 4/4 171 N/A 33 17
TER TEA
Or Siu Ching, Rerina TNE 5/5 33 44 N/A N/A N/A 7
TER TEA TR
Note: FaE

1. Mr. Li Wei was not able to present in person in the three Management Committee meetings
during his business trips, and one of the three Management Committee meetings was
attended and voted on his behalf by Mr. Wang Weihang.

Save as disclosed above, none of the meetings set out above was attended by any
alternate Director.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting with
the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive Directors)
without the presence of Executive Directors during the year ended 31st December
2019.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum attendance of
the Directors. Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board meetings and Board committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days (or such other period as agreed)
before each Board meeting or Board committees meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The management has provided all members of the Board with monthly updates giving
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open
for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves a conflict
of interest for a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered by the Board
and dealt with by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution. The
Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the Chairman of
the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Wang Weihang
and Mr. Wang Yueou respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined
and set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of
the Board in accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the support
of the senior management, the Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
Directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-
day management and operations. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible
for developing strategic plans and formulating the organisational structure, control
systems and internal procedures and processes for the Board's approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy effective since 30th August 2013. All
board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
based on objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors. One of them is
female. Three of them are Independent Non-Executive Directors, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, professional
background and skills.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy effective since 31st December 2018. This
policy aims to set out guidelines for the Board to determine whether dividends are
to be declared and paid, and the level of dividend to be paid to the shareholders
of the Company. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable
dividend policy.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board should also take into account, inter alia,
the following factors:-

(@) the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

(b) economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Group;

(c) the Group's business strategies, including future cash commitments and
investment needs to sustain the long-term growth aspect of the business;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders;

(e) the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital requirements of
the Group; and

(f) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

Subject to the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the Company and any applicable
laws, rules and regulations, dividends may be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly
or partly in the form of allotment of shares of the Company. The Board may also
consider the issuance of bonus shares on a basis permitted by the applicable laws
and regulations. The dividend shall include scrip dividends, distributions in specie or in
kind, capital distributions and capitalisation issues.

The Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Company’s shareholders
interim dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the
Company. The Board may recommend the payment of final dividends which are
required to be approved by shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee, Management Committee and Investment
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and/or are available to shareholders upon request.

Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Board shall establish other committees for specific purposes from time to time to
facilitate the Company’s operations.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one Non-Executive Director and
two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Wei, Mr. Pan Xinrong and
Ms. Or Siu Ching, Rerina. Mr. Pan Xinrong is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of all Directors and the senior management and share
options matters. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/
her own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited 58 Z 5B BR AR

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

REBER (@)

RIBAFEER  ARBZ AR AERERE
B~ FRBIRIRG] - RS AT AR © T S A BB AR R T
BN EZHRBHRE - EFSHEEENRH
BIEREEDIFIRGIFTHRE 2 £ E#ITAR - IRE
BREABRE - BYOE - BADEMEA(LIHIT -

BEERMRERREENERLT - THIRE KRET
HERSTFTARAKRR - EEG A L EHRE R
B BEERRBBRRERAE L -

EExggTZ£88
EXeRTERUOBEZES DHAFHERS
ENEES REZES EEZEGNKREZE
€ NEBARRFEBZEFESE - ARBZHME
EEQRETZESNBREEDAEERE - HNE
g EZZASRRAZAESZRESED AR
ARA R B ARERREHTRER
5o

EEeBE TR R RAARERABITHRS ZH
B YN EHAEEREEEE R TSRELE
EBR  BRBARERE -
BRSNS TR RNIEMERS
RN EIFELE o

FHESS

FMZE SR - BFRTEZRMBBIIFNTE
ZHK - DRIRFEREL BMREERNEL
T BMREERFNEESLIE -

LAfRHEAR

FHEZE e T RERERERRILEARERES
R RERANE 2 HMBCR RIS R FIAES - AR
FHBERELEE - HTMZESMB BRI B RZH
Bk MR 2 BB RERE R R EE SR H
EABEALESEREEAG ZHH - EHBK2
REFIALTRARBZRE - AETISENRBERT
T -

35



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination of the annual remuneration
packages of all Directors and the senior management and other related matters. The
Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company about these recommendations on remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31st
December 2019. At the meeting, the Committee reviewed and/or discussed the
Directors’ remuneration packages (including their service agreements) and bonuses
payable and matters concerning share options of a subsidiary, and determined, with
delegated responsibility, the change and remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the code provision B.1.5, the annual
remuneration of a member of the senior management by band for the year ended
31st December 2019 is set out below:

Remuneration band Number of Individual

HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 1

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises one Non-Executive Director and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Wei, Mr. Pan Xinrong, Mr. Deng
Jianxin and Ms. Or Siu Ching, Rerina, among them one Independent Non-Executive
Director possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. Mr. Deng Jianxin is the chairman of the Audit
Committee. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant or
unusual items raised by the management, internal auditor or external auditor
before submission to the Board;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor with reference to the work
performed by the auditor, its independence, fees and terms of engagement, and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditor;

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems and associated procedures;
and

(d) to report the findings and make recommendations to the Board for improvements
or implementations in relation to the above matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31st December 2019.
At these meetings, the Committee reviewed and/or discussed the following:

(@) the financial results and reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures;

(b) the reports from the external auditor, management letters and management
response;

(c) the corporate governance matters;

(d) the matters in relation to the risk management and internal control systems as
well as internal audit function; and

(e) the re-appointment of the external auditor.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice during the year ended 31st
December 2019.

There is no material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st December 2019 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises the chairman of the Board and
two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Weihang, Mr. Pan
Xinrong and Mr. Deng Jianxin. Mr. Wang Weihang is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(@) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, independence and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

() to access the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman of
the Board and the chief executive.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31st December

2019. At the meeting, the Committee reviewed and/or discussed the following:

the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;
the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors;

to make recommendation to the Board about the proposed re-election of
Directors who were due to retire at the AGM; and

the time spent by Non-Executive Directors to fulfill their duties.

A set of nomination procedures for selection of candidates for directorship of the

Company has been adopted by making reference to the skills, experience, professional

knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the

Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

A nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) has been adopted by

the Board on 31st December 2018. The key nomination criteria and principles of the

Company for the nomination of Directors constitute the Nomination Policy as set out

below:

(a)

38

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, independence and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive;

before recommending an appointment, to evaluate the balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity on the Board, and, in the light of this
evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a
particular appointment. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee shall:

(i) use such method or methods to facilitate the search as it may deem
appropriate;

(i) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds; and

(iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria and with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, taking care that candidates
have enough time available to devote to the position; and
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

(e) to ensure that on appointment to the Board, Non-Executive Directors receive
a formal letter of appointment setting out clearly what is expected of them in
terms of time commitment, committee service and involvement outside Board
meetings, where appropriate.

Management Committee

The Management Committee currently comprises one Executive Director and two
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Yueou, Mr. Li Wei and Mr. Cui Yong. Mr.
Wang Yueou is the chairman of the Management Committee.

The Management Committee is primarily responsible for managing and reviewing
the Company’s day-to-day operations and financial reporting, and making
recommendations in respect of the objectives and strategies of the Group. The
Management Committee meets as appropriate and when required to discuss the
related issues.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee currently comprises two Executive Directors and two
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Weihang, Mr. Wang Yueou,
Mr. Pan Xinrong and Mr. Deng Jianxin. Mr. Wang Weihang is the chairman of the
Investment Committee.

The Investment Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and evaluating
existing and potential investment opportunities for the Company, and making
recommendations to the Board. The Investment Committee meets as and when
required to discuss the related issues.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31st
December 2019.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees
was noted by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the duties and responsibilities in performing its corporate
governance functions to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board,;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to Directors and employees; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31st December 2019.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements of
the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and that relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The Board has received from the management explanation and relevant information
which enable the Board to make an informed assessment for approving the financial
statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of external auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages
85 to 89 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid and payable to Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the
existing external auditor of the Company, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31st December 2019 amounted to HK$1,550,000 and
HK$1,011,000 respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The main features of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the
Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the senior management. The Board
has evaluated and determined the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has overseen the senior management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in providing direction
in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks. At least on an annual basis,
the senior management identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of
the Group’s objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to a
set of standardised criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then established
for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional advisor to assist the
Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of internal control systems
of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal controls are
identified and recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely
basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.

Risk management report and internal control report which covered financial,
operational and compliance control for the year ended 31st December 2019, has
submitted for the Audit Committee’s and the Board's reviews. The Group has an
internal audit function in place to provide an independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
in accordance with the Code. The Board had performed an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems during
the year, including but not limited to the change, since the last annual review, in
nature and extent of significant risk, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and external environment; the scope and quality of management'’s
ongoing monitoring of risk management and internal control systems; the extent and
frequency of communication with the Board in relation to monitoring result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified and their related
implications; and the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting
and Listing Rules compliance. The Board considers the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate. The Board in particular considers
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures Ordinance (“SFO")
and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours
as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality
may have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information
to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading
through the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear
and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through AGMs and other general
meetings. The Chairman of the Board, all Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors,
Independent Non-Executive Directors, and the Chairmen of all Board committees or
their delegate(s) will make themselves available at each AGM to meet shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy setting out the
Company’s procedures in providing the shareholders with clear communication and
easy access to information about the Company.

The 2019 AGM was held on 22nd May 2019 (the “2019 AGM"). The notice of 2019
AGM was sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the 2019 AGM.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the view of shareholders. Two Non-Executive Directors were unable
to attend the 2019 AGM due to other commitments.

Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board should attend the
annual general meeting. The former chairman of the Board, Mr. Li Wei, was unable
to attend the 2019 AGM due to other commitments. However, the chairmen of the
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Management
Committee and Investment Committee or their delegate, and the Company’s external
auditor have attended the 2019 AGM to answer questions.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website at
http://www.asl.com.hk, where extensive information and updates on the Company’s
business developments and operations, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are posted.

The Company continues to enhance communication and relationships with its
investors. Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries
from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws. An updated version of the Company’s
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors. Save as provided under the Listing Rules, resolutions put to vote
at the general meetings of the Company (other than procedural matters) are taken
by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings.

Convening of Special General Meetings on Requisition by
Shareholders

Under Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”), shareholders holding
in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company
may convene a SGM by written requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and the shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in
giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act once a valid requisition is received.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Making Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

The Companies Act allows certain shareholders to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any resolution which is intended to be
moved at AGM of the Company or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general meeting of the Company.

The number of shareholders necessary to put forward such proposal for consideration
at a general meeting of the Company shall be:

(@) either any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of the requisition
a right to vote at the meeting; or

(b) not less than 100 shareholders.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the shareholders concerned and
together with a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in the proposal, must be deposited at the registered office of the Company.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and unless the Company otherwise resolves, the shareholders concerned would be
responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents
are received.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the
Board for handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

Contact Details

The Company Secretary

Automated Systems Holdings Limited

15th Floor, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2608 6585

Email: ir@asl.com.hk

For avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMPANY SECRETARY NEMWE

The Company Secretary, Mr. Ngan Wai Hing (“Mr. Ngan”), a full time employee of ~ARIMBEEFEFELE([EEE]) BRAAT 2 2BE
the Company, who is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman of the & BEZEREECEIRIEATENESSRES
Board on governance matters and facilitates induction and professional development R ' Wi#BIEEMERFTEEE - ARIWEAESY
of Directors. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board. All ~ EE#H%E - 2REETHAIEQRMEREEZR LR
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure 7§ UIERETESSRFUALMBEREM - KA

N

that Board procedures, all applicable law, rules and regulations are followed. KR o

The Company has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules since Mr. Ngan has ~HREXERBE_T—NF+_A=+T—HILFE
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ~ ¥HBEEZ TR+ RENEHHABRESE - AR
ended 31st December 2019. AR ST EMARRIE 32914 °

On behalf of the Board REESE

Wang Yueou TERE

Chief Executive Officer TTIRABE,

Hong Kong, 25th March 2020 BHE —E-TF=A-THAA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB - 8 RERBRE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report, complying with the
“comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “ESG Guide"), provides our stakeholders with an annual update of the Group’s
corporate social responsibility performance and gives them a better understanding of
it. Unless otherwise stated, the scope of the ESG report covers issues of environmental
and social aspects in relation to the Group’s core business operations in Hong Kong
headquarters for the year ended 31st December 2019. The ESG report should be
read in conjunction with the Company’s annual report, in particular the Corporate
Governance Report contained therein.

BUSINESS OF THE GROUP

The Group is dedicated to offering professional and trustworthy information
technology (“IT") services to corporate clients around the world which include
solutions consultancy services, application development services, productized solutions,
security consultancy services, 24x7 real-time holistic IT security protection, basic
infrastructure services, IT operation outsourcing services, corporate-level application
outsourcing services and industry applications of Software as a Service (SaaS).

BOARD MANAGEMENT & RESPONSIBILITY

The Company is committed to good corporate governance, which promotes the
long-term interests of shareholders and the healthy growth of the Company. The
Company'’s identifying significant risks related to ESG matters relies on evaluation
of management of the Company. The Board has overseen the senior management
on their ESG governance and compliance effort. The Company’s risk management
measures, which include ESG, consider annually whether the Company’s policies and
programs adequately identify and respond to the material ESG risks that it faces.
The Company’s risk management and internal control systems are important to the
sustainable development of the Company since they help ensuring protection of
the Company's stakeholders, for examples, a series of well-established employment
policies to protect the rights of employees, regular trainings to employees for
providing of high-quality products and services to customers to maintain sustainable
business growth, and the compliance with applicable laws and regulations to maintain
a healthy growth of the Company and strengthen the confidence of shareholders and
investors in the Company.

The ESG report has been reviewed and approved by the Board.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group’s Environmental Policy stresses carbon reduction and waste reduction
with the principle of “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle” to promote better utilization of
environmental resources. To further encourage stakeholder engagement in protecting
the environment, the Group is committed to promoting an environmental-friendly
ambience among its employees.
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In the long run, the Company will enhance its energy saving management in
minimizing the usage of lighting, air-conditioning and electronic appliances and track
its energy consumption regularly in the coming years.

In the following sections, unless otherwise specified, the environmental data covers
the Group's business operations in overseas are excluded from scope as scale of
each of them are insignificant as compared to the Group’s operation in Hong Kong
headquarters. The total floor area coverage and the total employees of the Group’s
operation in Hong Kong headquarters are 7970 m? and 600 respectively.

A. T Emissions’

Our main business being IT services, our environmental impact, on the whole, is
relatively low. Our emissions, energy consumption and water consumption mainly
come from the use of resources in our offices in Hong Kong. During the year, there
was no material non-compliance with applicable legislation or regulations.

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions

During the year, the total GHG emissions in two respective scopes:

e Scope 1: Direct emissions in terms of fuel consumed by corporate vehicles
e Scope 2: Indirect emissions from purchased electricity

The total GHG emissions and intensity in Hong Kong headquarters in 2019 and 2018
are as follows:
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o
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BANEEXBREMBERYE - LEmE - ®HMAY
RBERNFEBEHRD - BPIWFERY - sEREE
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Issue 2019 2018
=S —E-hEF —E-N\F
Fuel consumed by corporate vehicles Total (litre) 2,186 2,174
N EIEEERERE we (RF)

Purchased Electricity Total (kWh) 2,054,077 1,996,265
BEE me (TR

GHG emissions? for Scope 1 and 2 Total (tonnes) 1,052.74 1023.23
BREE 1 REE2 R EREHENR e (W)

GHG emissions for Scope 1 and 2 per floor area Total (tonnes/m?) 0.1321 0.1284
Y REEEEANBNESE 1 REE2REREYIN e (M, FHK)

GHG emissions for Scope 1 and 2 per employee Total (tonnes/employee) 1.7546 1.7054
BHREIREHE1 KEE2 ARRERIEHEN weE (g, 8T

Notes: B 5T

1. Due to our business nature, the significant air emissions of the Group are the GHG emissions,
arising mainly from the use of electricity and fuels derived from fossil fuels.

2. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent and was based on the
reporting requirements of the “Guideline to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas
Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)”
issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department and the Environmental
Protection Department in Hong Kong.
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Waste Management

For the business operations of the Group’s major subsidiaries, a standard policy and
procedures for handling damaged components and materials have been established
to ensure all damaged components and materials are properly identified and
handled. For handling hazardous waste produced in Hong Kong, the Company has
registered as a Chemical Waste Producer under the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
(General) Regulation and sent the waste to specialists for recycling. A scheme named
The Producer Responsibility Scheme on waste electrical and electronic equipment
implemented by Environmental Protection Department (EPD) is also integrated into
our Quality Management System (QMS) and deployed successfully through sufficient
briefings and appropriate operational change demonstrated in corresponding
procedures and internal audit. The impact and effectiveness of QMS will be reviewed
by the management of the Company annually to ensure its continual suitability
and alignment with the business strategic direction and related external issues
surroundings. There was no material non-compliance with applicable legislation or
regulations during the year.

The total hazardouswaste and total non-hazardous waste produced in Hong Kong
headquarters in 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
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Issue 2019 2018
¥ —¥-hE T )\F
Hazardous waste (i.e. used computers and server batteries) Total (tonnes) 3.8 3.2
BEEEY (ANEBH X AREED) “eE (ma)

Non-hazardous waste (i.e. used computers and components) Total (tonnes) 85 71

mERERY (AEEK M) s (WE)
A.2 Use of Resources

Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption, total energy consumption per floor area, total energy

consumption per employee and direct energy consumption in terms of electricity in
Hong Kong headquarters in 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

A2 ERIEH

BERH#E

ERRENR _T-NFR T N\FHRERER
2 SV AEEHERRERLEE  SREERER
HERE LRSI ENERRBRENT

Issue 2019 2018
B8 —B-hF —E-N\F
Energy consumption Total (kWh) 2,054,077 1,996,265
BEIRERE HBEH (TR

Energy consumption per floor area Total (kwWh/m?) 257.73 250.47
B KRG MEERERE E (TR TEH3K)

Energy consumption per employee Total (kWh/employee) 3423.46 3327.11

BRREERER
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Water Consumption

The total water consumption and total water consumption per floor area in Hong

Kong headquarters in 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Rk - HERERME

FEK

ERBEAR _E-NEFR_E-\FHERKERE
FIORBEEEEREKENT

Issue 2019 2018
E -V —EB-hF —Z-N\F
Water consumption Total (m?3) 464 431
FokE #Et (S27K)

Water consumption per floor area Total (m3/m?) 0.0582 0.0540

FFHAREEEERKE

Water management is not a material area for the Group. Much of our water

consumption is for basic cleaning and sanitation, as well as certain catering facilities in

our offices. The Company encourages all staff to save water.

Since the Group is principally engaged in the delivery of comprehensive one-stop IT

services, no significant levels of pollutants were discharged into the air or water and

no substantial amount of packaging materials was used during the reporting period.

Therefore, disclosures relating to these aspects, as set forth in the ESG Guide, are not

applicable to the Group and so have not been made.

During the year, the Company adopted the following procedures in its office to
minimizing carbon emission and waste generation:

Use energy saving light across all office areas

Utilize electronic communication where applicable such as e-form system, e-leave,
e-memo and e-cards for festival greetings

Use high performance and quality all-in-one “multi-function printers” that
incorporate printer, scanner and copier functions into a single device. This can be
shared among teams in order to reduce a large number of devices with different
functions so as to minimize power consumption and carbon footprint as well as
follow-up maintenance

Send used toner cartridges to specialists for further recycling when feasible
Redeploy usable and suitable office furniture within the Company to reduce the
amount of material going to landfills

Redeploy usable and suitable computers or notebooks within the Company
Reuse or recycle computer parts by selection from a team of engineers; for those
parts and materials cannot be reused by the Company will be further sent to
specialist for further recycling

Send spent batteries to specialists for recycling

Minimise waste wherever feasible
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A.3 The Environment and Natural Resources

Although the core business of the Group has a minimal impact on the environment
and natural resources, we recognize the corporate social responsibility in minimizing
the negative environmental impact of our business operations and investment
portfolio as our ongoing commitment, in order to achieve a sustainable development
for generating long-term values to our stakeholders and community as a whole.
We regularly assess the environmental risks of our business, and adopt preventive
measures, where necessary, to reduce the risks and ensure the compliance of relevant
laws and regulations.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

The Group values its human capital with a belief that its employees are pivotal to its
success in the IT industry. The Group has established a series of policies and measures
regarding employment policy, health and safety, development and training, labour
standards and workplace quality to provide its employees with a fair and comfortable
working environment.

B.1 Employment Policy

The Group ensures our employees in different locations are protected by the law of
employment in such jurisdictions and has implemented its comprehensive Employment
Policy which comprises recruitment, change of employment in relation to promotion
and transfer, working hours, annual leave entitlement, maternity and paternity leave,
annual salary review through annual performance appraisal, job-related allowances,
insurance schemes, compensation and termination of employment. The Group stresses
equal opportunities in relation to recruitment or promotion of an individual, without
discrimination against their age, gender, race, family status, sexual orientation,
disability, nationality or region. There was no material non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance and other applicable legislation or regulations during the year.

B.2 Health and Safety

Being committed to maintaining a safe and healthy working environment for its
employees, the Company has established a safety and health policy and complied with
applicable laws regarding safety in the workplace in Hong Kong. For safety measures,
the Administrative Department of the Company is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing the safety and security management from time to time and performing
regular checking in the entire office to ensure furniture, fixtures and fittings are well-
maintained and replaced when necessary to avoid unnecessary physical injuries. For
health measures, smoking is prohibited in the entire office premises including enclosed
offices, conference rooms and other open areas while maintaining proper lighting
and ventilation to safeguard employees’ health. In addition, first aid kits are available
at an easily-accessible location on every floor of the entire office. Policies are also set
up to cover the prevention of injuries and illnesses and workplace violence. There was
no non-compliance with legislation or regulations related to occupational safety and
health during the year.
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B.3 Development and Training

The Group understands that training and development are indispensable for its staff
to keep abreast of the latest trend in the IT industry and the dynamic pace in the
current domestic market. In light of this, the Group provides employees with regular
training, development programmes and training sponsorship. For the development of
IT staff in Hong Kong, the Company promotes an e-Learning platform to hone their
hard and soft skills. For the development of non-IT staff, the Company encourages
department heads to work closely in assessing areas of training and development
for their subordinates to improve their capabilities and ability in career advancement.
Sponsorships are available to employees who have met certain conditions set by the
Company.

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$1.6 million on staff training in
Hong Kong’s subsidiaries, and most of them were spent on strengthening staff’s
competence and aiding them in obtaining qualifications.

B.4 Labour Standard

There was no child nor forced labour in the Group’s operations in the reporting period.
Meanwhile, each candidate’s personal particulars are confirmed during recruitment
processes. The Group also ensures a fair recruitment process and working environment
without any coercive acts. There was no non-compliance with legislation or regulations
related to child labour or forced labour during the year.

Workplace Quality

The Group is concerned about its employees’ quality of life and promotes a positive
work-life balance. During the year, the Group has organized a few events to enhance
work-life balance and to strengthen employee relations. The Group always makes
its best endeavours to develop a happy and caring working environment for its
employees.

Moreover, the Group is committed to building a family-friendly environment so
as to allow its staff to achieve their full potential. During the year, the Group has
implemented a series of measures to promote a balance between work and family. In
Hong Kong, the Company provides its employees with marriage leave, compassionate
leave and welcome red packets to its employees’ newborn babies. The Company is
also proud of having set up a nursing room with comprehensive facilities and strict
privacy in its office to support its breastfeeding employees.

Operating Practices

The Group believes that monitoring and evaluation of the vendors are important
management tools to track the business progress and facilitate decision making and,
in return, the Group could serve the customers towards their satisfaction through the
products and services with the best quality. The Group will continue to maintain the
vendor management policy and proactively seek room for improvement.
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B.5 Supply Chain Management

The Company’s two major Hong Kong subsidiaries, Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
("ASLHK") and ELM Computer Technologies Limited (“ELM"), are committed to
complying with a vendor management policy established for ensuring the quality of
services offered. The policy covers the control of vendors, including nomination and
evaluation, selection, monitoring, suspension and blacklisting when necessary. A list
of approved vendors has been created and updated on an ongoing basis according to
procedures clearly stated in the policy. The Company’s another major subsidiary.

ASLHK demonstrates our commitment to high standards of quality in provision of
supply chain management services in accordance with ISO 9001:2015 from Hong
Kong Quality Assurance Agency.

During the year, the Group evaluated the top 15 product vendors for our two major
Hong Kong subsidiaries in 2019 in terms of the purchase amount which equal
to 75.6% of the total product purchase amount. For service vendors, the Group
particularly got the relevant service delivery team(s) involved in selecting, monitoring
and performance evaluation of service vendors to ensure the quality of services
provided to customers.

In view of increasing environmental concerns in society, the Company is aware of the
importance in managing environmental and social risks of its supply chain. The top
10 IT product brands from which ASLHK purchased during the year demonstrated
excellent environmental awareness. The IT product brands took initiatives in
minimizing their negative operational impacts on the environment and society. The
Company will continue to monitor its supply chain in accordance with environmental
and social standards.

B.6 Product (Service) Responsibility

Customers’ support has been of paramount importance to the Group. The Group
therefore put strong emphasis on assuring the quality and reliability of its services.

The Group has implemented its IT Security Policy on the major subsidiaries in Hong
Kong over a decade, the policy ensures the confidentiality, integrity and availability of
internal and customers’ security systems, which addresses security considerations in
physical security, access control security, data security, security on application systems,
network & communication security, security risk assessment & auditing and security
incident management. The Group’s relevant staff must comply with regulations in
relation to physical security, access control security, data security and network and
communication security, which are all covered in the IT Security Policy, to protect
the customers’ privacy. For redressing security incidents, such as network or systems
software malfunctions, the Company has adopted a set of reporting and handling
procedures, which are executed by the relevant staff and a Customer Care Unit (the
“Unit”). There was no non-compliance with legislation or regulations related to the
services provided by the Group during the year.
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In addition, the Group has long established a policy with a set of procedures to handle
customers’ feedbacks or complaints in a professional manner. The Unit reviews the
feedbacks or complaints and coordinates relevant teams to address the concerns.
The Unit will also escalate the feedbacks or complaints to appropriate level(s) of
management if necessary.

Intellectual Property Rights

Regarding intellectual property rights, employees of the Group are reminded that the
Group has exclusive ownership of its intellectual property while all materials made or
compiled by them in the course of employment is the property of the Group, details
of which are set out in Business and Ethical Code of Conduct of the Group or relevant
guidelines of its subsidiaries.

Personal Data Protection

In relation to the customers’ data protection, the Group requires its staff to handle
customers’ data in a strictly confidential manner to prevent data leakage, details of
which are set out in our IT Security Policy. The staff shall observe and comply with
the non-disclosure agreements made with the Group and the agreements entered
into between the Group and customers from time to time. Besides, the Group may
collect personal data from different parties through the enquiry box on the Company'’s
website, from candidates or employees through recruitment or employment during
the year. A privacy policy statement and the relevant personal information collection
statements have been set out and uploaded on the Company’s website so that
relevant parties were timely informed before giving their personal information. During
the year, the Company follows the six general principles relating to data protection
as set down by the Hong Kong Privacy Commission. During the year, there was no
confirmed case or non-compliance with any rules and regulation of the Group as
regards the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.486) and Personal Data (Privacy)
(Amendment) Ordinance, as well as any applicable rules and regulations in the United
States.
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Quality Assurance

For quality assurance, the quality office of the Group has performed quality reviews
and internal audit functions monitoring the effectiveness of the corrective actions
taken and advised any risk mitigation plans can be taken for years. The Company’s two
major subsidiaries, ASLHK and ELM, have been confident in their quality management
systems, IT service management system and information security management system.

In recent years, our major subsidiaries have been recognised with the following quality

achievements:

Major Subsidiaries

W

Quality Achievement

mERE

Type of Service Provision

HmEREME  Z2FK AREREHMCHTE
S FTE M A AR R B AL B2 B PR ENAY IE#8 e O R I
BE RGN ERRRTEE - ARBMEEZE2M
BAREEEHRRMAMEEEEER RS - A5
M RGEERGREMREBERGITMELD

B RPN EZMBERR D ERATREMRSE

Awarding Bodies

FTEWBEAA mE AR 1R AR 75 48 5 RIS
ASLHK ISO 9001:2015 Quality Enterprise Information Technology Hong Kong Quiality Assurance Agency
Management System Services
EEBBES IS0 9001:2015 mEEE BEREARKRE EEMERER
ISO 9001:2015 Quality Supply Chain Management Services on Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
Management System Computer-related Products
ISO9001:2015 mEETE  EMMEREmMHIERE IR EEMERER
ISO/IEC 20000-1:2011 Service Desk Operation, Hosting Services, Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
IT Service Infrastructure Hardware & Software
Management System Maintenance Services
ISO/IEC 20000-1:2011 RIS BHIE - FEEIRG - ERRERE FERERER
BAREREERRS  REHEERS
ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Information Security Monitoring Service  SGS Hong Kong Limited
Information Security
Management System
ISO/IEC 27001:2013 B2 EERSE ERBARARERRAT
BilZ 2 ERESR
Capability Maturity Software Development CMMI Institute
Model® Integration and Support Services
for Development Organization
(CMMI-DEV) Version 1.3
Maturity Level 3
Capability Maturity PR RSB ARG 4B A CMMI 2B
Model® Integration
for Development
(CMMI-DEV) 1.3 hr
FE=WETR
ELM ISO 9001:2015 Quality IT System Integration, Software Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
Management System Development, Installation and
Maintenance Support Services
AR ISO 9001:2015 BRI RS RS - R HEMEREBR

54

Annual Report 2019 G #f

mEBIR R

LF M IR IR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B.7 Anti-corruption

The Company has established an anti-corruption policy included in Business and
Ethical Code of Conduct of the Group. Employees must not solicit or accept an
advantage as a reward or inducement for doing any act or showing favour to any
person or corporate without the permission of the Company. Any gifts or souvenirs
offered or received shall be reported and passed to the Company. Besides the
antibribery policy, employees are encouraged to report without fear of reprisal any
business malpractices including questionable accounting and auditing matters. In line
with the Group’s commitment to anti-corruption, a whistle-blower policy is also placed
to allow employees to report any malpractice and misconduct to the Legal Manager of
the Company with completed confidentiality. During the year, there was no confirmed
case of corruption or non-compliance with any rules and regulation of the Group as
regards anti-corruption such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

A competition compliance policy has also been adopted in the Company’s subsidiaries
involving business conducted in Hong Kong, of which to prohibit any conduct that
prevents, restricts or distorts competition in Hong Kong. During the year, Hong Kong
Competition Tribunal handed down a case and found four information technology
companies liable for contravening the first conduct rule of the Competition Ordinance
by engaging in bid-rigging. As such, several case sharing workshops had been held by
the Company for relevant employees to help employees to increase their awareness
of the competition compliance policy and the Competition Ordinance. Online training
workshop is available on the Company’s intranet. Any employees in doubt about
the legality of any business activity may consult the Legal Manager of the Company.
Employees are also encouraged to make a complaint or disclose any potential
violations of such policy in accordance with the Company’s whistle-blower policy and
procedure. During the year, there was no confirmed case or non-compliance with any
rules and regulation of the Group as regards the Competition Ordinance.

Community

B.8 Community investment

Apart from taking the social vulnerable groups into consideration, the Group is
dedicated to developing a social responsibility culture among its employees. Our core
subsidiary, ASLHK, has long been recognised by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service with “Caring Company Award” under Caring Company Scheme for ten
consecutive years. The Group joined Tung Chung Family Walk 2019 and continued in
building up its volunteer team during the year.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and provides corporate management
services. The principal activities of its major subsidiaries and associates are set out in
Notes 48 and 22, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2019 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 90 and 91 of the annual report respectively.

The board recommended the payment of a final dividend of 3.0 HK cent per share
held by the shareholders of the company whose names appear on the register of
members on Friday, 5th June 2020 for the year ended 31st December 2019 (2018:
Nil).

The board also recommended the payment of a special dividend of 7.3 HK cent per
share held by the shareholders of the company whose names appear on the register
of members on Wednesday, 29th April 2020 (2018: Nil).

2020 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will convene the forthcoming annual general meeting on Wednesday,
27th May 2020. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Friday, 22nd May 2020 to Wednesday, 27th May 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 21st May 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing, particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2019 and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business as required by schedule 5 of the
" Chief
Executive Officer’s Statement” and Note 49 to the consolidated financial statements

Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”,

on pages 8 to 9, 10 to 19 and 214 of the annual report, respectively. For the financial
key performance indicators for an understanding of the development, performance or
position of the Group’s business, it can also be found under the same sections and the
financial summary on page 7 of the annual report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
relationships with the Group’s key stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have significant impact on the Company are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 46 to 55 respectively.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant
laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

To achieve the Company’s vision of becoming the most competitive entity in
Asia information technology (“IT") sector, strengthening business practices in
environmental protection and corporate social responsibilities are always an integral

part of the Group’s corporate business strategy.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31st December 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 94 to 95 of
the annual report.

As at 31st December 2019, the Group’s special reserve and retained earnings totalled
approximately HK$622,286,000 (2018: HK$484,223,000).

The Company’s reserves are available for distribution to the shareholders as at 31st
December 2019 included special reserve and retained earnings totaling approximately
HK$78,293,000 (2018: HK$96,587,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Group spent approximately
HK$22,776,000 (2018: HK$16,390,000) on property, plant and equipment.

Details of these and other movements during the year ended 31st December 2019 in
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of the Group's purchases and sales attributable to major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the five largest customers and single
largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 27.8% and 7.6% of the
Group's revenue respectively. The five largest suppliers and single largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 35.4% and 11.2% of the Group’s purchases
respectively.

At no time during the year ended 31st December 2019 did a Director, an associate of
a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in
any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements during the year ended 31st December 2019 in share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31st December 2019 and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Wang Weihang
Wang Yueou

Non-Executive Directors
Li Wei
Cui Yong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Pan Xinrong

Deng Jianxin

Or Siu Ching, Rerina

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company, Mr. Wang Weihang, Mr. Deng Jianxin
and Mr. Cui Yong will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, be eligible, offer themselves for election.

As at the date of this report, each of the Directors has entered into either a service
contract or a letter of appointment with the Company. All Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. The
Company considers all of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
Directors of the Company are set out below:

Details of changes

Ms. Or Siu Ching, Rerina (“Ms. Or”) has been appointed as a senior vice president
of Schneider Electric S.E. (collectively with its subsidiaries, referred to as “Schneider
Electric”), a company listed on Euronext Paris Stock Exchange (Stock Code: SU), in
February 2019. Ms. Or resigned as a director and a president of Schneider Electric (Hong
Kong) Limited and a director of certain subsidiaries of Schneider Electric in January
2019.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION (continued)
Details of changes (Continued)

Mr. Wang Weihang (“Mr. Wang"”) has been appointed as the chairman of the Board
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) with effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 22nd May 2019 (the “2019 AGM"). In conjunction with the
appointment of Mr. Wang as the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, Mr. Li Wei (“Mr. Li”) has ceased to be the chairman of the
Board and the chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from the conclusion
of the 2019 AGM. Mr. Wang has been appointed as a member of the management
committee of the Company (“Management Committee”) with effect from 31st March
2020.

Mr. Li entered into a renewed secondment agreement with the Company for
extending term of one year with effect from 1st July 2019. The annual director’s
fee payable to Mr. Li is HK$55,000 for serving on the Board and HK$480,000 for
secondment of monitoring the Group’s operation temporarily, which is determined
with reference to Mr. Li‘s duties and responsibilities. Mr. Li resigned as a director of
Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd. (“Teamsun”) in January 2020. Besides, Mr.
Wang resigned as a non-executive director of the Company, a member of the audit
committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”), a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”) and a member of the
Management Committee with effect from 31st March 2020.

Mr. Deng Jianxin (“Mr. Deng”) resigned as a director of Shandong Bori Bioenergy Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations System in
the PRC (Stock Code: 871585.0C) in September 2019. Mr. Deng has been appointed
as a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 31st March 2020.

Mr. Wang Yueou resigned as a director of Teamsun in February 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Related Party Transactions”
below, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31st December 2019 or at any time during the year ended 31st December 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended 31st December
2019, the following Directors were considered to have interests in the businesses
which competed or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, particulars of which are set out below:

Name of the entities which were
considered to compete or likely
to compete with the businesses

EENHFER 2 ER

I ETTRAIE S0 HRE - RBE-B—AF+=
A=+—BILFER - ATEFRAAEERMER
SRR BRI AR T T AR M SIS AT

ZEBhEAEL  EFEHIOT

Description of businesses of the
entities which were considered to
compete or likely to compete with

of the Group the businesses of the Group Nature of Director’s
Name of Director BRARKEEERBRDR WA RAREEERERSR A4 interest in the entities
EEfA DEZ sy iL BRHEF2EREBHT EERRSER ERME
Wang Weihang Teamsun IT product service, application Chairman and president,
software development, value-added director and substantial shareholder
distribution and system integration
THM ERBRK BEARRERRS  BRARASERE EERFEH BERTERE
BEDHEIERES
Teamsun Technology (HK) Limited Window company of Teamsun in Sole director
("Hong Kong Teamsun”) Hong Kong and mainly provides
administrative support to the clients of
Teamsun in the PRC and Hong Kong
EBRIER (BB) BRAF ERPXRGTEEREAR  FEMERAR  HE-ES
(EBEBRK]) ZEFPRTBEREBRETHXE
Certain subsidiaries of Teamsun T related Director
EBRKZETHERR TR E MR EES
Wang Yueou Teamsun IT product service, application Director
software development, value-added
distribution and system integration
TERE ERBRM BARRERRS  ERRASTRE 5%
BEHHERFRES
Carnation Software Ltd. T related Director
(a subsidiary of Teamsun)
BN SR ARAR TR E MR EE=
(EBRKZMBRAR)
Li Wei Teamsun IT product service, application Director
software development, value-added
distribution and system integration
3 ERBFRM BARRERRS  ERRASTHE 5%
BEHHEERFRES
Certain subsidiaries and T related Director
associates of Teamsun
EBRAZETHBRRARBERT) TR E MR EE=
Cui Yong Teamsun IT product service, application Director, executive vice president and
software development, value-added general manager of the system
distribution and system integration information product (plate) division
EH ERBARK BARRERRS - ERRASIRE 2 WTRBHRAGESEM
BESENERES (¥t fasese
Deng Jianxin Shanghai 4Smart Technology Co., Ltd. Cloud computation and cloud services Chairman
sz PERERRERRERAR EHERERSE IR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

(Continued)

As the Board is independent from the board of directors of the aforesaid companies,
and as none of the above Directors controls the Board, the Group is capable of
carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of
the aforesaid companies.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31st December 2019, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange (“Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”), were as follows:
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B0 ([FE AR ]) BXVaR) 2Bt - BRIk
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(a) Shares (B Bz 12
Approximate
Personal Family Corporate percentage of
Name of company Director interests interests interests Other Total shareholding
NGk Bz AL EA NG Hit @t REFHEAL
The Company Li Wei 412,500 - - - 412,500 0.05%
YN Zf
Teamsun, the ultimate holding Wang Weihang 92,069,358 - - 41,170,975 133,240,333 12.08%
company of the Company Th#
BRI ARAZ Li Wei 602,520 - - - 602,520 0.05%
REERA 7k
Cui Yong 480,000 - - - 480,000 0.04%
EE
(b) Underlying shares (Z)EREBR5
Approximate
Personal Family Corporate percentage of
Name of company Director interests interests interests Other Total shareholding
NGk Bz AL EA NG Hih @t REFHEAL
The Company Wang Yueou 4,620,000° - - - 4,620,000 0.56%
YN 188
Li Wei 907,500° - - - 907,500 0.11%
2k
Cui Yong 1,320,000° - - - 1,320,000 0.16%
EB
Grid Dynamics International, Inc. Wang Yueou 113,190¢ - - - 113,190 0.88%
("Grid Dynamics") TEg
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Li Wei exercised his share option to subscribe for 412,500 shares of the Company on
12th July 2018 and 412,500 shares of the Company were allotted on 19th July 2018.

2. 41,170,975 shares of Teamsun were directly held by a trust scheme, of which a company
with 51% equity interest holding by Mr. Wang Weihang, Beijing Jianzheng Investment
Limited* b B IEREBIR A F)), is one of the founders, which has 100% voting rights
of the shares of Teamsun held by the trust scheme. For the purpose of the SFO, Mr. Wang
Weihang, being a beneficiary of the trust scheme, is deemed to be interested in 41,170,975
shares of Teamsun.

3. Share options to acquire ordinary shares of the Company under a share option scheme
adopted on 13th March 2017, further details of which are set out in section headed “Share
Option Schemes” below. The Company adjusted the number of outstanding share options
after the completion of the bonus issue on 8th June 2018.

4. Share options to subscribe for shares of common stock of Grid Dynamics (“GDI Share(s)”)
under a share option scheme of Grid Dynamics adopted on 21st December 2018, further
details of which are set out in section headed “Share Option Schemes” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2019, none of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company had any Directors’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares.

* For identification purpose only

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
A. 2002 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2002 Share Option
Scheme”) on 8th August 2002. The 2002 Share Option Scheme expired on
7th August 2012. As a result, the Company can no longer grant any further
share options under the 2002 Share Option Scheme. However, all share options
granted prior to 7th August 2012 will remain in full force and effect. A summary
of the 2002 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

The purpose of 2002 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards
to any employee and/or Director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Under
the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the Directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
A. 2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
2002 Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time. The total number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. As
at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares of the Company
available to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding options under the 2002
Share Option Scheme is 727,328, representing 0.09% of total number of issued
shares of the Company as at that date.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of offer, upon
payment of HK$1 as consideration per grant. There is no general requirement
that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the directors of the Company are empowered to impose at its discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the directors of
the Company at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised
more than 10 years after it has been granted.

The exercise price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the
higher of (a) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share of
the Company. Details of the 2002 Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 38(i)
to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options under
the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the year:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWE

BRESTE @)

A.

—EE_FHEREE(E)

RIE—TT — FRER 8 R BB A
mE - EEMEENMFREEARATE BTN
10%  FEAER —F A - " [ E AR 8 8ERE
R B8 - EEFARETSEEARREET
RIVEN1% > RAFHRAH  BE_ZT_FE
R MRt B i RT TR B A 2 AT 1T OB AR R
727,328 » AR % A AR BB BT B
#70.09% °

E R B SRR B AR 28 RIEERA -
EMERERERBAE1ETERRE - —RY
ERERBERAITRAARA ZRERHE 1
ARREFARBIBRE N T E5 BN E
FE RS 256 HR - AR 1762 SR

TOFFRITEE

TEERTBEESET T LRUT=
ERzEEE  @QARARRNDANEL BB
Fiig BIRERS)ZWTE : (0) ANRERODNE
ERERERE AR ELEEAEE RS AR
BRI 2 FHRTE R —BRARRRMDE
HE —TE-FEREANEZFBERTEREY
TR MI7E 38() °

ARR _TT _FBARME BT 2 AR F
Wz EgHmT

Number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of share options

WMIEBRERFRTZRE
Adjusted At 1st Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Adjusted At 31st
Date of Exercise January during during during during during December
grant Exercise Price 2019 the year the year the year the year the year 2019
Participants RHE Period e R=ZF-nE REE REE REE REE REE R=ZF-nE
5% RERH T8 TiE -B-H AR Aty d REX R n#EE  t-A=t-H
HKS
B
Other Employees  19.3.2012 193201310 0.704' 557,100 - - - - - 557,100
Afts 183.2022
252012 252013t0 & 0.728' 170,228 - - - - - 170,228
1.5.2022
Total 727,328 - - - - - 727,328
CES
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
A. 2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
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Notes:

1. The exercise prices of the outstanding share options under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme were adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of the Company on 8th June
2018, the details of which are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8th
June 2018.

2. All of the above share options were vested equally on each of the first, second and
third anniversaries of the date of grant.

3. No Director held any share options under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31st December 2019.

4. The weighted average closing price of the share of the Company immediately before
the date on which the share options were exercised was not applicable.

2017 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2017 Share Option
Scheme”) on 13th March 2017. The 2017 Share Option Scheme will expire on
12th March 2027. A summary of the 2017 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

The purpose of the 2017 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Company and/or the subsidiaries to subscribe for ordinary shares of
par value HK$0.10 each of the Company. The eligible participants include any
employee, executive or officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors of each of the
abovementioned companies).

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (if any) shall not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 13th March 2017,
the date of approval of the adoption of the 2017 Share Option Scheme. The
maximum number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2017 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to
time. The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under the
2017 Share Option Scheme is 52,618,335, representing 10% and 6.36% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of the
adoption of the 2017 Share Option Scheme and as at the date of this annual
report, respectively. As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
shares of the Company may be issued upon exercise of options which available
to be granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme is 20,198,160, representing
2.44% of total number of issued shares of the Company as at that date.

Annual Report 2019 G #f

BRERTE )

A.

—EE_FHEREE(E)

P -

1 CTT - FRRRE BE TR 2 RS
FEEEEARAR -Z— N\FNA/\BEITL
EEAE - FBHRERARFTAPAE-Z—/\F
NANBZRER

2. CFHFEBEREEENREBEBENE - E-K
FZRFERHENERE -

3. REBEE-Z-hEF+-A=+—HItEE  #HE
BEEFEEIMN ST -_FEREE T ZBRE -

4. ARAFRBEITEBIE B AR 8 REF UK
mEGSTER

—E-tFERETE

ARBARZB—LF = AT =AM IR ER
R E ([ — - FBkETE ) —F—tF
BT EBR —ZE -+ E=A+=-HE% - =
TR EIMEDT

—E - FRRETEZENEEEARFR
CERSEERHEBERBEARSUART
R/ sk E BB A FVEH B R A AR Sk 22 ) - LARR
BARFGREEIOETZ BB - 5ER
Z22RERFEARRTREEMAMNBEARZES
THRABSEABE (BF LA RRNHNITE
= FROTEERBUIIENTES) -

BIE =T — - F AT 8 AR BT E B
AT 8l () S T I AT A AR EE TR RS
A BEITHARRRMAE - ARTERER T
—+tF=ZA+=ZH(ERR =T — TR
FTEIZB)ARRIBEITRMDBEZ10% - =
T TR 8 AR B E A B AR AT
F)IE T B 1% H M AR T A9 &SP R AR M 1 T S
ARTHERRNEE - TMEHBBETREEITR
DEBEE30% ° RIE-T — TR I 7] 3%
TR R RN B85 52,618,335 8% © HRIER
BERMB T —t FHERET 82 B KRR AF R
AHARARIE BTN MBI 10% % 6.36% °
RAFHRBE  RE-T - FERESE A H
B AR T AT R BT 2 AR AR D B EUR
20,198,160 8% * 5% B BN R BB BT D 42
HH2.44% o



SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company, the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each eligible
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of offer, upon
payment of HK$1 as consideration per grant. The Board may at its absolute
discretion impose any minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised and/or any performance targets which must be achieved by
the eligible participant before the option can be exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Directors at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
after it has been granted.

The exercise price is determined by the Board, and shall be at least the higher of
(a) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets on the date an offer is made; (b) the average of the closing
prices of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date an offer is made; and (c) the nominal value
of a share of the Company. Details of the 2017 Share Option Scheme are set out
in Note 38Kii) to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options under
the 2017 Share Option Scheme during the year:
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Number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of share options

RERRERABTZRE
Vesting Period At 1st Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Adjusted At 31st
Date of and Exercise January during during during during during December
Participants grant Period Exercise 2019 the year the year the year the year the year 2019
R HEE Pic  R=Z-N% REE REE REE REE REE RZB-1E
28% RERM kTR kE -A-H Wi T &R Wit w#EE  +ZA=t-8
HKS
BT
Directors
s
Wang Yueou 31.3.2017 (Note 2) 0.970' 4,620,000 B B B - 4,620,000
88 (Mx2)
Li Wei 31.3.2017 (Note 2) 0.970' 907,500 B B B - 907,500
Zf (Mx2)
Cui Yong 31.3.2017 (Note 2) 0.970' 1,320,000 B B B - 1,320,000
EB (M3E2)
Other Employees  31.3.2017 (Note 2) 0.970' 17,014,800 - (111,375) (693,825) - - 16,209,600
HitfES (Mt2)
284.2017 (Note 2) 0.909' 7,260,000 - - - - 7,260,000
(ff3t2)
13.12.2017 (Note 2) 0.867' 1,665,600 - (218,400) - - 1,447,200
(ff3t2)
Total 32,787,900 - (111,375) (912,225) - - 31,764,300
CES
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
B. 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

1.

66

The exercise prices of outstanding share options under the 2017 Share Option Scheme
were adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of shares of the Company on 8th June
2018, the details of which are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8th
June 2018.

On 31st March 2017, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
participants under the 2017 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for a total of
19,140,000 shares of the Company at the exercise price of HK$1.28. The share options
are divided into four tranches, each of which consists of one fourth of the share
options and is associated with performance targets within a specific financial period,
the details of which are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31st March
2017.

On 28th April 2017, the Company granted share options to certain eligible participants
under the 2017 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for a total of 6,500,000 shares of
the Company at the exercise price of HK$1.20. The share options are divided into four
tranches, each of which consists of one fourth of the share options and is associated
with performance targets within a specific financial period, the details of which are
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28th April 2017.

On 13th December 2017, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
participants under the 2017 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for a total of 1,388,000
shares of the Company at the exercise price of HK$1.04. The share options are divided
into four tranches, each of which consists of one fourth of the share options and is
associated with performance targets within a specific financial period, the details of
which are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 13th December 2017.

The vesting period and exercise period of each tranche of the share options granted
on 31st March 2017, 28th April 2017 and 13th December 2017, respectively, are as
follows:

BB ERT &l )
—E-tFERETE(®)
[E

1.

ZE— TR TR M R ITE 2 AR
TEECEBEARARNRZZE—N\FA/\BH#T
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Percentage of options

of each tranche shall
be exercisable

Date of grant  Tranches Vesting Period Exercise Periods EHIBIRE
REAH #R BEH 175 AFTEZEAL
31.3.2017 First tranche 31.3.2017 to & 1.4.2019 31.3.2017 to & 30.3.2027 50%
—#t 1.4.2018 to & 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2019 to & 30.3.2027 25%

Second tranche 28.3.2018 to & 1.4.2020 28.3.2018 to & 30.3.2027 50%

—it 1.4.2019 to £ 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2020 to £ 30.3.2027 25%

Third tranche 20.3.2019 to & 1.4.2021 20.3.2019 to & 30.3.2027 50%

F=Ht 1.4.2020 to = 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2021 to & 30.3.2027 25%

Fourth tranche 25.3.2020 to & 1.4.2022 25.3.2020 to & 30.3.2027 50%

Eukig 1.4.2021 to Z 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2022 to & 30.3.2027 25%
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) fB IR HERT &l ()
B. 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued) B. —E—tFBRE S (®)

Notes: (Continued) Mzt : (88)

2. (Continued) 2. (&

Percentage of options

of each tranche shall

be exercisable

Date of grant  Tranches Vesting Period Exercise Periods BHEB AR HE
REBH #x SR 1THEH AFTEZBEDLL
28.4.2017 First tranche 1.6.2018 to & 1.6.2020 1.6.2018 to & 27.4.2027 50%
E—4t 1.6.2019 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2020 to = 27.4.2027 25%

Second tranche 1.6.2019 to & 1.6.2021 1.6.2019 to = 27.4.2027 50%

EHt 1.6.2020 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2021 to & 27.4.2027 25%

Third tranche 1.6.2020 to & 1.6.2022 1.6.2020 to & 27.4.2027 50%

E=Ht 1.6.2021 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2022 to & 27.4.2027 25%

Fourth tranche 1.6.2021 to & 1.6.2023 1.6.2021 to = 27.4.2027 50%

Fmit 1.6.2022 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2023 to & 27.4.2027 25%

13.12.2017 First tranche 1.4.2019 to £ 1.4.2021 1.4.2019to & 12.12.2027 50%
E—4t 1.4.2020 to & 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2021 to & 12.12.2027 25%

Second tranche 1.4.2020 to & 1.4.2022 1.4.2020 to & 12.12.2027 50%

EHt 1.4.2021 to & 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2022 to & 12.12.2027 25%

Third tranche 1.4.2021 to & 1.4.2023 1.4.2021 to & 12.12.2027 50%

E=Ht 1.4.2022 to & 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2023 to & 12.12.2027 25%

Fourth tranche 1.4.2022 to & 1.4.2024 1.4.2022 to & 12.12.2027 50%

It 1.4.2023 to & 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2024 to & 12.12.2027 25%

3. The offer for a total number of 6,500,000 options was made to eligible participants, 3. BAAERSEERETA%6,500,000 RAERAER
in which an offer of 1,000,000 options was not accepted by an eligible participant, 24 - H11,000,000 RERENZBHORE —BE
pursuant to the 2017 Share Option Scheme, the offer of these options was AR2EEES  BE-ZT—CFRAEE -
automatically lapsed and became null and void. ZEREZOG AR - WIERERER -

4. The closing prices of the shares of the Company immediately before 31st March 2017, 4. REE-ZT—+tF=-A=+-—H ZT—+tFNHN
28th April 2017 and 13th December 2017 on which the share options were granted AZ+NBEZZ—tF+ZA+=ZHRE=Z
under the 2017 Share Option Scheme were HK$1.25, HK$1.08 and HK$0.90 per share —tERERE R D ERER - AR ERM
of the Company, respectively. TED R ASR.25%7T « 1.0887LK%0.907 T ©

5. The weighted average closing price of the share of the Company immediately before 5. ARRARREITEBRER BTG 69T H UL
the dates on which the share options were exercised was HK$1.05. TEA1.0587T ¢

Automated Systems Holdings Limited 58 Z 5B BR AR 67



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C

68

Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company

Grid Dynamics, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, adopted a share option
scheme (the “GDI Share Option Scheme”) on 21st December 2018. The GDI
Share Option Scheme will be expired on 20th December 2028. A summary of the
GDI Share Option Scheme is as follows:

The purpose GDI Share Option Scheme is to advance the interests of Grid
Dynamics and its shareholders by providing an incentive to attract, retain and
reward persons performing services for Grid Dynamics, its parent companies or
subsidiaries (the “Participating Company Group”) and by motivating such persons
to contribute to the growth and profitability of Grid Dynamics. The participants
include employees, consultants and directors of the Participating Company
Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the GDI Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of Grid Dynamics which, unless otherwise permitted under the Listing
Rules, must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of GDI Shares
in issue as at 21st December 2018, the date of approval of the adoption of the
GDI Share Option Scheme. Grid Dynamics may seek approval by its shareholders
and the shareholders of the Company in general meeting to refresh the 10%
limit such that the total number of the GDI Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the GDI Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of Grid Dynamics under the limit as “refreshed”
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of the GDI Shares in issue as at the
date of approval to refresh such limit. Grid Dynamics may seek separate approval
by its shareholders and the shareholders of the Company in general meeting
for granting options beyond the 10% limit above, provided that the Options in
excess of such limit are granted only to participants specifically identified by Grid
Dynamics and the Company before such approval is sought.

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company, the aggregate number of
GDI Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the GDI Shares in issue (the “Single Participant
Limit”).

Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the participants
and to have taken effect when the duplicate of the stock option agreement
comprising acceptance of the offer has been duly signed by the participants
within 28 days. No payment is required to accept an offer.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C

Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)

The board of directors of Grid Dynamics (the “GDI Board") shall have the full and
final power and authority, in its discretion, to determine any minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised and/or any performance
targets which must be achieved before an option can be exercised.

The options will be exercisable until the expiration of ten (10) years after
the effective date of grant of such option, or such other applicable date (i.e.
no incentive stock option granted to a person who, at the time an option is
granted to such person, owns stock possessing more than ten percent (10%)
of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Participating
Company Group, shall be exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years after
the effective date of grant of such option, and with the exception of (i) an option
granted to an officer, a director of the Participating Company Group (the “GDlI
Scheme Director”) or a consultant, a person engaged to provide consulting or
advisory services (other than as an employee or a GDI Scheme Director) to the
Participating Company Group and (i) an option that is exercisable based on
the accomplishment of specific performance-based milestones, no option shall
become exercisable at a rate less than twenty percent (20%) per year over a
period of five (5) years from the effective date of grant of such option, subject to
the participant’s continued service).

The exercise price for each option will be determined by the GDI Board and
shall be not less than the fair market value of a GDI Share, as determined by an
independent third party valuation company engaged by GDI, on the effective
date of grant of the Option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an option may be
granted with an exercise price lower than the minimum exercise price set forth
above if such option is granted pursuant to an assumption or substitution for
another option in a manner qualifying under the provisions of Section 424(a)
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. However, the exercise price of options
to be granted after the Company has resolved to seek a separate listing of Grid
Dynamics on any stock exchange and up to the listing date of Grid Dynamics
must be not lower than the new issue price (if any).

Details of the GDI Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 38(iii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BB ERT &l )

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company C. AAF—EKHEBAIZBREE(2)
(Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the share options under the GDI GDIfEAR ST EITE T 2 BB ARE RN F E A 2 EEhin
Share Option Scheme during the year: T~
Number of GDI Shares to be issued upon exercise of share options
TRERERERT2GDIRGEE
Vesting Period At 1st Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Adjusted At 31st
and Exercise January during during during during during December
Participants Date of grant  Period Exercise 2019 the year the year the year the year the year 2019
SRAHA Price R=B-1E RER RER RER RER RER R=Z2-n%
5% BFEH TS TRER -B-H B¥ (i3 ER B #E  tzB=t-8
Uss
B
Director of the
Company
AIES
Wang Yueou 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 7.54 90,000 - - - - - 90,000
TR (Mx1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 23,190 - - - - 23,190
(Biiza)
Excess Single
Participant Limit
BHERNSRER
2B8E
Leonard Livschitz2 ~ 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 71.54 937,500 - - - - - 937,500
(FzE1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 241,568 - - - - 241,568
(Fza)
Victoria Livschitz2 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 7.54 300,000 - (150,000) - - - 150,000
(F&E1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 71,301 (11,025 - - - 66,276
(Fita)
Yury Gryzlov? 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 7.54 150,000 - - - - - 150,000
(Hx1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 38,650 - - - - 38,650
GEZ)
Stan Klimoff 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 1.54 120,000 - (60,000) - - - 60,000
(Fz1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 30,920 (4,410) - - - 26,510
(Fza)
Vadim Kozyrkov 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 1.54 120,000 - - - - - 120,000
(1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 30,920 - - - - 30,920
(Fza)
Max Martynov 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 7.54 120,000 - - - - - 120,000
(Gia)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 30,920 - - - - 30,920
(Fita)
Employeesof GDI'~ 21.12.2018 (Note 1) 7.54 412,500 = = = - - 412,500
GDIES (F&E1)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 103,716 - - - B 103,716
(F&4)
Others 22.05.2019 (Note 3) 1.54 - 20,000 - - - - 20,000
£t (Mt3)
22.05.2019 (Note 4) 7.55 - 5,154 - - - - 5154
(FEa)
Total 2,250,000 602,339 (225435) - - - 2,626,904

@5t
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

1.

On 12th November 2018 (Pacific Time), GDI Board proposed to granted shares
options to 57 participants under the GDI Share Option Scheme to subscribe for up to
2,250,000 GDI Shares at the exercise price of US$7.54 per share (the “Exercise Price"”).
The grant of share options exceeding the Scheme Mandate Limit was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 21st December
2018 (the “SGM"). Among the abovementioned Options: (i) Options to subscribe for
2,127,500 GDI Shares were granted to 16 grantees who are directors of Grid Dynamics
or senior management of Participating Company Group and are so granted in such
capacity (the “GDI Senior Management Grant”); and (i) Options to subscribe for
122,500 GDI Shares were granted to 41 grantees who were so to be granted in their
capacity as employees and/or officers of the Participating Company Group (the “GDI
Employees Grant”). Options of the above Grants are divided into four tranches. There
will be no performance target which much be achieved before the unvested options
may be exercised, the details of which are disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 21st December 2018 and 18th March 2019, respectively.

The vesting period and exercise period of the share options granted on 21st December
2018 under the GDI Senior Management Grant are as follows:

Date of grant
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GEX

1. RZZE—N\F+—A+=H(KE*EM) - GDIE
EERFRECDIEREFTEMS7R2RERT
BREUITEESR74ET(THEE]) RER
% 225,000,000 A% GDIf {7 o #% tH HBE T I AE IR
BHEREERARRBRER=_Z—\F+=A
—+—ARTZEIRERE ((REHFIAE ]
b bt 2 BERRAEEF ¢ (i) RIE2,127,500
& GDIR& 1 &) B R 15 1% F 16 B AR A - B
GDIZEEHLHAREENSHEERE WX
LHEHERTERE(GDISHEEERE )
J% (i) 3R 5% 122,500 A% GDI % 17 ) i AR 4 15 5% T 41
ZEBEAN  BESLEAREENEE R RITH
ANE VUZEHFHERTHERE(GDEER
1) o EMEREERES RO - KREBEER
R AT AT ETAEERZRBAIZ - 15
BEAEBHSA-Z— \F+-A=Z+—HK
ZE-NEZA+NAZEARATRE o

BEGDISRERERBETHR _Z—N\F+=_A
T ARENBREZ REHRITERNT

Percentage of options
of each tranche

(Pacific Time) Tranches

Vesting Period

Exercise Period

shall be exercisable

BT A (KEERBD) #x SR 1765 SHBREZATERSL
21.12.2018 First tranche 12.11.2018 12.11.2018 to & 11.11.2028 25%
E—H#t
Second tranche 1.1.2019 1.1.2019to & 11.11.2028 25%
FHt
Third tranche 1.1.2020 1.1.2020 to & 11.11.2028 25%
=it
Fourth tranche 1.1.2021 1.1.2021 to & 11.11.2028 25%
ESLutking

Immediately prior to the consummation of a change in control of Grid Dynamics
(including Ownership Change Event as defined in the appendix to the Company’s
Circular dated 3rd December 2018 or the liquidation or dissolution of Grid Dynamics),
all the unvested options shall automatically vest in full.

The vesting period and exercise period of the share options granted on 21st December
2018 under the GDI Employees Grant are as follows:

BN GDIAIREH (REATN T —N\&
T AT B AR R AR
FHSBESRAGD) A - AR RBBIES
DENEE -

BEGDHEEREBE TR —E—N\F+=-A=+—
B BRI 2 55 B B R AT A

Percentage of options

Date of grant

(Pacific Time) Tranches

Vesting Period

Exercise Period

of each tranche
shall be exercisable

BT B (KEFERE) #ER HEH TS SHBREZA{TERSL
21.12.2018 First tranche 12.11.2018 12.11.2018 to £ 11.11.2028 25%
E£—it
Second tranche 12.11.2019 12.11.2019to & 11.11.2028 25%
£ 4t
Third tranche 12.11.2020 12.11.2020 to £ 11.11.2028 25%
F=Ht
Fourth tranche 12.11.2021 12.11.2021 to & 11.11.2028 25%
it
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

72

(Continued)

Immediately prior to the consummation of a change in control of Grid Dynamics
(including Ownership Change Event as defined in the appendix to the Company's
circular dated 3rd December 2018 or the liquidation or dissolution of Grid Dynamics),
the vesting of options shall accelerate by an additional 12 months.

Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting schedules, certain options may be exercised
by the participants for issuance of both vested and unvested GDI Shares. In the event
a participant elects to exercise the unvested options, the unvested GDI Shares issued
thereunder shall be treated as restricted stock are entitled to the same rights as vested
GDI Shares, including rights to receive dividends or other distributions to shareholders
of Grid Dynamics as well as the right to vote the shares, save that, the holder shall not
transfer, assign or dispose of any interest in the unvested GDI Shares, which is subject
to a right of repurchase in favor of Grid Dynamics in the event the participant (i) ceases
to provide services to Grid Dynamics or (i) attempts to dispose of such restricted stock
which are issued pursuant to the exercise of unvested options. The restricted shares
will continue to vest in accordance with the above vesting schedule and the transfer
restriction and Grid Dynamics's right of repurchase shall lapse in accordance with the
above vesting schedule.

At the SGM, the shareholders of the Company approved the grant of options to
Leonard Livschitz, Victoria Livschitz and Yury Gryzlov exceeding the Single Participant
Limit to subscribe for up to 937,500 GDI Shares, 300,000 GDI Shares, and 150,000
GDI Shares, respectively, under the GDI Share Option Scheme which represent
approximately 7.81%, 2.50%, and 1.25%, respectively, of the total GDI Shares in issue
as at that date. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 21st
December 2018.

On 27th March 2019, the GDI Board has resolved to grant options to two participants
under the GDI Share Option Scheme to subscribe for an aggregate of up to 20,000
GDI Shares subsequent to the passing of an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of
the Company at the 2019 AGM approving the refreshment of scheme mandate limit
(i.e. options to subscribe for up to 2,250,000 GDI Shares) for further grant of options
to subscribe for up to 750,000 GDI Shares at the exercise price of US$7.54 per GDI
Share. The foregoing two participants are not the director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or their respective associate. Options of the above grants
are divided into four tranches. There will be no performance target which must be
achieved before the unvested options may be exercised.

The vesting period and exercise period of the share options granted on 22nd May 2019
under are as follows:

Date of grant
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C. RRA—HEBATZERESTE ()

M ()

1.
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55T Grid Dynamics 12 $I &) (R IE A AR
—E-N\E+-_B=ZABHZBEMEARTEZ
HEEREEE B05 H SRR Grid Dynamics) AT
FiEHE T GDRB 2 B SRB 1S B IMERT 12
@A -

BREAMMGBREE  2EENATESE THE
MR TTE BB R AR R GDI k) - W2 EERE
TERBBREAE - R EITHREE GDIRRMNE
WARAZRAIRG - ZHEE R GDIEmRER
HORE S - BHE A REUCER AR B s E fh Grid Dynamics
ARk AR DI EHE (MR A ATMSERERNE
A58 GDIRR D iR ) - Ml IR TER -
Bl Grid Dynamics 5 % i# [o] R 55 B 19 GDI i 17« (i)
2 ME R R GDHR AR - sk (i) 2 EE R T
ERSEERGEBRERTEMEITHNZRHIKR
19 - LBHIRMDAGIRIE L FERARREER
Il 4 48 558 - & Grid Dynamics [B1B& 7 F FE AR &
LR R MR o

RERIREARE £ QA B F L [ Leonard
Livschitz * Victoria Livschitz i Yury Gryzlov % {} 8
BIE B2 8 EREE A HE - 9 5% 937,500
300,000 71 150,000 % GDIF& 15+ #915 GDI B f% #E
FFEIRNE A BT ZGDIRG B HN7.81%
250% M 1.25% ° Fwm2HARREHRRE-Z
—NF+ZAZt+—HZRE -

RZE-NF=AZ+tHGDIEFERZELR
RARERZZE-NARRAFAE BB BY
BRERUBEE ST 8RR (B A R &
%2,250,000 i GDI & 19 2 B& Ak 1 ) LA — 2P 1%
FARGDIR G 7.54F L2 ATEER L AT RIEH S
750,000 A% GDI i 7 2 B Ak 4 18 - AR 4% GDI & I
FTEIMMAI2RE R L A RES #£5% 20,000 %
GDIRAR BB AR AE - MaxMhz 2 RE W IEAARDQRA]
EF RRTHABREZRENKHEEGHH
BA - LAMBRHOERES BOL - REBER
A FTERIT BT MEER  RFEEZ -

E

RZE—NERAZ+ AR HOERE
HARATEEEAANT ¢

B8

Percentage of options
of each tranche

(Pacific Time) Tranches Vesting Period Exercise Period shall be exercisable
B BH (REFERE) #ER gt 1T SHBREZTITERSL
22.5.2019 First tranche 1.2.2020 1.2.2020 to = 26.3.2029 25%
E—H#t
Second tranche 1.2.2021 1.2.2021 to & 26.3.2029 25%
o
Third tranche 1.2.2022 1.2.2022 to = 26.3.2029 25%
=t
Fourth tranche 1.2.2023 1.2.2023 to & 26.3.2029 25%
EStutkd
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3.

(Continued)

Immediately prior to the consummation of a change in control of Grid Dynamics
(including Ownership Change Event as defined in the appendix of the Company’s
circular dated 3rd December 2018, or the liquidation or dissolution of Grid Dynamics),
all the unvested Options shall automatically vest in full.

Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting schedules, certain Options may be exercised
by the Grantees for issuance of both vested and unvested GDI Shares. In the event a
participant elects to exercise the unvested Options, the unvested GDI Shares issued
thereunder shall be treated as restricted stock are entitled to the same rights as vested
shares of GDI's common stock. The details of which are disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 27th March 2019.

On 22nd May 2019, the GDI Board has further resolved to grant options to 57
participants under the GDI Share Option Scheme to subscribe for an aggregate of
up to 582,339 GDI Shares at the exercise price of US$7.55 per GDI Share. The Grant
involved granting Options to six Grantees in excess of the Single Participant Limit which
is subject to the approval of the Shareholders. Options of the above grants are divided
into two batches. There will be no performance target which must be achieved before
the unvested options may be exercised.

Options granted to the Grantees are divided into two tranches, comprising Options
to subscribe for an aggregate of 166,118 GDI Shares and Options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 416,221 GDI Shares, respectively, and the two tranches have different
vesting schedules. Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 166,118 GDI Shares are
granted pursuant to the true-up policy under the GDI Share Option Scheme (the True-
Up Policy) in connection with a subscription of equity interest in Grid Dynamics at an
aggregate consideration of US$15,000,000 (please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 6th May 2019 and 17th May 2019 for details), whilst Options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 416,221 GDI Shares are granted to provide incentive and
promote the listing of Grid Dynamics in the US (the SPAC Listing Grant).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BB ERT &l )

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company C. AAF—EKHEBAIZBREE(2)
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) BisE - (48)
4. (Continued) 4. (&
The vesting period and exercise period of the for an aggregate of 416,221 share R hER R+ REHY 416,221 158K
options granted on 22nd May 2019 are as follows: B EBERITEBRMT
Number Proportion
of Options | of Options 75% 25%
Grantees B | BRUE
ARA L= LI
Directors of GDI or senior 391,816 Vesting To vest on the closing date of a merger or consolidation by a To vest on
management of the date special purpose acquisition company, GDI and the Company |  1st January 2021
Participating Company 5 B & (the "Initial Vesting Date") R —F—
Group PHEFER B RUEE A R] ~ GDI RAR AR A E A—HRE
(Note 1) REH(BREEBREB
GDIZEEHZRATF Exercise Vesting date till 21st May 2029 (both dates inclusive)
SEzEREERE period REAPEHEE T AFRA-1+—H
(BF3E1) 1T1E AR (BiEEEMB)
Employees 20,721 Proportion
and/or officers of GDI of Options 50% 25% 25%
GDIZ{E& fEHR AL
k/RITHAE 1
Vesting To vest on the Initial Vesting Date To vest on To vest on
date iN=PN = 12th November 12th November
7= B HY 2020 2021
i e WZB——%
+—A+=H +—A+=H
e i)
Exercise Vesting date till 21st May 2029 (both dates inclusive)
period GEAHRTEE_E-_NAFRA-T—H
171 EA (BIEEREME)
Other Participants 3,684 Proportion
(Note 2) of Options 25% 25% 25% 25%
Hitg8EE FERx Lt
(Mt7E2) il
Vesting To vest on the To vest on To vest on To vest on
date Initial Vesting 1st February Tst February 2022 | 1st February 2023
55 H EA Date 2021 REIE-—F—- | RCTB=F—
REarEE | RZE=—F A—H%EB A—BHEB
AHEE —R—BEE
Exercise Vesting date till 21st May 2029 (both dates inclusive)
period BERPETEE T -_AFEA-+—H
17 HR (BEERWA)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
4. (Continued)

Note 1:  The Grantees comprise Mr. Wang Yueou, the relevant Grantees to whom
Options are granted in excess of the Single Participant Limit (a total of
321,832 Options) and directors and senior management of Grid Dynamics
(a total of 53,409 Options). Pursuant to the SPAC Listing Grant, Mr. Wang
Yueou was granted 16,575 Options, and Options granted to the relevant
Grantees were as follows: Mr. Leonard Livschitz was granted 172,657
Options, Ms. Victoria Livschitz was granted 55,250 Options, Mr. Yury
Gryzlov was granted 27,625 Options and each of Mr. Kozyrkov Vadim, Mr.
Klimoff Stan and Mr. Martynov Max was granted 22,100 Options.

Note 2:  The Grantees comprise external consultants to Grid Dynamics.

Immediately prior to the consummation of a change in control of Grid Dynamics
(including Ownership Change Event as defined in the appendix to the Company’s
circular dated 3rd December 2018 or the liquidation or dissolution of Grid Dynamics),
some of the Options will vest in full immediately prior to the consummation of the
change in control as indicated in the table above.
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321,832 10 B f% 4% ) LA & Grid Dynamics
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Bt FTEBLEER16,575HBK
T M TAEREARA  BRENT
Leonard Livschitz 5 4 % 172,657 15
88 A% 4 - Victoria Livschitz & + # #%
55,2507 B8 % # - Yury Gryzlov % &
& 27,6251 B % 4 LA & Kozyrkov
Vadim % 4 - Klimoff Stan %t & &
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2 B R T S 308 E SRR B Grid Dynamics)
Al SO BB N R Hl i B AT T
KIIRCEHERE -

Automated Systems Holdings Limited B &) Z 5 &£ E AR A7) 75



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BB ERT &l )

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company C. AAF—EKHEBAIZBREE(2)
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) BisE - (48)
4. (Continued) 4. (#)
The vesting period and exercise period of the 166,118 share options granted on 22nd —NFRAZ+ZHEE 166,118 HERIE
May 2019 are as follows: E,ﬁﬂ&ﬁ@,ﬁﬂﬁﬂ—l—
Number Proportion
of Options | of Options 0 0 0 0
Grantees B | B 25% 25% 25% 25%
ERA = EL 1
Directors of GDI or senior 156,378 Vesting Vested on date of grant Vested on To vest on
management of the date PR A RS Tst January 2020 1st January 2021
Participating Company 55 H HA RITB-TFE— | R —F—
Group A—BRE8 A—BRE8
(Note 1) . ; . X - X
GDI 2 ESHLHEAT All the unvested Options shall agtom?ncegllﬁl vest in fCuII |tmr|ned|ately prior to the
S B EEE ~ con§ymma jon of a Change Lrjmon o
(PFF=E1) PR E BRSBTS B A B BE 8
’ Exercise Vesting date till 21st May 2029 (both dates inclusive)
period BEOETEE T -_NFRA=-+—H
T HR (REERMRA)
Employees 8,270 Vesting Vested on date of Vested on To vest on To vest on
and/or officers of GDI date grant 12th November 12th November 12th November
GDIZ{E8 5B A H i E=R: 2019 2020 2021
k/RITHAE s RIZ—NEF | RZZZZF WoT——
t—A+=R| +—A+=H t—A+=H
)| )| )|
The vesting of Options shall automatically accelerate by an additional 12 months
immediately prior to the consummation of a Change in Control
MR RE G Y B ST R IR B B AT B B IR ATRESMT —(E A 5B
Exercise Vesting date till 21st May 2029 (both dates inclusive)
period mEBEARRTEE S NFRA=Z+—H
1758 (BEERWA)
Other Participants 1,470 Vesting Vested on To vest on To vest on To vest on
(Note 2) date 1st February 2020 | 1st February 1st February 2022 | 1st February 2023
Hit28& BEAH | RZZEF 2021 RIBZZF- | RZEBEZ=FC
(Mt3E2) —R—HRB | R_T_—F RA—BgRE A—B&E
—RA—BEE
All the unvested Options shall automatically vest in full immediately prior to the
consummation of a Change in Control
FiERBEERESNEETRIEHEEZDA B REEE
Exercise Vesting date till 21st May 2029 (both dates inclusive)
period BERRETEE_T_NAFRA-_T—H
1T HA (BEERMRA)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

C. Share Option Scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) BisE : (48)
4. (Continued) 4. (8
Note 1:  The Grantees comprise Mr. Wang Yueou, the relevant Grantees to whom MiEE1: ARAREEERBLE  ERERER
Options are granted in excess of the Single Participant Limit (a total of BER2EERTE ZAMARA (51
128,447 Options) and directors and senior management of Grid Dynamics (a 128,447 {7 BE AR # ) LA & Grid Dynamics
total of 21,316 Options). Pursuant to the True-Up Policy, Mr. Wang Yueou CEERRRERE(AH£2131610
was granted 6,615 Options, and Options granted to the relevant Grantees BEARIE) - IRIBARBER - TERBLE
were as follows: Mr. Leonard Livschitz was granted 68,911 Options, Ms. 6,615 BB AR - R T 4H BA &
Victoria Livschitz was granted 22,051 Options, Mr. Yury Gryzlov was BAZEREWT « Leonard Livschitz
granted 11,025 Options and each of Mr. Kozyrkov Vadim, Mr. Klimoff Stan % 4 JE 168,911 1) 5 AR # - Victoria
and Mr. Martynov Max was granted 8,820 Options. Livschitz 22 4= & #%22,051 {5 B A% #% -
Yury Gryzlov %t 4 % # 11,025 17 i %
# LA 2 Kozyrkov Vadim & 4 ~ Klimoff
Stan 5 4 & Martynov Max %t 4 & B %
% 8,820 1R B AR ©
Note 2:  The Grantees comprise external consultants to Grid Dynamics. fRE2 © IR ABHEGrd Dynamicsz FNEBEART o

Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting schedules, certain Options may be exercised
by the Grantees for issuance of both vested and unvested GDI Shares. In the event
a Grantee elects to exercise the unvested Options, the unvested GDI Shares issued
thereunder shall be treated as restricted stock and are entitled to the same rights as
vested shares of GDI's common stock, including rights to receive dividends or other
distributions to shareholders as well as the right to vote the shares, save that the holder

BEL LABBERE - AAAITEE TR
B LA 31T 2 BB S ok B GDIMR £ « MR A
21217 R R BB ARE - LB 5T 2 K 538 GDI
A SR IE R R $IMR 15 1 % 5 S 558 GDI % 8
AR 2 R - RS R B o E A 5
TR IR AR (W5 A TS0k S (L

shall not transfer, assign or dispose of any interest in the unvested GDI Shares, which is 558 GDIR D #Eas) - mE IR A TIER - AlGrid
subject to a right of repurchase in favor of Grid Dynamics in the event the Grantee (i) Dynamics & 1 & 0] K 5% & 2 GDIFR 7+ () &K A

ceases to provide services to Grid Dynamics or (ii) attempts to dispose of such restricted
stock which are issued pursuant to the exercise of unvested Options. The restricted
shares will continue to vest in accordance with the above vesting schedule and the
transfer restriction and Grid Dynamics's right of repurchase shall lapse in accordance
with the above vesting schedule.

4% 11 7] Grid Dynamics 32 4 AR 755 3 (ii) 75 35 A 45
ERSEERGEBRERTEMEIT ZZRHIKR
19 - LBHIRMDAGIRIE L FERRARREER
Il AL 48 578 » 1M Grid Dynamics [0 B8 4 7| FEAR 1%
R R MR o
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Schemes” above, at
no time during the year ended 31st December 2019 was the Company, or any of its
holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company or their connected entities to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On 26th October 2018, the Company and Teamsun entered into a supply agreement
in relation to the sale and purchase of products between the Group and Teamsun
and its subsidiaries (“Teamsun Group”) and the provision or sharing of services (the
“Supply Agreement”). The term of the transactions contemplated under the Supply
Agreement shall commence on 26th October 2018 and shall end on 31st December
2020 (both days inclusive), unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Supply Agreement. Teamsun is a controlling shareholder and
a connected person of the Company, thus the transactions contemplate under the
Supply Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
transactions contemplate under the Supply Agreement and the relevant annual caps
are subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are exempt from the independent Shareholders’
approval requirement.

Both the Group and Teamsun Group are reputable IT infrastructure, solution and
services providers, and have well established distribution channels and networks
in Hong Kong, Southeast Asia, Europe, United States and the PRC, respectively.
The entering into of the Supply Agreement will enhance the efficiency and sales
capabilities of ASH Group’s existing distribution channels and networks by sharing
the business know-how between the Group and Teamsun Group. In addition, the
Directors believe that the cooperation between the Group and Teamsun Group would
allow the realisation of substantial synergies in terms of, among others, convenience,
support and marketing of the Group Products and services.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Set out below are the relevant annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the
continuing connected transactions which occurred during the period from 1st January
2019 to 31st December 2019 pursuant to the Supply Agreement:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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FERBEALTRS @

AT AR IE R 15 5 —h&E—A—HE
*ﬂiJrfﬂ:JrEE@Faﬁé’é‘iZ%EEﬁL’x%EﬂH%ﬁ
EEIRERERRSEHE -

Actual annual
transaction

Annual cap of amount for
the transactions the year ended
for the year ended 31st December 2019
31st December 2019 BE-_Z—-N&
BE-Z—-h&E +=BA=+—H
Name of company Description of the transactions +=—HA=+—H L2 FER
NCIEE ] RBHE LE2FERS ER RBEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Teamsun Amount payable by the Group in respect of 10,000 -
the purchase of products from Teamsun Group
FERBRK REBERBEEBAKNEEERENSHE
Amount receivable by the Group in respect of 10,000 -
the supply of products of the Group to Teamsun Group
ANER (B[R B RS OR P S5 1B 4L B S 5 [ 2 o R MR TR
Amount payable by the Group in respect of 25,000 78
the services provided by Teamsun
NEE BRI B RBGR B IRFSFE T £ 58
Amount receivable by the Group in respect of 25,000 -
the provision of services to Teamsun
AN E phIR FE RS R AR IR M AR TS FEICRRIR
The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected NRAZHMEEEFEREESGTMAGRLNE
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements /%1%*7%&%?@@5@ £30005% (&1E5]) B LEMES

3000 (Revised), “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
“Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed by the Group above in accordance with

Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740,
issued

Rule14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditor of the Company has also confirmed to
the Board in writing that the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31st December 2019:

(i) bhave received the approval of the Board,;

(i) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant pricing policies of the
Group;

(iii) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the transactions; and
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(iv) have not exceeded the relevant annual caps.

All of the Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that were
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a

whole.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31st December 2019, none of the
related party transactions entered into by the Group set out in the section headed
“Related Party Transactions” in Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements
constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which is
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors and chief executives
of the Company, the following person (other than Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:
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FERR

RZB-NF+-A=+—0 REZRARFES
TRABMA  EEXEARBRSITHRABRIA
T RARAEZ B SRR o R RIS S
ERPIE XV EDE 2 T 30 BV SRR AN A B R B 52
PR SRR R BRI 336 (R AR RATH
ez &P sk amT

(a) Shares (a) B
Number of
ordinary Percentage
shares of the of issued
Company held share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature BEAXAT HE 8T
REREHE BE HE EERZROBE RAZEDH
Hong Kong Teamsun Beneficial owner Long Position 455,268,915 55.03%
EREBRK 2@mA e
Teamsun Interest of controlled corporation Long Position 455,268,915' 55.03%
EBRK RN A ey}
Beijing International Trust Trustee Long Position 107,841,742? 13.04%
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Trust”) ZIFEA e
I RBBREFEARAF
(MHExmfz7ED)
China Construction Bank Interest of controlled corporation Long Position 21,978,0223 2.66%
Corporation (“CCBC") RSN Rl R ge
hEZRRITRMABRAF
(TEITT))
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation Long Position 21,978,022¢ 2.66%
(“Central Huijin") ERA AR e
PRESREFRAF
(ThkfES])
(b) Underlying shares (b) 1EEARR 12
Number of
ordinary Percentage
shares of the of issued
Company held share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature BEAXAT HE 8T
REREH BE HE EERZROBE BRAZEDH
CCBC Interest of controlled corporation Long Position 252,747,2523 30.55%
FEIETT RN e
Central Huijin Interest of controlled corporation Long Position 252,747,252*% 30.55%

hRES b2l NI e HE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Note:

1.

Teamsun was interested in the entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Teamsun and was
therefore deemed to be interested in the 455,268,915 shares of the Company in which
Hong Kong Teamsun was interested.

Beijing Trust held 107,841,742 shares of the Company, being the trustee of a unit trust of
BOC - BJITIC Overseas Market Financing 016.

Triple Wise Asset Holdings Ltd. (“Triple Wise"”), a controlled corporation of CCBC, held the
convertible bonds of a principal amount of HK$250,000,000 issued by the Company on
21st March 2017 (the “Convertible Bonds”) at the adjusted conversion price of HK$0.91
per share. On 20th November 2019, Triple Wise exercised its conversion rights attaching
to the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000 at the adjusted
conversion price of HK$0.91 per share and 21,978,022 conversion shares were allotted
and issued to Triple Wise; subsequently, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds reduced to HK$230,000,000. CCBC, through Triple Wise, was interested
in 252,747,252 underlying shares to be derived from the Convertible Bonds and 21,978,022
shares of the Company.

Triple Wise was wholly owned by CCB International Overseas (Cayman) Limited (“CCB
Cayman”), a company wholly owned by CCB International (Holdings) Limited (“CCB
Holdings”). CCB Holdings was wholly owned by CCB Financial Holdings Limited (“CCB
Financial”), a company wholly owned by CCB International Group Holdings Limited (“CCB
Group”). CCB Group was wholly owned by CCBC, 57.11% of total ordinary shares issued of
which was owned by Central Huijin. Therefore, CCB Cayman, CCB Holdings, CCB Financial,
CCB Group, CCBC and Central Huijin are deemed to be interested in the 252,747,252
underlying shares and 21,978,022 shares of the Company in which Triple Wise was
interested.

Save as mentioned above, as at 31st December 2019, there was no other person (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or, which were recorded in the register of interest required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds are set out in the “Chief Executive Officer’s

Statement” on page 17 of the annual report and Note 35(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2019, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the Company, or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31st December
2019, except as noted below:

(@) with respect to Code provision A.6.7, two Non-Executive Directors were unable
to attend the 2019 AGM due to other commitments; and

(b) with respect to Code provision E.1.2, Mr. Li Wei, the former chairman of the
Board, was unable to attend the 2019 AGM due to other commitments.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31st December 2019.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31st December 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

As permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company, a director of the Company may be
indemnified out of the Company’s assets against any liability incurred by the director,
to the extent permitted by Bermuda law. Such permitted indemnity provision has been
in force during the year and is currently in force at the time of approval of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance during the year, which provides appropriate cover for certain legal actions
brought against its directors and officers.

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong
Kong (“Hong Kong Subsidiaries”), a director or a former director of the Hong Kong
Subsidiaries may be indemnified out of the Hong Kong Subsidiaries’ assets against any
liability incurred by the director to a person other than the Hong Kong Subsidiaries or
an associated company of the Hong Kong Subsidiaries, to the extent permitted by law.
Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force at the time of approval of this
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended 31st December
2019. During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed with the management
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group including the review of the
annual results and interim results, and discussed various auditing, financial reporting
and risk management and internal control system matters.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be tabled in the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as Auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Yueou
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25th March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

o Grant Thornton
5]

To the members of Automated Systems Holdings Limited
BERGEEERAT

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Automated Systems
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set
out on pages 90 to 214, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st December 2019, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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RIEN > BRMIEEZEFTRREEBNER -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BARERSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and customer relationships

arising from the acquisition of the Grid Dynamics Group

188 Grid Dynamics S BELWEE R EFFRZ 2 RENE

Refer to notes 4(b)(v) and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements — Goodwill and Customer Relationships

BT IR 40)V) K21 - BEREFFIEF

As at 31st December 2019, the Group had goodwill and
customer relationships of approximately HK$766,816,000 and
HK$100,824,000 respectively, which were arose from the acquisition
of Grid Dynamics International, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Grid
Dynamics Group”).

RZZB-—NF+ZRA=+—RH EREZBHERETFBRI BIAL
766,816,000 7T & 100,824,000 A7t + H Ty U Grid Dynamics
International, Inc & E & A 7] ([ Grid Dynamics 5@ ) E4 -

Goodwill and customer relationships have been allocated to the
cash generating units (“CGU") of Grid Dynamics Group under
the information technology services operating segment. The
management assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU with
reference to an independent valuation prepared by a firm of
external valuers and concluded that no impairment on goodwill and
customer relationships is required.

HENEFPBED D EEE AR BRBE L E 2 E T Grid Dynamics
SEReELBM([REELEM]) - £2EhH—[HIIMEbEER
ARAREZBUMGE  ERBEMAREELEMZ AIRESREL
RRBELEFBERLEFTEME -

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill and customer
relationships as a key audit matter due to the calculation of
recoverable amount involves significant estimate and judgement
about future market conditions, including the revenue growth rate
and discount rate applied in the calculation.
BPIEEEREFBRZREN R RS —ARRERZER - 1tIH
RETE AW E S Y REARRTR 2 EAMG RAE - REAER
BRI RIIRE o
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How the Key Audit Matter were addressed in our audit

BMNEROEEAREREE

Our audit procedures on impairment assessment of goodwill and
customer relationships included the following:

BAAE R EFPRARZBEMETHNEZEFEBATEE

e evaluated the independent external valuer’'s competence,
capabilities, objectivity and independence;

AHESNERIE L AT B 2 BeRE ~ BE ) - BB RIBSII

e assessed the appropriateness and reasonableness of the
methodology and the key assumptions adopted by the independent
external valuer in calculating the recoverable amount;

FHEINDIE L ERDEET E AT UL B & BERF IR AN 2 A R B R AR
BRI

e checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliance of the input
data used; and

RS ABBERIERATER - &

e checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of the
recoverable amount.
ZE R Bl A E 2 R -



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2019 annual report of the Company, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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BB E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

25th March 2020

Lam Yau Hing
Practising Certificate No.: P06622
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

%,-R n\/,%%

For the year ended 31st December 2019 HHE —ZE—NF+_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FHT
Revenue WA 7 2,828,773 2,344,457
Cost of goods sold SHEKA (917,883) (716,939)
Cost of services rendered RAULARTE 2 B AR (1,346,740) (1,134,891)
Other income HAbA 8 8,488 7,979
Other loss, net Hfth 3 &518 9 (6,771) (15,686)
Fair value gain on revaluation of BHREME L
investment properties A EEKE 20 1,800 1,700
Selling expenses HEEH (156,929) (114,083)
Administrative expenses THER (239,508) (217,307)
Finance income R N 10 172 259
Finance costs BATSR A 11 (23,734) (22,726)
Share of results of associates FEAGH & A RSER 22 (8,287) (5,428)
Profit before income tax R A8 Bt AT R 12 139,381 127,335
Income tax expense FriSBiF s 16 (39,073) (43,002)
Profit for the year FREF 100,308 84,333
Profit for the year attributable to: FREFEE
Equity holders of the Company RRARRAIHFE A 93,276 84,333
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R 7,032 =
100,308 84,333
HK cents HK cents
A il
Earnings per share attributable to ARARBREFEA
equity holders of the Company: EiEER2R 18
Basic BN 11.55 10.48
Diluted ji5 9.22 8.93

The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial —~ FASE 97 2H 214 B 2 Wik BA iR & 5 mEk 2T 0]
statements. IR ED S
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e EWE

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE T —NF+_A=+—HILtFE

2019 2018
—Z-hE —T)\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iF=3 FHET FHT
Profit for the year FRREF 100,308 84,333
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hip2mEE (HE)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently HEEHTERET B R Rk
to profit or loss: HIEH -
Revaluation surplus of land and buildings T RIEFE GBS 19 19,249 17,969
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation T RIEFE GBS
surplus of land and buildings EAEZIRERTE 36 (3,176) (2,965)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to RN ERED IR
profit or loss: BmA&H)EE
Exchange differences on translation of MERINETE 2 EREZR
overseas operations (4,087) (778)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) FE(hERE AR EM 2
of associates Wizt (E518) 22 193 (431)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAEZENEATE 112,487 98,128
Total comprehensive income for the year FREZEAKRZEAERE :
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RATRAFEEA 105,754 98,128
Non-controlling interests e 6,733 =
112,487 98,128

The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~— K5 97 25 214 B 2 M HiE AR A B HREK 2 A
statements. HIRED S ©

Automated Systems Holdings Limited & E) R 4t E AR A ] 91



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ,ﬁ‘lﬁlﬁ}ﬂi

—NWFE+ZA=+—H

As at 31st December 2019 7

2019 2018
—E-hE - N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FEx FAxT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B K& 19 321,595 304,495
Investment properties wEYZE 20 55,800 54,000
Intangible assets EmREE 21 107,243 118,053
Goodwill mE 21 766,816 771,173
Interests in associates /NG 22 19,625 27,662
Equity investment IRAER & 23 598 598
Finance lease receivables FEU B E T ERRIE 27 4,946 1,128
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTIS B E 36 16,341 5,384
1,292,964 1,282,493
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 25 267,938 178,595
Trade receivables FEWE S FE 26 344,219 315,007
Finance lease receivables el R E TR E T8 27 2,729 3,346
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAbFEWEIE - 12e RIERRIE 28 70,135 44,596
Contract assets BHEE 29 362,333 260,462
Tax recoverable ERdEpE 1,660 3,588
Restricted bank deposits ZRFIEITFER 30 556 762
Bank balances and cash RITERKIES 30 456,058 292,183
1,505,628 1,098,539
Total assets wmEE 2,798,592 2,381,032
Equity s
Share capital A& 31 82,731 80,522
Share premium f& 7 m (EER 395,830 377,146
Reserves B 926,711 755,209
Equity attributable to equity holders EATRAIFE AEGER
of the Company 1,405,272 1,212,877
Non-controlling interests RS 47,510 =
Total Equity R 1,452,782 1,212,877
The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~— B 97 £ 214 B Z WA iRE M5k 2 T A]

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

As at 31st December 2019 R=Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF - N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FET FAxT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings BE 35 - 257,425
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTS R BE 36 78,299 76,420
Lease liabilities HEaE 37 3,236 -
81,535 333,845
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade payables FERTE 55038 32 360,282 258,940
Other payables and accruals HAh RN FIE R EGHE R 33 184,612 139,415
Contingent consideration payable FERT S AR(E 6(d) - 69,565
Receipts in advance TEY s 34 176,533 132,017
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS R B (& 25,352 10,083
Borrowings BE 35 439,770 224,290
Financial liabilities at fair value BARBEBBIERYIERN
through profit or loss SRBE 39 75,017 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 37 2,709 =
1,264,275 834,310
Total liabilities wmes 1,345,810 1,168,155
Total equity and liabilities BEZRAE 2,798,592 2,381,032
Net current assets REEEFRE 241,353 264,229
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERS 1,534,317 1,546,722
WANG Weihang WANG Yueou
FHM TERB
Director Director
EFE 2

The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~— K% 97 25 214 B 2 M sHERK AR A M HREK 2 A
statements. HIRED S ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SORBREBE

For the year ended 31st December 2019 HHE —ZE—NF+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARARAEE AR
Share-
based
Special Property Convertible payment
reserve  revaluation bonds reserve Non-
Share Share (Note (i)) reserve  Translation reserve AR5 Retained controlling Total
capital pemum  FRIEE  MERER reseve  FJERER RER earnings Total interests equity

BA RiaER () E  ELRE Rl xXNRE REEN BE HIRED REER
HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
TEL TEn TR TEn TEn TEn THn THL TEn TEn THn

At 1st January 2018 R=Z-N\§-f-H 67,054 376,464 34,350 220,657 (1,851) 11,097 4,425 385,622 1,097,818 - 1,097,818
Comprehensive income: 2 :
Profit for the year FRER = - - - - - - 84,333 84,333 - 84,333
Other comprehensive 2K / (1) :

income/(loss):
Revaluation surplus of THRETERES

land and buildings = = = 17,969 = = - - 17,969 - 17,969

Deferred taxation arising i REFE[ERES

from revaluation surplus 4 ZEERE

of land and buildings - - = (2,965) = = - - (2,965) - (2,965)
Exchange differences o~ EEEIEB 2

translation of overseas EREE

operations - - - - (778) - - - (778) - (778)
Share of other 3 NG ]

comprehensive loss B (ME22)

of associates (Note 22) - - - - (431) - - - (431) - (431)

Total comprehensive ER2ENE/
income/(loss) for the year  (E18) 58 = = = 15,004 (1,209 = = 84,333 98,128 = 98,128

Transactions with owners: EEEAZR S :
Final dividend for the year  REEZ=ZT—+%

ended 315t December TZAZT-RILEE

2017 (Note 17) ZRERE (2 17) - = = = = = = (6,707) (6,707) - (6,707)
Issue of ordinary shares  {T{EBRERE T

upon exercise of share ERR(HE31)

options (Note 31) 54 682 - - - - (183) - 553 - 553
Issue of ordinary shareson ~ E{TALRR F&172

bonus issue (Note 31()  ZiBR (Fz£31()) 13,414 - - - - - - (13,414) - - -
Forfeiture of unclaimed ~ SRURER S

dividend - - - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Recognition of equity-settled FeRM R AR

share-based payment S3pdi53 - - - - - - 23,083 - 23,083 - 23,083

Lapse of share options BEZRERN
transferred to retained RRERE
earnings - - - - - - (37) 37 - - -

Total transactions with ~ EHEAAZRZHE
owners 13,468 682 - - - - 22,863 (20,082) 16,931 - 16,931

At 31st December 2018  R=Z-N\E
+-A=1-H 80,522 377,146 34,350 235,661 (3,060) 11,097 27,288 449873 1,212,877 - 1212877

The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ % 97 25 214 B Z M sHERK ARG B HRE 2 A
statements. ERER D
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GOREBDE

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

EAARAEEARE
Share-
based
Special Property Convertible payment
reserve  revaluation bonds reserve Non-
Share Share (Note (i) reserve  Translation reserve R4 Retained controlling Total
capital premium #AIGE NEER reserve  ATRRES RER earnings Total interests equity
Bx  RGEER (KR e Ejifh i i REEA BE  FERER it
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TH7 T THL T#7 AT THT THL TH7 FHT THT THL
At 1st January 2019 R=B-n&-A-A 80,522 377,146 34,350 235,661 (3,060) 11,097 27,288 449,873 1,212,871 - 1,212,877
Adjustment from adoption A S B HRESEE
of HKFRS 16 (Note 22) £ 1652 B8R (it 2(a) - - - - - - - (%9) (99) - (%9)
80,522 377,146 34,350 235,661 (3,060) 11,097 27,288 449,774 1212,778 - 1,212,778
Comprehensive income; 27 :
Profit for the year ERE - - - - - - - 93,276 93,276 7,032 100,308
Other comprehensive Rtb2EkE/
income/(loss): (%)
Revaluation surplus of THRETERRR
land and buildings - - - 19,249 - - - - 19,249 - 19,249
Deferred taxation arising~~~ T REFERRH
from revaluation surplus EEZERRE
of land and buildings - - - (3,176) - - - - (3,176) - (3,176)
Exchange differenceson ~~ BIBINER L
translation of overseas ERER
operations - - - - (3,788) - - - (3,788) (299) (4,087)
Share of other comprehensive FE(SBFEAREMZE
income of associates (Note 22)  izs (M 22) - - - - 193 - - - 193 - 193
Total comprehensive Er2ERE/
income/(loss) for the year  (§i18) 48 - - - 16,073 (3,595) - - 93,276 105,754 6,733 112,487
Transactions with owners: SBEFAZRS :
Issue of ordinary shares upon  {T{EEERRER T2
exercise of share options MR (F&E31)
(Note 31) 1| 133 - - - - (36) - 108 - 108
Recognition of equity-settled  FERLARR{D ALEE
share-based payment S3pdiiF3 - - - - - - 25,877 - 25,877 - 25,877
Lapse of share options BEZRERMN
transferred to retained KR
eamings - - - - - - (97) 97 - - -
Disposal of partial interests in /&R —FK BB
a subsidiary (Note 44) 1B (st ad) - - - - - - (3.8%5) 44,789 40,894 40,777 81,671
Conversion of convertible AT AR EZ 2Bk
bonds (Note 35(ii)) (BitzE 35(i) 2,198 18,551 - - - (888) - - 19,861 - 19,861
Total transactions with ~~ REEAZRAZHE
owners 2,209 18,684 - - - (888) 21,849 44,886 86,740 40,777 127,517
At31stDecember 2019  R=Z-h%
+=A=1-H 82,731 395,830 34,350 251,734 (6,655) 10,209 49,137 587,936 1,405,272 47,510 1,452,782
Note (i) The special reserve of Automated Systems Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its ~ F&E() - BBREGEEERAR ([AAF ) REHE AR (5
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) represents the difference between the nominal value BIAKE ) 2FRERER —NANEFARER
of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s shares B EMAETRBEER - BB ZHBARE R
issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of TGz EE - Bz BREmMETHARR ARG 2
the Company’s shares in 1997. HE - MEZEZZERE -
The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~— K% 97 25 214 B 2 M sHERK AR A M HREK 2 A
statements. HERE S ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv'_R IE@/)ILE%%

For the year ended 31st December 2019 HHE —ZE—NF+_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B FHET FHT
Operating activities REER
Cash generated from operations B ZHSIMA 41(a) 197,846 185,491
Tax paid BT
— Hong Kong profits tax - BANEH (2,026) (8,910)
— Overseas profits tax - BHNRIE (35,075) (19,939)
Tax refunded REFIE
— Overseas profits tax — BHNBIIE 1,084 24,905
Net cash from operating activities REEECBSWAFRE 161,829 181,547
Investing activities RETE
Cash outflow in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries ~ BEREWEME A G2 RE KL (70,624) (111,224)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BER&E (17,034) (16,390)
Additions to intangible assets EEEZIE (5,.372) (9,582)
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in el UNS B 2
an associate Fr{S3IE - 336
Proceeds from disposal of partial interests in HER—ENE QA0 s
a subsidiary Z TS RIE 44(a) 23,961 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WE RREHSHIA
plant and equipment 1 53
Interests received EIF R 8 1,901 785
Dividends received from an associate B AR Z BB 22 154 485
Cash outflow in respect of professional fees related to &R ZHEBR S
equity transactions #IR e (9,062) —
Net cash used in investing activities RETE2HEEIHER (76,075) (135,537)
Financing activities REEE
Repayment of bank borrowings BBRITIEE (33,750) (25,000)
Principal portion of lease payments HENFKAEE D (5.361) =
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares BT ERRANSHIE S 108 553
Proceed from issuance of financial liabilities BITRAABEEBER
at fair value through profit or loss FIRRM @ BB 2 FTiSUE 39 72,565 =
Proceed from disposal of partial interests in HER—ENE QA0 s
a subsidiary Z TS RIE 44(b) & (c) 57,710 =
Interests paid EAFE (12,070) (9,044)
Dividends paid BRRE - (6,707)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities BMETH2BEWA(XH)FE 79,202 (40,198)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRRSZEY2EMTFE 164,956 5,812
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of FHzReRREEEY
the year 292,183 286,771
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNREFE SR B 8 2 B (1,081) (400)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRZBERREEEY 30 456,058 292,183

The notes on pages 97 to 214 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~— #MR%E 97 25 214 B 2 M sHERK AR & M5k 2 T A
statements. ERER D
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE T —NF+_A=+—HILtFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Automated Systems Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). At 31st
December 2019, its immediate holding company is Teamsun Technology (HK)
Limited (“Hong Kong Teamsun”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Its
ultimate holding company is Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd. (“Teamsun”),
a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") and its
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC. The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are Canon’s
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda, and 15th Floor, Topsail
Plaza, 11 On Sum Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company and provides corporate
management services to its subsidiaries. The principal activities of its major
associates and subsidiaries are set out in Notes 22 and 48 respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of units of
Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) on 25th March 2020.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and include the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are summarised in Note 3. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.
The adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis except that the land and buildings, investment properties, equity
investment classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, contingent consideration payable and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are stated at fair values.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited & E) R 4t E AR A ]

—RER

BEHRREERRAR([ARR]) R ARELM
KRR —RKZHRRERAT - HROEEBES
RGFABR AT (T8 ]) £ e RZZE—NEF
TZA=+—8  HEEERARRNEBKL
ZEBREEX(EB)BRABN([EBEBX
B )+ EEAER A RURR R E AR FAFE ([
BRI RERGRY EBEFZSH Emzit
REBREKBEBROBERAR(TEBRK] o
RNAB 2 MR R B B 2 ik Al
/& Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM12, Bermuda X BB ¥ F0 BR 06 1157
ERES 154 ©

RARRBIREIER AR RIRE AR EERIE T
HNBAR  HEZHMERNBARZ EBHEE
ZEEED RIS RAKIEE22 & 48 °

BREEBP - EEMBRERTIAET (FBT)
27 - el BRAEEESS ([EFg )N
ToTFE=F - +RHAERE -

fm BLELSE

Aira B HREBEBEETHRELR ([FE
B HREER D R - SR BEMAREES
RS (R EFEAE ) BMEERERK
ERUBMELD  BEEER(FEGHE
A D FRBREEARZEFRE

Rz a M HRERRF A ERNEE A TR
BRERBEEANBRAAES MR (T EH
RADRERTE -

Rl ERa BB RRKAMRAEANSFBERR
BIRE3 W - BRAMAN  WERRCDE XK
FERIFAE 2R - AT RGBT BB
BREEN R AEBRSPBHRER T E (N
BN Tt -

KRB BIS IR TIRIRIE LA A MR - 3
REF  REWME DBRARARBEEBHEM
EEWEIIEZ EREEZBRIERE - UARE
B ENHAREBREAR BEEBERD
FREREERI) -

97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 HHE —ZE—NF+_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. RBEE )

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with REFE BBV BERELR 2RV ERKREK
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires FRETHERSER - ANERKEEERER
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s NEBE 2 ST BRI TEEAE o P R EHE
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or SAEFIE S MR M RAN S BEAZ R
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the B R AEET - HERMIFE 4 #E5R -

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

The impacts of the adoption of the new and amended HKFRSs are discussed BRG] RS AT BB M B S 2Rl 2 2 Bt
below: R
(a) New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for the (@) R=FE-hF-B—BHBZMEK
annual periods beginning on 1st January 2019: FEHBERZHITREIETER
MW ELER :
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following RAFE - ANEEHREA T BEEESH
new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to MAgEmERERLERBTR -1
the Group’s operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial F—A—HRBZHBFEFERAER 2 7RG
statements for the annual period beginning on 1st January 2019: TS IRR A B FTR] RASIERT N BB 53R
H2ER -
HKFRS 16 Leases EEPB®RE HE
RIS 1657
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative BEVBHRE AGEHEZ
Compensation R 955 TR ATE ORI
({B5TA)
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement BEGEER  FrEls - SERSEE
FE1958
CCHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint BFgEA REELRR
Ventures F 285k BEAE REER
CHEN)
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 BERMBHRE T —HFE
Cycle ERI(BETAR) ZT—+FEMZ
B HRE 2R
FEE
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments B (BB FSTRE 2 THEE
ERE
ZE®) -
2REE23%R
Other than as noted below, the adoption of these new and amended BR TRBIFTBIESN - BN ZFTE] REEIETTHE
HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and financial position BTSRRI AR R BANE R _EHAE X
of the Group for the current and prior periods have been prepared and RAMBZEE R R RN EEXNERT
presented. %o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a) New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for the

annual periods beginning on 1st January 2019: (Continued)

HKFRS16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 “Leases” replaced HKAS 17 “Leases” along with three
Interpretations (HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease”, HK(SIC)-Int 15 “Operating Leases-Incentives” and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease”). HKFRS 16 has been applied using the modified
retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting HKFRS
16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been
restated.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the Group has elected
to apply the definition of a lease from HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and has
not applied HKFRS 16 to arrangements that were previously not identified as
lease under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.

As a Lessee

The Group has elected not to include initial direct costs in the measurement
of the right-of-use asset for operating leases in existence at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, being 1st January 2019. At this date, the
Group has also elected to measure the right-of-use assets as if HKFRS 16
had been applied since the commencement date by using the incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the
date of initial application, the Group has relied on its historical assessment
as to whether leases were onerous immediately before the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16.

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with
a remaining lease term of less than 12 months and for leases of low-value
assets, the Group has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise
right-of-use assets but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line
basis over the remaining lease term.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
recognised under HKFRS 16 was 5.1%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a) New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for the
annual periods beginning on 1st January 2019: (Continued)

(a)

HKFRS16 “Leases” (Continued)
As a Lessee (Continued)

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at
31st December 2018 to the lease liabilities recognised at 1st January 2019:

2. RBEE )

R=Z—-NF—A—HBHABRZHK
FEMBERZHT REBITES
MBREER : (#)

BB A RAE 165 [HE) ()
fEREMA (18
RoB—\F+-A=+—B28EBO%
EeERN -2 -NF-A-AZHRAR
2RI -

HK$'000
FHT
Total operating lease commitments disclosed RZT—N\F+A=+—HEEZ

at 31st December 2018 EEMRAERR 22,020
Recognition exemptions: HRER -

— Leases with remaining lease term of less than 12 months - FFHEE AR 12@A 2 HE (16,171)
Operating leases liabilities before discounting RERRAI 2 X EERE 5,849
Discounting using incremental borrowing rate RZZ—-—NF—A—BHAEE

as at 1st January 2019 EER T 2B (284)
Operating lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS 16 RZZT—NF— A —BIRIEEBI RS 2R
at 1st January 2019 FI6RMERZLEHERE 5,565

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on the

TREMBEE BB SRS LERE 1657

Group's consolidated statement of financial position at 1st January 2019: HAKER -_Z-NF—A—BZERaUN®
RS RFTIERK 2 728

HK$'000
FHIT

Increase in right-of-use assets presented in property, m%E - BEREEBEYZ
plant and equipment R AR A AN 5,466
Increase in lease liabilities HE A FEEN 5,565
Decrease in retained earnings RERBAFD (99)

The adoption of HKFRS 16 also results in changes in accounting policy of
leases, details of which are as set out in Note 3(y).

100

Annual Report 2019 & #f

ERANE B & 2E BN 55 16 5% R A Ak 7R
S BERNE - FHBHENHE3Y) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs:

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
certain new and amended HKFRSs have been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’

and HKAS 8

T Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2021

3 Effective date not yet determined

4 Effective for business combination and asset acquisition for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after
1st January 2020

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted
in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period beginning after the
effective date of the pronouncement. The new and amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESEFHXR

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated TXEIRBNEFE M BRERERAZEEE5T
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently BUR - RE BRI - ZEBORETMB 25F
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. EERER -

(a) Basis of consolidation (a) ZRREE%E

102

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31st December each year.
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power over the entity, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity holders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation
of the profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the period between
non-controlling interests and the equity holders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Where
certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair
values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable. All dividends whether received out of
the investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss.

Business combination

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited & E) R 4t E AR A ]

3. TEEFHHE®

(a) GREEE ()

EAREEKRENMBAR ZZEHER - HEE
HEZBETIRATME 2 Z81E « ()l
REZAnBEAECMN REER A AAER
ZHE RWBLARZEE(BEEE)
KB BRI S 2 SERIRREE o i
ZHB AR ZETEENREMERRAA
BEE MM R REHEERENE
2 E Y P RER W R REt - RIZERTE
PE M2 e FER I i s BT 2 5N
HEMARREERHERBEEZTRA
REBMOBEEERERERERER
F) o MAREZEHE 2 AR AIHE A RRE
ZEMRE 2 AR BE  RIEFEHBRE
ERIFEIS [T A @NERARR®E
BRIFERZ AAEE  HUER) 115
ERNBERR RS EREZREZKA

RARRBIBMRRA - RHE R BIRE
VAR ZRBR 5B BB 18 T AR - HEDBRRH
EHEREFFALEAR ZIREBRI - K
AEEHAEARRIAREBEFTAELEZ
REZH - KATEREEREEZARZK
AN o

BB A B2 AR AR AR E e e YA
SEEALR o A KBTS S
BEERARANBEEH R o

(b) B

U BB T8 N B R X IRIBE AR - METS
Bt EERZRENAABENE  ARE
BERIEANEEMBREE - AAKERKIK
BHREE AEL 2 BEARAREE R
S 7y 2 B RE M B T R s U R
BHz AR BEEMGE - BEEEE X
FERNELRERRER -

RUE B - REBA G S REZ 735
BENBAEZABRIANAEZEARE
BT AVIZHER -

103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

(b) E£#&E6t ()

(b) Business combination (Continued)

104

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business combination
includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments being made against
goodwill or gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounting
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as a financial
liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value with
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before the
acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end
of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period,
or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)

(c) B NRES

(c) Interests in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but
not control or joint control, over its management, including participation in
the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for
sale. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss or consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate,
the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group'’s
interests in associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture
or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset in
accordance with HKFRS 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(d) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the
executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

(e) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (HKD or HK$), which is the Company’s functional currency and
the Group’s presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance costs. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement
of profit or loss on a net basis within other gains/(losses), net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(ifi) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which
has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(if) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss presented
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii

=

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
translation reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in the translation reserve in equity.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are stated at fair value. Property, plant and equipment,
other than land and buildings, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Land and buildings are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially
from that which would be determined using fair values at the reporting
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (f) W% - WERREE®

108

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and buildings is
credited to the property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same assets previously recognised
as an expense, in which case the increase is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged.
A decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation of an asset is dealt
with as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate cost or revalued amounts to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Land and buildings Over the remaining term of the lease or

50 years, whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 10% - 33/3%
Motor vehicles 20%

Computer and office equipment  162/3% — 50%
Right-of-use assets Shorter of lease term or useful life of

2 — 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in
other reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

(g) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields and is not occupied by
the Group, is classified as investment properties. Investment property is
measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment property.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)

(9) BEWE &)

(g) Investment properties (Continued)

After initial recognition at cost, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at each reporting date
by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted,
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or
discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property
because its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying
amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in
equity as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment. However, if a fair
value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the
date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as
the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment as
described below in Note 3(j).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill
capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of gain or loss on
disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

(i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (i) BELEE (BEBR)

110

Technical know-how and customer relationship

Technical know-how and customer relationships acquired in business
combination are recognised initially at fair value at the acquisition date.
After initial recognition, those have finite useful lives and are subsequently
carried at cost less amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation for
technical know-how and customer relationships is provided on the straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of 3 years and 15 years, respectively.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested for
impairment as described below in Note 3(j).

Research and development expenditure

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred. Costs that are directly attributable
to development activities are recognised as intangible assets provided they
meet the following recognition requirements:

(@) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product for
internal use or sale;

(b) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

() the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is demonstrated;

(d) the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits through
internal use or sale;

(e) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for
completion; and

(f) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be reliably
measured.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the direct costs incurred from the date when the intangible asset
first meets the recognition criteria. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Direct costs include employee
costs incurred on development activities along with an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible asset is
reported at cost less amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation
is calculated using straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 3
years.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)

() *kEMEEZRE

(j) Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:

e Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries;

e Other intangible assets;

e Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets);
e Interests in associates; and

e The Company’s investments in subsidiaries

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or those
not yet available for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested
for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions
less costs of disposal, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some
are tested at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to
individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to
those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of
the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill
has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill.
Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the
cash generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited & E) R 4t E AR A ]

AN EERETTRER :

o  YHBHIBARELNEE

o HEEE:

o WX BERRE(BREEREEE)
o  HpENEIER

o  ARARMBRARNKE

Tt A EMRAEDNR  BEMAFER
ERFHZE AR Az Et B E
B BAETEE  WARSEFET
BERR - FTAEEMEERAEABRBAT
B EREER e AN mEETRER -

EAEREESNAKRESER - il
SRAREB R B HER AR o ATl
OB RAABE(RRTSELRE LS
A BERBEZRSE - ReHEERE
B AEESEA R ERIHSHEEE
RH{EZ 74 MZIE B ER A 2 Rk 2 BT AT
BRI - st HERESREWBREZHR
B

SAHMERENS - A REEMELEZRSE
MARE ET BN M EEFEE 2R
TRA - AL ESRERIARIBEER SR
A BB ERR (AR SEEEN)ERE
Rt - #oEEERETRER - #8208
ERGELEME/GETAR - BESRE
B0 BEE TR AR R SR IS & OF 2 1 R 2
s - RRRAEEARRAIEER MM
BB RIEKFETARELEDE 2R
DELEM -

SEDERE RS EEFURER ZRER
BTt ABEZREE - BREERIED
SR EENEERI AR EER SR A
EREENATERE) SN - EAFSRERER
RUPlBZREEL B 2 Kb BEEMR

111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 HHE —ZE—NF+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEHH R w

(Continued)

() FEMEEZRER

(j) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

112

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. In
respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill are
not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed
only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

(k) Financial assets and liabilities

(i)  Financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

. debt instruments to be measured at amortised cost; and

o equity instrument to be measured subsequently at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For debt instruments, the classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and its contractual cash flows
characteristics. For investment in equity instrument, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)
k) eREEREE®
() ZEEE (&

(k) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flow represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.

The Group's financial assets are amortised cost comprise “trade
receivables”, “other receivables and deposits”, “finance lease

receivables”, “restricted bank deposits” and “bank balances and cash”
as set out in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as other income when the Group's right to receive dividend
payments is established. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

k) eREEREME®)
(i) Financial liabilities (i) ZFEE

(k) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

114

The Group’s financial liabilities include “trade payables”, “other
payables”, “contingent consideration payable”, “liability component of
convertible bonds”, “bank borrowings”, “lease liabilities” and “financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. They are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as trade payables, other
payables and accruals, contingent consideration payable, borrowings,
lease liabilities and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(“FVTPL").

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments. Financial
liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured at fair value,
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group
designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except
for derivatives which are not designated and effective as hedging
instruments and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are
carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss.

All interest related charges are recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 3(w)).

Accounting policies of lease liabilities/finance lease liabilities are set out
in Note 3(y).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Trade payables and other payables and accruals

They are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)

k) tRMEEREB @)

(i) Financial liabilities (Continued) (i) =FEEGE

(k) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Borrowings

They are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

They are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting date.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is classified as financial liability and
is subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at
the option of the holder, where the number of shares that would be
issued on conversion and the value of the consideration that would
be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain a liability component, a derivative
component and an equity component.

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both financial
liability and equity components are classified separately into respective
liability, derivative and equity components on initial recognition. On
initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible
debts. The difference between the proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the call option for conversion of the convertible bonds into
equity, is included in equity as convertible bonds reserve.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component will remain in
equity until conversion or redemption of the bond.

When the convertible bond is converted, the equity component of
convertible bond and the carrying value of the liability component at the
time of conversion are transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. If the bond is redeemed, the
convertible bonds reserve is released directly to retained earnings.
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k) eRMEERERB ()
(i) 2EBEEE

(k) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities (Continued)
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(iir)

Convertible preferred shares

Convertible preferred shares issued by a subsidiary of the Company
are designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL on initial recognition. The
conversion option allows the holder to convert the preferred shares into
ordinary shares and will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
subsidiary’s own equity instruments, and therefore it does not meet the
equity classification. At the end of each reporting period, subsequent to
initial recognition, the entire convertible preferred shares are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for changes in fair value arising from the subsidiary’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of the convertible preferred
shares designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL are charged to profit or
loss immediately.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, in individual contracts or separated
from hybrid financial instruments, are initially recognised at fair value
on the date the derivative contract is entered into and subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives that are not designated as hedging
instruments are accounted for as financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken
directly to profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)

() SRHEERSNEEZRE

(I) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
("ECL") associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
contract assets as recognised and measured under HKFRS 15.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 6(b) details how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, contract assets and finance lease receivables, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.

For all other financial assets, the Group adopted a “three-stage” model for
impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarised below:

e The receivables with low credit risk on initial recognition is classified in
“Stage 1" and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group;

e If asignificant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified,
the receivables is moved to “Stage 2" but is not yet deemed to be credit
impaired,;

e |f the receivables is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then
moved to “Stage 3".

Receivables in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that result from default events possible within the
next 12 months. Instruments in Stage 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based
on ECL on a lifetime basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

() Impairment of financial assets and contract assets () tRMEERENEEZRE®)

(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs B S B 1BRIGTE

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate EHREEEB I EReR T ABGFRT

of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. R A E BB 2 I I (i ET T -

When estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable EHETEREERER - NEEZREIEHE

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This BBRREAZHASE AN ESEE AR

includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based RHEH - ERRERAEE/ATLRE

on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and MEERATENEEEEENERRANT

including forward-looking information. IVEIERTIE AR ©

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: TEEAE E A B E A A T EAERT 2 ¢

e 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from o TEAEHEERIE : BEEHAR
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; BrEAAREEE CENSHME
and BER Rk

o lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all o ZHIRHAMEEEIE : HHIRABHEE
possible default events over the expected lives of the items to which the EEERN 2IEB EETFRAME Bl fE
ECL model applies. BEZENSHMES 2ES -

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance HAEEMERMIAMNS - NEERRZE

equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit BRERSR T _EAEREERSE Kk

risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in which case the BEREERTAZEERREZIE

loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. e REERT - BEREEZRBSENEHE

HEEER REAHE -

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables, contract assets, EWESTHIE - GHNEE - BEREHER
finance lease receivables and other financial assets measured at amortised B R B IR SR A G T E M S Rl & E R TR AR
cost are set out in Note 6(b). EE BRI 2 F D T5IE AT 6(b)
(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities (mENEEREHNEARE

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see ZNER B TE A RE R AR IR & RO PR EU FR G TR
Note 3(u)) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under Z REBATHERME (M 3(u) RRERE 4
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for BE - ABERB () EBRmtE
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 3(l) and are reclassified to HEE AR - WER BRI AERE
receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional BEEH D EEEIGRIE (RMEE3K) °

(see Note 3(k)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration AEERREENER - fHEEENEP
before the Group recognises the related revenue (see Note 3(u)). A contract AR ERER (LM 3W) - WAEER
liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to AR RE R A AN &2 B R AR A M e AT MR
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In B AENEETEERER - RIEERT -
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note HEEKRIET SRR (RWE3K) <&
3(k)). Contract liability is disclosed as receipts in advance in the consolidated DB EELEVBAR R R ERTERR T
statement of financial position. =
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)
(MENEEREHNERB W)

RERFPZE—ANME » TURZIFALH
BEIFARNABE— - REHEOME
THEAHZANEERANBETERE
BMEEZT -

(n) 78

() Inventories () 7&

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

(n) Inventories

(i)

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and goods pending for
customers’ acceptance and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory (Note 3(n)(i)), property, plant and
equipment (Note 3(f)) or intangible assets (Note 3(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in
a future reporting period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract;
generate or enhance resources that will be used to provide goods or
services in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct labour, direct materials,
allocations of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors). Other costs
of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property,
plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

(n) Inventories (Continued) (n) &%)

120

(i) Other contract costs (Continued)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognised to
the extent that the carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds
the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or services to which the asset
relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly to providing those goods or
services that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note 3(u).

(o) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 26 for further information about the Group’s accounting for
trade receivables and Note 3(|) for a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Share capital

(r)

(s)

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental cost directly attributable
to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as deduction, net
of tax, from the proceed.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
and other payables are classified as current liabilities unless payment is not
due within 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the
current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the places/
countries where the Group’s entities operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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(Continued)

(s) BNHAREREFREH (&)
(i) B

(s) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i) Deferred income tax

122

(ii)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the average tax
rates that are expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods in
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an estimation of (1)
when the existing temporary differences will reverse and (2) the amount
of future taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future taxable
profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of temporary differences; and

- reversals of existing temporary differences
Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Provisions, contingent liabilities and financial
guarantee contract

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A
provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.

Financial guarantee contract

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer (or
guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee is initially recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received or receivable for the
issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

Subsequently, financial guarantees are measured at the higher of the
amount determined in accordance with ECL under HKFRS 9 as set out
in Note 3(I) and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee
period.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

(u) Wz

(u) Revenue recognition

124

Revenue arises mainly from the sales of IT products and contracts for the IT
services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step
process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the
various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected
on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the
Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods
or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains
a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. TEEFHHE®

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies

are as follows:

(i)

(i)

Sales of goods and rendering of services

Revenue from the sale of goods for a fixed fee is recognised when (or
as) the Group transfers control of the assets to the customer.

For stand-alone sales of goods that are neither customised by the
Group nor subject to significant integration services, control transfers at
the point in time when the customer takes undisputed delivery of the
goods.

When such items are either customised or sold together with significant
integration services, the goods and services represent a single combined
performance obligation over which control is considered to transfer
over time. This is because the combined product is unique to each
customer (has no alternative use) and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for the work completed to date. Revenue for these
performance obligations is recognised over time as the customisation
or integration work is performed, using the cost-to-cost method to
estimate progress towards completion. As costs are generally incurred
uniformly as the work progresses and are considered to be proportionate
to the entity’s performance, the cost-to-cost method provides a faithful
depiction of the transfer of goods and services to the customer.

Installation service

For sales of goods together with installation service, where the
installation is simple and does not include an integration service and
could be performed by another party, such installation is accounted
for as a separate performance obligation. In this case, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on the
stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly observable,
they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin. For sales of
goods, control transfers at the point in time when the customer takes
undisputed delivery of the goods. Where the installation is complex
and goods or services are highly interdependent or interrelated (i.e. the
sales of goods are significantly affected by the successful installation
services in the contract), the installation and goods or services are not
separately identifiable and revenue is recognised upon completion of
the installation.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEFTHEw

(Continued)

(u) WEHTER (#)

(u) Revenue recognition (Continued)

126

(iii) Maintenance service

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts with its
customers. Customers are required to pay in advance and the relevant
payment due dates are specified in each contract. Revenue is recognised
over time based on the maintenance service period.

(iv) Rental income

Rental income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.

(v) Finance income

Finance income implicit in finance lease is recognised as interest income
over the period of the lease so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of return of the outstanding net investment in the leases
for each accounting period.

(vi) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(v) Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and other defined contribution retirement benefit plans for all
qualifying employees. The MPF Scheme is established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme and other defined contribution retirement benefit plans are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group’s contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme and other defined contribution retirement benefit
plans.

In addition, the Group offers a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under section 401(k) of the Inland Revenue Code of the United States of
America for substantially all of its US based employees who are eligible
to participate in. The scheme is a qualified profit-sharing plan that allows
employees to contribute a portion of their wages to individual accounts up
to 60% of their eligible compensation, subject to the maximum allowed by
Internal Revenue Service. The Group is not required to make contributions
to the plan but can make discretionary contributions.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. TEEFHHE®

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Other
borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are complete.

Share-based payment

The fair value of services received were determined by reference to the fair
value of shares and share options granted at the grant date and expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period or recognised as an expense
in full at the grant date when the shares and share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payment
reserve).

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
shares and share options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of
the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to share-based payment reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium.
After vesting date, when the shares or share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry dates, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to
retained earnings.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Leases

0]

128

The Group as a lessee
Policy applicable from 1st January 2019
Definition of lease

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1st January 2019, the
Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to
use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in
exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract meets
three key evaluations which are whether:

e the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly
identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at
the time the asset is made available to the Group;

e the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of
use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract;
and

e the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use.

The Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For leases of office premises, staff quarter and computer equipment in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate non-
lease components and will instead account for the lease and non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial position.
The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the
initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred
by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any lease incentives
received).

While the Group’s land and buildings presented in property, plant and
equipment are carried at revaluation model, the Group has elected not
to apply revaluation model to right-of-use office premises held by the
Group.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTHRw

(Continued)
(y) Leases (Continued) (y) HE@®)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued) () FEEFEAEBA (FB)

Policy applicable from 1st January 2019 (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease term. The
Group also assesses the right-of-use assets for impairment when such
indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available
or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are
made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments based on an
index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee. The lease payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payment of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for lease
payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease liability. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in
the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use
asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and
lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEHH R w

(Continued)

(y) Leases (Continued) (y) HE @@
(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued) () FEEEZEFA (E)

Policy applicable from 1st January 2019 (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use assets
have been included in property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities
have been presented separately.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Policy applicable before 1st January 2019

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the
legal form of a lease.

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the
Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases, with the following exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet
the definition of an investment property is classified as investment
property on a property-by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, is accounted for as if held under a finance
lease; and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value of a
building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance lease, unless the building is also
clearly held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. TEEFHHE®

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Leases (Continued)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable before 1st January 2019 (Continued)
Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease term except where the
property is classified as an investment property.

(i) The Group as a lessor
Assets leased out under finance leases as the lessor

When assets are leased out under finance leases, the risks and rewards
of ownership are transferred out to customers. When assets are leased
out under finance leases, the present value of the lease payments is
recognised as a receivable.

(z) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the Group’s and Company’s financial statements in the year
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders or
directors, where appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEHH R w

(Continued)

(aa)Related parties (aa) BFAEA L
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party is HRZEREMBHRERMNE - — A ERA
considered to be related to the Group if: RSB G REER - -
(a) the party is a person, or a close member of that person’s family, is (@) BB A —RAL BlIZALSGZAL
related to the Group if that person: TR BERE
(1) has control or joint control over the Group; (1) %9755 B 4 78 4% I 4 sk L R 45 )
E

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or (2) HAEEREERTE ; 3t

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the (3) AAEESAEEMIEBRRZEE
Group’s parent. EEREKE °

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions applies: (b) BEH AEBIFE THIEA G - Bl
EARE @G

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which (1) %Z;?‘E}%EEZKEIEI—J SBZKE
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related NG SN =YNSI DS E )
to the others); BRRRILEAEE)

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or (2) —HERBRS BEBREIBERFHK
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the BELE (RS- BERMBEREET
other entity is a member); KERRIZEHE RRISAERE)

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; (3) MEEBBHARRA-—ZF=A2&8&01

E

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is 4 —HEBRE=-TERBZEED

an associate of the third entity; ¥ ME—BBRARE=7EEZ
/N

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of (5) BERAASENEASEEHEZ
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group; EEETh(E B M5 i i 2 BB AR AT

£

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (6) EEBX (a)THFTIL A THEHI Sk L RIE
(a); il

(7) A person identified in (a)(1) has significant influence over the entity (7) R@MIEfATHERBEEAY
or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or L AER(KERBZIRAR) ZE
of a parent of the entity); or ZEBERE ¢ 5

(8) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides (8) ZERIHEHMBEEE ZERMKER
key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the GlEE e E ok A S YN
parent of the reporting entity. RIEFZEBABRE -

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who %/\iZLﬁT&TE 1IZ BB SRTEMA
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their BINTHZZATHEZRERKE -

dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. E XK=t {h5t & H i

JUDGEMENTS

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following accounting judgements:

(i) Provision for impairment of trade receivables within the scope of ECL
under HKFRS 9

The provisioning policy for trade receivables of the Group is based
on the evaluation of the risk of default and the expected loss rate.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, which include the current
creditworthiness, the past collection history, the realisation of any
repayment pattern promised as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Details of which are as set out in Note
6(b). As at 31st December 2019, the aggregate carrying amounts of
trade receivables amounted to HK$344,219,000 (net of loss allowance
of HK$2,158,000) (2018: HK$315,007,000 (net of loss allowance of
HK$9,417,000)).

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
year in which such determination is made.

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Revenue recognition

According to the accounting policy as stated in Note 3(u), the Group
uses the cost-to-cost method to estimate progress towards completion
for revenue recognised over time from sales of goods and services (other
than installation service and maintenance services). The progress is
measured by reference to the actual costs incurred up to the reporting
date as a percentage of total estimated costs of completion. When
the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it will be
probably recoverable.

(a) B A EEE T RRBNERSF
F
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B AR R & T8 B R 18 R 2 fh A i
TE o iHE R SRR Z LB H B

AR REXE - BFEARNZES -
BAEBREE AR AZERER
ZHRBURREREHRZATE MG
5T c BREAFBIIENIE6D) c R=F
—hE+=—A=+—8"  BREBSK
18 27 48 85 T {8 4 344,219,000 7% 7T (40
MR E B #52,158,000/8 7T ) (ZF— A
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

134

(ii)

(i)

Valuation of investment properties, land and buildings

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for
similar leases and other contracts. In the absence of such information,
the Group determines the amount within a range of reasonable fair
values estimated. In making its estimates, the Group considers the
information from the valuations of investment properties and land and
buildings performed by external professional valuers by using the market
comparison approach. The market comparison approach is referenced
to recent sale price of comparable properties on a price per square foot
basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to the quality and
floor of the Group’s buildings compared to the recent sales.

Had the Group used different valuation techniques, the fair value of the
investment properties and land and buildings would be different and
thus may have an impact to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At 31st December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s land
and buildings and investment properties carried at revalued amount/
fair value were HK$290,100,000 (2018: HK$280,700,000) and
HK$55,800,000 (2018: HK$54,000,000) respectively.

Estimated impairment of interests in associates

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The value in use was determined based on the estimated present value
of the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by i-Sprint
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“i-Sprint Group”), including cash
flows from the operations of i-Sprint Group and estimated terminal
value. Based on the assessment, the recoverable amount of i-Sprint
Group is higher than its carrying amount. Hence, no impairment loss
(2018: impairment loss of HK$11,900,000) on the interests in i-Sprint
Group was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the year ended 31st December 2019.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. E X =5 hst R ¥
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv) Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

v)

(vi)

The Company has approved and adopted the subsidiary share option
scheme on 21st December 2018 and share options were granted to
the subsidiary’s management, employees and other parties during the
years ended 31st December 2018 and 2019. The directors, with the
assistance of an independent professional valuer, have used the Binomial
Option Pricing Model to determine the total fair value of the options
granted, which is to be expensed over the vesting period as appropriate.
Significant estimate on assumptions, such as share price volatility and
dividend vyield, is required to be made by the directors in applying the
Binomial Option Pricing Model. Details of share-based compensation
expenses are set out in Note 38.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group determined whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis, while for the acquired intangible assets, technical know-
how and customer relationship, with finite useful lives, they are tested
for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying
amount may not be recoverable. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and the acquired
intangible assets are allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value of those cash flows. Details of goodwill and intangibles
assets are set out in Note 21.

Valuation of financial liabilities at FVTPL

The fair value of financial liabilities that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the respective fair value of these financial liabilities. Details of
financial liabilities at FVTPL and fair value measurement are set out in
Notes 39 and 6(d), respectively.
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5.

136

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As part of
this review, the directors of the Company prepare the annual budget taking into
account of the provision of funding. Based on the proposed annual budget, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management of the
Group, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues, bank borrowings and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt, if necessary.

As at 31st December 2019, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio was 31.3% (2018:
39.7%), which was calculated as follows:

5. EAERERE

AEEEEHEEAT AR AEE 2 EREES
FELE  TRBELEBIERTE 25
ARBERZ B

REB 2 BREBBEREREARGEERRRZ
Rz WAHEBHTRAE - FEERREBIIEK
ZERARG AR EBRARKE -

ARABEEEH R EEARERE - FRies]Hh
—R ARAEFEBRLESEBTREFER
B RIEMRERZFERE  ARAEEEFE
KRR R R EE AR R 2 BB - ARIEA K
BEEZER  AREBEBXRE - BITH
Befn ~ RITEERBERRD REATER ST
EREREREER - N FEEBELREE -

R-B-NAE+-A=+—08  KEBEEH
YIRS R 5 31.3% (ZF— )\ : 39.7%) -
TN Rt

2019 2018

—Z-hEF —ZT-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Borrowings BE 439,770 481,715
Equity attributable to equity holders KRR RIRAFEE NGRS

of the Company 1,405,272 1,212,877

Debt-to-equity ratio BETG AR R 31.3% 39.7%

There are no changes on the Group’s approach to capital risk management
during the year.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a) Market risk

0]

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in HKD and United
States dollars (“USD"). Foreign exchange exposure to USD of the Group
will continue to be minimal as long as the policy of the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to peg the HKD to the
USD remains in effect. There was no material exposure to fluctuations in
exchange rates, and therefore no related hedging financial instrument
was applied during the years ended 31st December 2019 and 2018.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation in relations to variable interest rate on bank balances and
bank borrowings. The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments including bank
balances and bank borrowings, at the reporting date and the stipulated
change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held
constant throughout the reporting period in the case of instruments that
have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31st
December 2019 would decrease/increase by approximately HK$592,000
(2018: HK$443,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure
to interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BIiEREE R A AEBEG
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) B

(b) Credit risk (b) EERBS

138

Credit risk arises from bank balances and cash, restricted bank deposits,
contract assets, other receivables and deposits and finance lease receivables,
as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions.

Credit risk was managed on a group basis. The Group’s policy is to deal
only with credit worthy counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment by the credit control
department. When considered appropriate, customers may be requested to
provide proof as to their financial position. Where available at reasonable
cost, external credit ratings and/or reports on customers are obtained and
used. Customers who are not considered creditworthy are required to
pay in advance or on delivery of goods. Payment record of customers is
closely monitored. It is not the Group’s policy to request collateral from its
customers.

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

e internal credit rating;
e external credit rating;

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to
the debtors’ ability to meet its obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the
debtors;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the
same debtors;

e significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of
the debtors, including changes in the payment status of debtors and
changes in the operating results of the debtors.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BiiEREE R A AEBEG
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) B

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) SERBR (&)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract
assets using a provisional matrix.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that receivables with credit
terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit history and
management performs ongoing credit evaluations of the counterparties.
The credit period granted to the customers and the credit quality of these
customers are assessed, which takes into account their financial position,
past experience and available forward-looking information. Management
considers that the loss allowance inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade
receivables within one year and contract assets are not significant while loss
allowance was made in full on the Group’s outstanding trade receivables
over one year.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates
for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

ECL loss rates are based on past actual loss experience. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected, current conditions
and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

140

(c)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group applies the simplified approach to recognise lifetime ECL for
finance lease receivables that results from transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 16, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

For other receivables and deposits, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience and
available forward-looking information. Management believes that the credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other receivable balance is not
significant. Besides, management is of opinion that there is no significant
increase in credit risk on these other receivables and deposits since initial
recognition as the risk of default is low after considering the factors above.

While restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the Group only places deposits
in reputable banks and financial institutions, the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board,
which has built a liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves and banking facilities by continuously monitoring forecast
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and financial liabilities. The Group relies on its operating cash flows as a
significant source of liquidity.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. ,ﬁaﬂllﬁ‘“ﬁ&/‘ REER

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) Ew

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) FBMERPE (&
The table below shows the Group’s financial liabilities analysing into relevant TRAMAEBERBRBEZEHEHA 26
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to THEEERAIBAEARNZE S 2 eBEE - &
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the PR SEDERIBE SRR
contractual undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities. SRE ©

On demand Over 1 year
or within  but within

1 year 5 years Carrying
BIRER BBE—fF Total amount
R—FR EREFR st SREE

HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FHET FHET

At 31st December 2019 R=Z—-h&+=-HA=+—H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ITETESREE
Trade payables FER & 558 360,282 - 360,282 360,282
Other payables and accruals Hth e FRIE R BT E R 184,612 - 184,612 184,612
Borrowings BE
— Bank borrowings (Note (i) - SRITIEE (M) 191,113 - 191,113 191,113
— Convertible bonds - AR ES 251,327 - 251,327 248,657
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,952 3,434 6,386 5,945
990,286 3,434 993,720 990,609
Financial liabilities at fair value BARBEBRERYIRA
through profit or loss TREE 75,017 - 75,017 75,017
1,065,303 3,434 1,068,737 1,065,626
At 31st December 2018 RZZE—-N\F+=A=+—H
Non-derivative financial liabilities PTETESMEE
Trade payables FERTE 5508 258,940 - 258,940 258,940
Other payables and accruals H P FIE R BT B R 139,415 - 139,415 139,415
Borrowings BE
— Bank borrowings (Note (i)) - $RITEE (FIFE ) 224,290 = 224,290 224,290
— Convertible bonds - AR ES - 273,182 273,182 257,425
Contingent consideration payable FERTSRARE
(Note (ii)) CBRFEE (i) 70,483 - 70,483 69,565

693,128 273,182 966,310 949,635
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

142

Notes:

@

(ii)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st
December 2019, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of such bank
borrowings amounted to HK$191,113,000 (2018: HK$224,290,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such
bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the banking facilities.

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank borrowings with
repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out
in the bank facilities. The amounts include interest payment computed using

MBEREERQAEER

B (&)

(c) mBMRER®
Mz :

(i)

B 75 12 B2 SR IR (4R 0 SR 1T 18 SR AE _E 3k B HR
BAMTET A [BEIRERKRR —F A | HEE
BN - RZZE—NFE+-A=1+—H %=
BITERMARMIBAELLEEA 191,113,000 %
JC (== — )\ : 224,290,00077T) > & EE|
REENHBERR - ARAREBHRERITR
Al EETTHEEIEEE KB E - NARIES
s ZSRTERBBERITREZEE
A FTETEE A HIE R -

T ER AL P T R SRR RO SRTT iR AR
TRIRTT R AT 15 E MR SRR OB H 15
RAMW - ZESERBERAA O KRFEN

contractual rates. FEREK °
On demand Over 1year Over 2 years
or within but within but within
1year 2 years 5 years
BRERS BB—F BiBRmF Total
R—FR ERMER BREFER £y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET FHET FTHET FET
At 31st December 2019 R-ZB-AF+=A=t+—H
Bank borrowings RITEE 53,836 51,485 107,341 212,662
At 31st December 2018 RZF-N\F+=-—A=+—H
Bank borrowings RITEE 132,676 100,663 - 233,339

Depending on the financial performance of Grid Dynamics International, Inc.
and its subsidiaries (the “Grid Dynamics Group”), the contingent consideration
payable for the acquisition of Grid Dynamics Group in 2017 may range from nil
to USD18,000,000. As at 31st December 2018, contingent consideration payable
of approximately USD8,883,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$69,565,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
Group expect to settle the contingent consideration payable as specified in the
corresponding sales and purchase agreement within one year. During the year
ended 31st December 2019, the contingent consideration payable was fully
settled.

(d) Fair value measurement

Financial instruments and non-financial assets measured at fair value

in the consolidated statement of financial position are categorised into
the three level fair value hierarchies as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair Value

Measurement”:

Level 1: Fair value measured only using level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement dates.
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R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BiiEREE R A AEBEG

=L .
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) =@
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) 2REEFE®)
o Level 2: Fair value measured using level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs e BIE:UF_EWABBTECARE
which fail to meet with Level 1, and not using unobservable inputs. B BNEEABEIBR S RAE—
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available. BB AE  BEHABLTERTAE

RZEE - TABEZBAERTED
BEEAE2EZHAE

e Level 3: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs. o EFE=[E: FRATAHBIRHBEEEGHA
BUFTEZ AR EE -

(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities () ZHEERTHEES ATIEE

At 31st December 2019
R=B-hF+=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 E £=E st

HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET TR FHET TR

Recurring fair value measurement && M A R EEE

Financial asset at FVOCI RARBEEBHMER
W SRS mEE
Equity investment (Note 23) AL & (Md7E23) - 598 - 598

Financial liability at fair value RAAEBEEBERIIERN

through profit or loss SRIBE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAREEBBIERYIER
(Note 39) #em A E (e 39) - - 75,017 75,017

At 31st December 2018
RZZE—N\F+=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—E E_E E=E 1RET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THIT THIL THIT

Recurring fair value measurement &% M A R EEE

Financial asset at FVOCI RAREEEBEMEH
WHFIENSRMEE
Equity investment (Note 23) ARHER & (Pifat23) = 598 = 598

Financial liability at fair value RAAEEZEBBERIIERN

through profit or loss SRIBE

Contingent consideration payable FEftEAK(E - - 69,565 69,565
The fair value of equity investment is determined by using the adjusted KR E 2 AR BERNAEEREFE
net assets value method. The effects of unobservable inputs are not VAEETE o MR BRE AR L RIEIRE
significant for equity investment. WRERNZE -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BIiEREE R A AEBEG

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) =)
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) 2REEFE®)
(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued) () ZHEEREHEEZ AL BEE
As at 31st December 2019, the valuation technique and significant RZZE—-—NAF+ZA=+—H &2
unobservable inputs of the fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL (2018: nEEEABRIENEREBE(ZS
contingent consideration payable) are as follows: —N\F : BRNRARE) AR BEMNG
BEAFARBENABRREABENOT :
Significant Sensitivity relationship
Valuation technique unobservable inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value
fEEAR ERTAHREREABIE FABREARBEA A EEZSRERER

As at 31st December 2019
R-ZB—-hE+=-A=+—H

Option pricing model and Probability of the occurrence of The higher of the probability, the higher
equity allocation model each trigger event of the fair value, and vice versa
HAE T B AR T MARAE 5 Bt AL A S R e H= O S BEHS  AREEHR  RZITA
Volatility of underlying share The higher of the volatility, the higher of
AR AR ED the fair value, and vice versa

KBRS AREEES  RZTA

As at 31st December 2018
R-TB—NFE+=HA=+—H

Probability-weighted payout Probability of achieving the projected The higher of the probability, the higher of
approach revenue and profit before tax of the fair value, and vice versa
BRI A Grid Dynamics Group for the year MRS AnEBEER  RZTA

ended 31st March 2019

REBEE_ZT—NF=A=+—HILFE
# % Grid Dynamics £ BB ULA K
KR PSR A A1 AT =

Discount rate The higher of the discount rate, the lower of
ARIR = the fair value, and vice versa

HHEEYR  AREEYE  RZTA
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BiiEREE R A AEBEG
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) B

(d) 2AREEE®
() eHEEREHEEZALEEE)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

The reconciliation of the carrying amount of the Group’s contingent RARBEERE=ZENSENAREE
consideration payable and financial liabilities at FVTPL classified within ERNSKAREREARBEERIBERT
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is as follows: e A ERMEHKROT -
Contingent Financial
consideration liabilities
payable at FVTPL Total
RAAEEEB
BETIRN
EARARE cHEE oy
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT FExT
At 1st January 2018 R=ZZT—N\F—HA—H 136,691 = 136,691
Payment of contingent XA RKE
consideration (70,623) - (70,623)
Fair value change recognised R85 ERMA A EEE
in profit or loss 3,093 - 3,093
Exchange difference EHER 404 - 404
At 31st December 2018 R=-ZE—N\F+-A=+—HK
and 1st January 2019 —E-NF—-HA—H 69,565 - 69,565
Issuance of financial liabilities #1TiZ A7 BEE BB
at FVTPL JIRMERIEE - 72,565 72,565
Payment of contingent XA ARE
consideration (70,624) - (70,624)
Fair value change recognised A8z HERI AR BEEE)
in profit or loss 921 1,861 2,782
Exchange difference EHRER 138 591 729
At 31st December 2019 R=ZF—-hF+=A=+—H - 75,017 75,017

During the year ended 31st December 2019, there were no transfers

between Level 1, 2 and 3 (2018: Nil).

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of other financial
assets and financial liabilities in the consolidated financial statements

approximate their fair values.

RBE-Z-NF+-_A=+—HILF
B B F_EBRFE=ZEzHELE
BRE(CTZ-N\F: &) -

EERRNEAPHIRARA - Efttd
BEENERABZEAEBEAUARE
18 o
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BIiEREE R A AEBEG

=
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) =®)
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) 2REEFE®)
(if) Fair value of non-financial assets (i) HEBEELTIEE
The following table presents the Group’s properties measured at fair TREJNAEEIREEEEEURRE
value on a recurring basis categorised into the three level fair value B E2ME  BERAAEBEN=E
hierarchies: X

At 31st December 2019
R-2-nF+=A=t+-8

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E EE 5= et

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FHET

Recurring fair value measurement EE M A A EETE
Investment properties (Note 20) ‘AW (HizE20) -
Land and buildings (Note 19) T RAEF (FfEE19) -

55,800 55,800
290,100 290,100

- - 345,900 345,900

At 31st December 2018
RZZE-—NF+=-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E F_E F=E et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET T FHET

Recurring fair value measurement ~ &HE M AR EEF =
Investment properties (Note 20) &2 (FifaE20) - - 54,000 54,000
Land and buildings (Note 19) + b R AEF (MEEE19) - - 280,700 280,700

= = 334,700 334,700

The Group’s investment properties and land and buildings were stated at RNEE 2 IREYHE R RIEFTER
valuations made at 31st December 2019 and 2018 by an independent —E-hARZZE-)N\F+A=+—H
professional valuer at market value basis which is determined by B EXMHEM2E TS EREYE
reference to market evidence of recent transactions for similar IR 52 BRME - RRABYERER
properties. SEEEEITEMESIR -

The Group’s management reviews the valuation performed by the AEEEREEHHE L HEMETZ
independent valuer for the financial reporting purposes. Discussion of HEAEM B RRAR o MERE 2
valuation processes and results are held at least once every year, which R ARRONEFET IR BEE
is in line with the Group’s annual reporting date. B2 FERRA -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BiiEREE R A AEBEG

=L .
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) =)
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) 2REEFE®)
(i) Fair value of non-financial assets (Continued) (i) FF2HEENEE(E)
The valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs of the fair TEMER T REF AR BENGE
value of investment properties and land and buildings are as follows: FAREETATEREAZURNAT
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
HEAR T EERARE HiBEE
Investment properties ~ Market comparison approach Discount on quality of the buildings 0% to 16%
— Hong Kong
REMZE MZ LB BFEETE 0% % 16%
- &8
Land and buildings Market comparison approach Discount on quality of the buildings 0% to 16%
— Hong Kong
T REF B LLECE EFESME 0% ZE16%
-&8
The fair value of investment properties and land and buildings located URBERBZBREMER T RIEFZA
in Hong Kong is determined using market comparison approach by REEDEATSLEEZ2ENRAE
reference to recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per B Pt BR M T T 77 R 2 SHEBE M
square foot basis, adjusted for a discount specific to the quality and BE  WIRASEYEESELRAE -
floor of the Group’s buildings compared to the recent sales. Higher MEEENRITE  IEEREND
discount on quality of the buildings will result in a lower fair value EERE -
measurement.
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group’s investment RAABEEBRAE=ZERNSENAEE
properties and land and buildings classified within level 3 of the fair KREMER T RIEFREES KRN
value hierarchy is as follows: N
Investment Land and
properties buildings Total
REWHE T REF Ehy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
At 1st January 2018 RZZE—NF—H—H 52,300 271,950 324,250
Depreciation e = (9,219) (9,219)
Fair value gain AR EEKE 1,700 = 1,700
Revaluation surplus Efh A = 17,969 17,969
At 31st December 2018 R=Z—N\F+=H=+—H
and 1st January 2019 R=F-nF—-HA—H 54,000 280,700 334,700
Depreciation e - (9,849) (9,849)
Fair value gain N EEKE 1,800 - 1,800
Revaluation surplus EhAH - 19,249 19,249
At 31st December 2019 R=-Z—NF+=H=+—H 55,800 290,100 345,900
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6.

7.

148

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(if)  Fair value of non-financial assets (Continued)

Fair value gain of investment properties is recognised under line item “fair
value gain on revaluation of investment properties” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Revaluation surplus of land and buildings are recognised under line
item “revaluation surplus of land and buildings” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, there were no transfers
between Level 1, 2 and 3 (2018: Nil).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

6. ¥BEMEER X AEER

==N¢:))
d) 2AEEFTE@
(i) HEHBEELTIEME(E)
WEMEN DR BEKSNGRABER
T TEBREDEZ AL BERE]
TE B PR o

T RET 2 B BRI

axmfa
REW[ LW RETER R

ERH

7. WA RZEBER

The Group's revenue is analysed as follows: AEBRRADTAT :
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Sales of goods HEEM 1,026,082 818,641
Revenue from service contracts R E RIS E 492 A 1,802,691 1,525,816
2,828,773 2,344,457

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating decision
maker. The executive directors have review the Group’s internal reporting in order
to assess the performance and allocate resources. The executive directors have
determined the operating segments based on the Group’s internal reporting.

The Group is currently organised into two (2018: two) operating divisions —
Information Technology Products (“IT Products”) and Information Technology
Services (“IT Services”). These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports
its primary segment information to the chief operating decision maker. The
business nature of each segment is disclosed as follows:

IT Products

Being the business of information technology in supplying of information
technology and associated products.

IT Services

Being the business of information technology in providing systems integration,
software and consulting services, engineering support for products and solutions
and managed services.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WA R D EER @)

(Continued)
Segment information about these businesses is presented below: REEB 2 DEERZTIT ¢
Year ended 31st December 2019 BE—Z-NAF+-A=+—HLEE
IT Products IT Services Total
ERNBRER BB R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET FHER
Revenue from external customers REINBEFE ZWA 1,026,082 1,802,691 2,828,773
Intersegment revenue 2 EBEURA 6,530 23,857 30,387
Segment revenue D EUA 1,032,612 1,826,548 2,859,160
Reportable segment profit AJ3RE 5 2B A 70,194 338,745 408,939
Reportable segment assets AIREDBEE 376,863 1,546,696 1,923,559
Reportable segment liabilities AHREDHBEE 386,229 328,911 715,140
Segment depreciation DEIE 2,463 17,894 20,357
Segment amortisation panzi: £ - 15,623 15,623
Additions to property, NBYE
plant and equipment * RS R B4 3 15,129 15,132
Additions to intangible assets RNEEFAE - 5,372 5,372
b Additions to property, plant and equipment of HK$7,644,000 were related to * BRERARDEEEZRNENE BEERER
unallocated assets. 7,644,000 87T °
Year ended 31st December 2018 HE-_T—\F+-A=1+—HLFE
IT Products IT Services Total
AR ER BB R RET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FAExT
Revenue from external customers REAIINBEF 2 WA 818,641 1,525,816 2,344,457
Intersegment revenue 2 EBEULA 5,699 27,890 33,589
Segment revenue D EUA 824,340 1,553,706 2,378,046
Reportable segment profit AR 2 2P A 67,332 311,461 378,793
Reportable segment assets AREDHBEE 323,664 1,372,065 1,695,729
Reportable segment liabilities ARED AR 263,940 204,845 468,785
Segment depreciation DEBITE 2,245 14,239 16,484
Segment amortisation panzi 3 - 11,057 11,057
Additions to property, NEWE
plant and equipment * R R st * 59 14,662 14,721
Additions to intangible assets RNEEFLAE - 9,582 9,582
*  Additions to property, plant and equipment of HK$1,669,000 were related to * ARERKRIBEEZABEVE BERZRER
unallocated assets. 1,669,000/8 T °
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WA R D EER @

(Continued)

(a) D BEFFBE

(a) Segment accounting policies

150

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3(d). Performance is measured
based on segment profit that is used by the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance. Income tax expense is not allocated to reportable segments.

The revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the Group are allocated
based on the operations of the segments.

Reportable segment profit is profit before income tax, excluding unallocated
other income, unallocated other loss, net, share of results of associates,
unallocated depreciation for property, plant and equipment that are used for
all segments, fair value gain on revaluation of investment properties, finance
costs and unallocated corporate expenses (mainly include staff costs and
other general administrative expenses) of the head office.

Reportable segment assets exclude interests in associates, deferred income
tax assets, tax recoverable, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and
cash and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include property, plant
and equipment and investment properties that are used by all segments,
prepayments, deposits, other receivables and equity investment).

Reportable segment liabilities exclude current income tax liabilities, deferred
income tax liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly include
lease liabilities, accrued charges of the head office, borrowings, contingent
consideration payable and financial liabilities at FVTPL).

(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities are
reconciled to results and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as

AR E 2 BPATER A MY & BT IR SR T B M 5E 3(d)
Pt AR B &5 BERAER - RIBIARIEE
BRERRERNDEER K EDARR

VD ERENFHE o FISHAX TR DRER

HEHH -

REENWA - Bis - BERBEDRSE
METEEEDRC -

ARE D BEOEN SRS HANGES - A&
FEARDECEAMBA RO BLEAFEIE - &
IEEE RRIRE - RATADBER 2!
BE MR ROBE  EEREMEZ
AnBEEKE  PBRARBRERZRD
EARMX (E2BEE TRAREM—K
THER) -

ARESMHEETRIFME QAR R
EFSHERE - AIEEIR - XRBIRTE
F o |ROFRAEBREERARDEIAREE (£
ERFEMEDEBERZYE - BFE RREN
RIBEWE - BNREA - &E - EMEER
BN AR E) o

ARESMBNABETRENHMEHAE -
BEEFRERABERAIEARBE(ZESR
EHERE BRFERETER (55
PN SARME RIR R A (EEE BRI RRE
TEAE) -

(b) AIHE 2D BRA - B - BER

BENYIR

AEZ WA - B - EERBBEA
SEZRGRBEERBABHRNT

follows:

Revenue L ON 2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Reportable segment revenue AIARE D EUA 2,859,160 2,378,046
Elimination of intersegment revenue i H o ZBEIUA (30,387) (33,589)

Revenue per consolidated statement of RERE AR
profit or loss FIdA 2,828,773 2,344,457
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. KA R ZHE R )

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue, (b) AIHEZ WA - B - BER
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BENHER®
Intersegment revenue is charged at cost plus a percentage of profit mark- 53 BB A B 2 0k 1 B o
up.
Profit or loss Bz 2019 2018
—2-nE  —T)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Reportable segment profit AIRESH B/Eﬂ 408,939 378,793
Unallocated amounts: ROBLKIE
Unallocated other income ROB EEHEW)\ 6,935 7,349
Unallocated other loss, net R PR EAh R &R (6,771) (15,686)
Fair value gain on revaluation of BEKREMEZ
investment properties AR EERE 1,800 1,700
Unallocated depreciation ROBITE (10,042) (4,422)
Share of results of associates RGBS R RES (8,287) (5,428)
Finance costs D N (23,734) (22,726)
Unallocated corporate expenses KOBARIFX (229,459) (212,245)
Profit before income tax per consolidated RERE BRI
statement of profit or loss R PAS BE A A 139,381 127,335
Assets BE 2019 2018
—Z-hFE —ZT—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Reportable segment assets ARESHEE 1,923,559 1,695,729
Unallocated assets: ROBAE
Interests in associates B N Bl 19,625 27,662
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISIEE 16,341 5,384
Tax recoverable CIEERE 1,660 3,588
Restricted bank deposits SR ISR TERR 556 762
Bank balances and cash BITERERBES 456,058 292,183
Unallocated corporate assets ROBARIEE 380,793 355,724
Total assets per consolidated statement iRE MISARR RS EREY
of financial position BEHARE 2,798,592 2,381,032
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WA R D EER @

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue, (b) AIHE 2D WA - B - BEER
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BENHER®
Liabilities afE 2019 2018
—Z-hF —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Reportable segment liabilities AREHHEE 715,140 468,785
Unallocated liabilities: ROBALE :
Current income tax liabilities BNEAPTIS I B & 25,352 10,083
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTSHBE 78,299 76,420
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROMAREE 527,019 612,867
Total liabilities per consolidated statement — WA4RA& BAFSIIROR KT H
of financial position BERRE 1,345,810 1,168,155
The following table sets out information about the geographical segment TR FAREERBINES 2 WA KR
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and its non-current FRBEE(ERITARMELEMSHEER
assets (other than financial instruments and deferred income tax assets). SN 2B EDE - B ZRAETHE
The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which KA ERBIRIEHE L EY 2 FTEHD - BEE
the services were provided or the goods were delivered. The geographical BFRBEEZHELEMNS  WE  BE
location of the specified non-current assets is based on the physical location REEBRIEEMETRIBZEAE 2B
of the asset in the case of property, plant and equipment and investment feih - M EE RS BAEEE S REB 2
properties, the location of the operations to which they are allocated in the PR et ~ i B R A 4 5w Bl H5 B X TS P A
case of the intangible assets and goodwill, and the location of operations in Hp o
case of interests in associates.
Place of domicile FriEits Revenue from external customers  Specified non-current assets
REMPEF ZWA EEERDEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—Z-hF —ZT—N\F —Z-hF —ZT—)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FET FHT
Hong Kong B 1,785,350 1,514,300 355,956 342,060
United States of America ("US") FEFEBREE ([5E ) 918,431 720,045 871,823 885,091
Russia kA AT - - 8,789 10,417
Ukraine ST - - 5,925 5,331
Poland pidE - - 3,716 3,808
Singapore i - - 18,881 26,776
Mainland China B ARE 3,603 5,622 330 312
Macau BT 37,534 37,365 2,488 954
Thailand Z=H 58,779 48,831 585 124
Taiwan =] 17,930 18,294 3 29
Serbia ERMET - - 2,583 481
Switzerland It 7,146 - - -
2,828,773 2,344,457 1,271,079 1,275,383
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information about major customers

The Group has a large number of customers, no revenue from any individual
customer exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue during the years ended
31st December 2019 and 2018.

(c) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time
and at a point in time, details of the Group’s timing revenue recognition
during the years ended 31st December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

7. WARDEBER =)

(b) AIHEZDHBA - B - EER
BENHER®)

FEELHIEH

AEERERERF BE_ZT-hFR=
E-NEFE+-A=+—"HLFE  HEEX
B EREA R WA B & E AR
10% -

(0 REFEFENZBADE

AEEN— R RS R E S E RN
RISLAPTEA - REEBE—T—NFR
“E)N\F+Z A=+ —RLEFEZ AR
REEINT -

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBx FiET

Timing of revenue recognition WA FERR I Bh
At a point in time H B 2,081,591 1,677,528
Over time —ER 5] 747,182 666,929
Revenue from external customers REINPREZIA 2,828,773 2,344,457

Revenue relates to performance obligation that are unsatisfied as
at 31st December 2019 amounted to HK$1,322,747,000 (2018:
HK$1,128,248,000) are expected to be recognised with one to five years.

8. OTHER INCOME

R-ZE—NE+-A=+—BEBERTKE
HEFEZWA E1,322,747,0008 (=
—\4F : 1,128,248,000) BT BTN —F
FFENTER °

8. Hftlgt A

2019 2018

—E-hEF ZE-N\F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest on bank deposits RITIFRFE 1,901 785
Rental income from investment REREMHEZ

properties (Note 20) WA (Hf7E20) 3,911 3,708

Rental income from sublease REER A A - 366

Waiver of consideration payable HEEMARE - 2,355

Others Hits 2,676 765

8,488 7,979
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9. OTHER LOSS, NET 9. HittF &8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE « BE L& 2 EE (6) (22)
Changes in fair value on contingent ERSAREZARBEESD
consideration payable (921) (3,093)
Changes in fair value on financial liabilities BRARBEAEBERIBNEHAEL
at FVTPL (Note 39) NREEZS (ME39) (1,861) -
Impairment loss recognised on interests BN AR R EEE
in associates (Note 22) (Hf3E22) - (11,900)
Exchange loss, net FE 5 B8 2 A (3.983) (671)
(6,771) (15,686)
10. FINANCE INCOME 10. B FF UL A
Finance income represents accretion of discount recognised upon initial MBRABNPRAAA BEERERBERST
recognition of finance lease receivables to their fair values. FIREHERHOREZIZ N ©
11.FINANCE COSTS 11. B FS AN
2019 2018
—E-hEF T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FiET
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBECHBER 347 =
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEEF S 12,142 10,436
Interest on liability component of AR ES 2 F S
convertible bonds 11,093 12,243
Other interest expenses E A FI 2z 0 152 47
23,734 22,726
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[EWEES
12.PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 12. BR Fr 8 B4 Bz Al
Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): MRS R AT = A D4 (FEA) T8I
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEENEN S
Audit services ZE RS
— Current year - REE 3,626 3,280
— Over-provision in respect of prior year - BEFEBERE (122) (120)
Non-audit services IEZE RS 2,283 1,922
Bad debt expenses SRR IH - 14
Depreciation and amortisation: PrEs R
— Property, plant and equipment — owned assets - ¥1% - BB M&E - BEEE
(Note 19) (MIzE19) 25,038 20,906
— Property, plant and equipment — right-of-use - #1% - BB MRk - EHEEE
assets (Note 19) (F#5E19) 5,361 -
— Intangible assets (included in cost of services - B AE (BREERERE ZKA)
rendered) (Note 21) (HtzE21) 15,623 11,057
Directors’ emoluments (Note 14) EEME (HFE14) 9,839 8,823
Employee benefit expenses (excluding Directors’ EERAFX (TBEEZHE)
emoluments) (Note 13) (FF7E13) 1,096,795 932,726
Professional fees related to equity transactions BERSHEEHRZFHX 14,377 =
Lease charges: HEMES -
— Office premises and staff quarter under -MAEMERBETIFE 2 EEHE
operating leases - 32,585
— Computer equipment under operating leases - BB KL fHE - 463
— Leases with lease term shorter than 12 months - EAEA BB EREAERE 1655
as at initial application of HKFRS 16 BREHEN12@A 2HE 16,171 -
— Short term leases - REHEE 17,483 -
Provision for impairment of trade receivables FEWE 5 IR (B #E
(Note 26) (KftEE26) 296 4,254
Reversal of provision for impairment of FEWE 5 FIH 2 B B RO
trade receivables (Note 26) (Fft5E26) (3.268) (289)
Provision for impairment of other receivables ot FEUGRIE 2 (B - 832
(Reversal of)/Provision for obsolete inventories, net FREZE (B EEE) /i FE (67) 43
Write off of inventories FE M 243 98
13.EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES BEEEMNHEXX(TEREES
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) <)
2019 2018
—Z-hF - N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Salaries and other benefits e REMBEF 956,717 810,898
Performance related incentive bonus TG EHEEAL 104,230 89,171
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses AR BERE TN 2 A 24,532 21,544
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BB RET IR 11,316 11,113
1,096,795 932,726
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BVEEHNS

RIE_ETARR - FBCRFHENINEE 383 (1) IEA
MAR (WBEEBFZER) RFINE 2 BFEEN

14.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors” emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: BREZMemT :

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Fees we 662 596
Other emoluments: EAbBS -

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 3,099 3,092

Performance related incentive bonus KRIZA 2 RENEAL 4,733 3,596

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIFEIEER - =

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses LARR 0 R ERE 2 1 2 Fi 2 1,345 1,539

9,839 8,823

RNATDNEEMNELL(ZB—N\F : L) EE
ZBEmT -

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2018: seven) directors
were as follows:

Year ended 31st December 2019
BE-Z-NE+ZA=t-HLEE

Performance
related Equity-settled
incentive  Retirement  share-based
Salaries bonus benefit payment
and other (Note a) scheme expenses
benefits ~ &REEEZ contributions SR
Fees HeR RETA BARER  BRERIM Total
Name of director EZEB ne Hip3EF (HfzEa) BE 5 ZHX wam
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TR TR TR
Executive directors HrES
Wang Weihang (Chairman) (Note (b))~ T4 (£7%) (£ (b)) 55 - - - - 55
Wang Yueou (Chief Executive Officer) T2 (7HAH) - 2,619 4,733 - 1,203 8,555
Non-executive directors FHTES
Li Wei (Note (c)) Z& () 64 480 - - 7 615
Cui Yong ER 55 - - - 71 126
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Pan Xinrong BRER 167 - - - - 167
Deng Jianxin HEH 180 - - - - 180
Or Siu Ching Rerina RNE 141 - - - - 141
662 3,099 4,733 - 1,345 9,839
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14.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) BVEEME W

Year ended 31st December 2018
BE-_ T \F+-A=t—HItEE

Performance
related Equity-settled
incentive Retirement  share-based
Salaries bonus benefit payment
and other (Note a) scheme expenses
benefits ~ &IHAMZ  contributions MR
Fees HE2k RRE)EA RIER  RERIN Total
Name of director EELHRE e Hi g (FizEa) ST P53 ok

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TATL TATL TATL

Executive directors HITES
Wang Weihang T4 55 - - - - 55
Wang Yueou (Chief Executive Officer) T 2B (7HH) - 2,612 3,596 - 1,275 7,483
Non-executive directors FHTES
Li Wei (Chairman) ZE(ERE) 77 480 = = 132 689
Cui Yong 35 55 - - - 132 187
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Pan Xinrong B 134 - - - - 134
Deng Jianxin Lifei 154 - - - - 154
Or Siu Ching Rerina TNE 121 - - - - 121
596 3,092 3,596 — 1,539 8,823
Notes: Fff3E
(@)  The performance related incentive bonus are determined as a percentage of profit for @ RAEABZEBEANRASEFE &M 2ED
the year of the Group. LLEETE -
(b)  Wang Weihang has been appointed as the chairman with effect from the conclusion of b)) IHMEZEEFTEFR RNR_ZT-HLFAHA
the annual general meeting held on 22nd May 2019. Z T HERETHRRBFAGHEREFES
(c) Li Wei ceased to be the chairman of the Board with effect from the conclusion of the © ZFETHEAEZESFRE R-T—-LAFHA
annual general meeting held on 22nd May 2019. T HEITHRFBEFRSERER
During the year ended 31st December 2019, no remuneration has been paid by HEZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE  ~&H
the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group WEAFESMAREEMZNZME - IWEH
and no directors have waived any remuneration (2018: Nil). BEENEEPHE (ZT—N\F : &) -
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15.FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS BLEEESHZEES

EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year included one (2018:
one) director, details of whose emoluments are set out in Note 14 above. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2018: four) highest paid individuals for the

FALERSFLRERE R (ZE—/\F:
—R)EF  REZMESFBER LXMFE 145
B o FREMBINE (CZ—N\F  UR) 2&R=H
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year were as follows: EEZHeFIFMT :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FiT FiET
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 4,571 4,802
Performance related incentive bonus TG REELL 20,803 13,245
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BIRERET B 177 177
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses LARRD REEE ST 2 B SZ 268 502
25,819 18,726

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BEF 2N F T FIEE

Number of individuals

BAB

2019 2018

—-nE T )\F

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 #7T % 4,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 77 % 4,500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 77T % 5,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7T % 5,500,000 7 7T 1 =
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 # T Z 6,000,000 7 7T - 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 87T % 6,500,000 7T 2 =
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 7T % 9,000,000 87T 1 =
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/8
16.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 16. FT1SHi B <
2019 2018
—E-hEF ZTN\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHT
Current taxation: BUEATIA
Hong Kong profits tax BANEH 13,891 14,123
Overseas taxation TBINTE 37,752 32,538
Overprovision in respect of prior years: WITF R
Hong Kong profits tax BEFER (195) (829)
Overseas taxation THINEITE (217) (149)
51,231 45,683
Deferred taxation (Note 36): IEFERIE (P7E36) ¢
Current year KEE (12,158) (2,681)
Income tax expense FriSfiFsZ 39,073 43,002
On 21st March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland RZZ—\F=A=+—R8 BB LELEABT
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two- TR FRBUERTNE 7 R) EPIEZE (&)
tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th March 2018 BR]) EOIEZRS| AT AR GIFI1E 55
and was gazetted on the following day. B ZERRZZE-—N\F=R=T/\BEEXAR
A WX AEEHRTE o
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of REMRGAEHTEGE - fEBEEEEHN
qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above HK$2 million will B2 B EBURENGIRS.25% #F - miBiE2 A
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits EBTLRE M AIZEZ 16.5% B o TR AR
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31st MERBEHENEEEREKEEIR16.5% E
December 2019 and 2018, Hong Kong profits tax of Automated Systems (H.K.) EBEREH - BE_ZT-NEFER_T—/\F+=
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, is calculated in accordance with the two- A=+—RHIFE  AAFTN—KMBRARES
tiered profits tax rates regime. F5E(BB) BRAR 2 EENSHE RIBRARS

MEMRBESEFE -
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16.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits

of the consolidated entities as follows: O
2019 2018
—ZE-NEF —Z—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Profit before income tax BR P ASA0 AT A 139,381 127,335
Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% BEBFERBE 16.5% TH 2 Fi1E
(2018: 16.5%) ZZE—\F :16.5%) 22,998 21,010
Tax effects of: M2
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose BB EA R T 10,657 13,169
Income not taxable for tax purpose TR B RS Z WA (1,712) (841)
Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations &/E4NEBATER 2 TR R 2 & 9,906 13,095
Tax losses not recognised RIERR < T IE B8 78 391
Overprovision in prior years BT FE R (412) (978)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rate regime MR TSI R I 2 2 (165) (165)
Others HAth (2,277) (2,679)
Income tax expense FriS i 39,073 43,002
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 28.0% (2018: 33.8%). MmiEFEHERABE B28.0% (=T — \F:
33.8%) °
17.DIVIDENDS 17.| 2
2019 2018
—Z-hE —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Dividend approved and paid: REFEHAER TS
Final dividend in respect of the year ended HE-_Z—tF+_A=+—HILFE
31st December 2017 of 1.0 HK cent per share Z AR B AERR 1.081(L - 6,707
Dividends proposed: BORAR 2
Final dividend in respect of the year ended HE—_ZT-NF+=-A=1+—H
31st December 2019 of 3.0 HK cents LEFE 2 RERRE
per share (Note (i)) % 3.0781 (FFEEG)) 24,819 =
Special dividend of FrRIAR S
7.3 HK cents per share (Note (ii)) R 7.3 7840 (B E (i) 60,394 =
85,213 -
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17 DIVIDENDS (Continued)

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of 3.0
HK cents per share. Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or
before 24th June 2020 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 5th June 2020. (2018: Nil)

The Directors have also resolved to recommend the payment of a special dividend
of 7.3 HK cents per share. Subject to the approval of shareholders at a special
general meeting, the proposed special dividend is expected to be paid on or
before 20th May 2020 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 29th April 2020. (2018: Nil)

The proposed final dividend and special dividend have not been recognised as
dividend payable in the consolidated statement of financial position.

17.12 B )

BEEEFRRRNER3.0BIMZ REE < F
EAORER AN RIT 2 BRBE RS ERRBE
% ARAEHR T _TFAA-_THEBAZHZ
AN — 2= F XA A BEBIINARFRES

T2 BB A st 8 AR HR AR 8 (= — \5F
) -

BEZERRBRNERT7 3B FRIIE - £F
J:Li?&%ﬂﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁii@ﬁ?é ' $/‘
BN T -ZFRA - THRZAIAR T
TEOA-TNABRIRARBBRREMZ R
IR BRI S (2T —\5F « ) o

it R AR R R B B AR IR & B AR
RPERREMNERE

Notes: Bfi5E

(i)  The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31st December 2019, as referred to () FRBE—ZTE-NF+_A=+—HIEFEZ
above, is calculated on the basis of 827,314,061 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st ERARERER-"T—NFEF+=_A=+—HE
December 2019 and at a final dividend of 3.0 HK cent per share. %172.827,314,061 IR E @R R AR 3.0/8L 2 R

HIREEE -

(i)  The proposed special dividend, as referred to above, is calculated on the basis of (i) EFHiEFIBRESER=_Z—LE+=A
827,314,061 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st December 2019 and at a special =+ —HBE%172827,314,061 & L imAR & &A%
dividend of 7.3 HK cent per share. 73BN FrRIR SETE -

18.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 18. XA TRAKFEE AEBLER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY vl

RRABBEAFE AEBIESRERREERANTIR
THIBUERTE -

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity
holders of the Company is based on the following data:

2019 2018
—E-hE —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT
Profit attributable to equity holders of R ESREREF] 2 AQ
the Company for the purpose of MRAFFE AEIE R A
basic earnings per share 93,276 84,333
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares BEENE s B EBR e FE
— Interests on convertible bonds (Note (iii)) — AR (E FH 2 S, (B (iii)) 11,093 12,243
— Adjustment on the effect of dilution in the Sl EPNGIE S S
results of a subsidiary (Note (iv)) R (B R (v)) (4,737) -
Profit attributable to equity holders of RARFTEGREERT 2
the Company for the purpose of /NG &S SEE DN Epinvil
diluted earnings per share 99,632 96,576
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

18.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

162

1B.ARRREIFREAEEER

TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY B )
(Continued)
Number of shares
BRIEE
2019 2018
—ZE-hE —ZT—)N\F
‘000 ‘000
TR &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RUFTEREREF 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share TBAR HNAE T
(Note (i) (BFEEG)) 807,809 805,004
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares BESENE 2 BBk R
— Share options (Note (ii)) — AR (P EE (i) 370 2,074
— Convertible bonds (Note (i) — AR & 25 (T RE Giii)) 272,196 274,725
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RN ESREE R
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share TR NtE T8 1,080,375 1,081,803
Notes: Bff3E

@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The 807,809,000 ordinary shares are derived from the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31st December 2019.

The 805,004,000 ordinary shares are derived from the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31st December 2018 after taking into
account the effects of bonus issue (Note 31(i)) being completed during the year ended
31st December 2018.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31st December
2019 assumed the exercise of the share options of the Company granted in 2012 and
2017, except for the share options granted in March 2017, which are considered as
anti-dilutive as the average market price of the ordinary shares of the Company is less
than the exercise price of these share options.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31st December
2018 assumed the exercise of the share options of the Company granted in 2012 and
2017.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31st December
2019 and 2018 is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company,
adjusted to reflect the interest of the convertible bonds issued by the Company. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of the diluted earnings
per share for the years ended 31st December 2019 and 2018 have taken into account
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed conversion of the convertible bonds into ordinary shares
for the year.

The dilutive effect in the results of a subsidiary for the year ended 31st December 2019
is attributable to the share options (Note 38(iii)) and the convertible preferred shares
(Note 39) granted by the Company’s subsidiary (2018: Nil).
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@)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

I iMAR 807,809,000k KER —F—NF+=A
=+ ALFERCETERROMET S -

LA 805,004,000 R ERBE-T—\F+=
A=+—BIEEEBRTLERERMINETHE -
WEFERREZ=Z—/\F+=-A=+—HLHF
E e A TALIR 2 2% (BiaE31(3)) ©

HE-ZT-—NAFt-A=+—RALFEZERE
BRANIBEARARGR T —FR_ZT—+
FRECERECETE RTR=2ZE—LtF=
AELZERE ZSEREERAARESY
Z . DERAARERR FEmERERZEE
fRHREZ 17118 -

HE-ZT—/\F+-A=+—HBIIFE2ERE
SERFNDBRRARAN - E——FR-_ZE—+F
R BIREE T -

BE—Z—NFR-ZE-NFT-_A=+—AHIL
FEZEBREERANTRBEARRBRARTE AR
IEREMFE - RRBRARRARRZEHEITAIH
BEFZHME - BUAFERBE_ZT-NER=
- N\F+-_A=+—HALFEZERESRF
5 BT ER A RO DN P19 E B AR 20 B B B R RN F
M R AR AR S TR B B EHEAT
RN AR o

BE-_Z—NE+-_A=+—HBIFE - AHE
A BB 7 HEE R E RN A RN B A R FTE
L A B AR ARE (PR = 38(iii)) M AT HRARR B S5 AR (i3 39)
ZE—)\F |-
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R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.912% - BERRZE
Furniture Computer
Land and and and office
buildings fixtures Motor  equipment Right-of-use
it BRE vehicles ERR assets Total
RiEgF £8 ARE BAERE FRAREE st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
TAT THT THEL THEL TAT TAT

At 1st January 2018 R=B-N\§-HF—-H
Cost or valuation KA EE 271,950 28,363 1,961 149,985 - 452,259
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE - (24,422) (1,467)  (135,315) - (161,204)
Net book amount EE@/‘THE 271,950 3,941 494 14,670 - 291,055
Year ended 31st December 2018 BE-ZE-N\F+-A=1t-HLEE
Opening net book amount BRI FE 271,950 3,941 494 14,670 - 291,055
Addtions FE - 1,944 119 14,327 - 163%
Disposals HE - (71) = () - (75)
Depreciation & (9,219) (1,719) (362) (9,606) - (20,906)
Exchange realignment EHFERE - ®) - 70 - 62
Revaluation surplus EHAH 17,969 = = = = 17,969
Closing net book amount BRERRTE 280,700 4,087 251 19,457 - 304,495
At 31st December 2018 RZB-N\F+=A=1-H
Cost or valuation Ak (E 280,700 29,745 1,763 159,742 - 471,950
Accumulated depreciation e - (25658) (1512)  (140,285) - (167,455
Net book amount @'E@/%@ 280,700 4,087 251 19,457 - 304,495
Comprising: Bt
At cost A - 29,745 1,763 159,742 - 191,250
At valuation f&E 280,700 - - - - 280,700
280,700 29,745 1,763 159,742 - 471,950

At 1st January 2019 R-Z-h&-HF—-H
Cost or valuation KA EE 280,700 29,745 1,763 159,742 - 471,950
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE - (25,658) (1,512)  (140,285) - (167,455)
Adjustment from the adoption of FNEBHMBREERE 165

HKFRS 16 (Note 2(a)) ZAE (Fizt2()

Cost A - - - - 8,833 8,833

Accumulated depreciation ZEME - - - - (3,367) (3,367)
Net book amount EE@/%@ 280,700 4,087 251 19,457 5,466 309,961
Year ended 31st December 2019 BZE_Z-NF+-A=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount HAARE A 280,700 4,087 251 19,457 5,466 309,961
Additions B - 2,020 - 15,015 5,741 22,776
Disposals HE - = = @ = @
Depreciation e (9,849) (1,919) (214) (13,056) (5,361) (30,399)
Exchange realignment [E R % = (22) = 37 = 15
Revaluation surplus BhAR 19,249 - - - - 19,249
Closing net book amount BRERETE 290,100 4,166 37 21,446 5,846 321,595
At 31st December 2019 R=ZZB-AF+=B=+-H
Cost or valuation AT EE 290,100 31,733 1,779 169,049 14,574 507,235
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE - (27,567) (1,742)  (147,603) (8,728)  (185,640)
Net book amount E‘E@ﬂ?@ 290,100 4,166 37 21,446 5,846 321,595
Comprising: 't
At cost A - 31,733 1,779 169,049 14,574 217,135
At valuation e 290,100 - - - - 290,100

290,100 31,733 1,779 169,049 14,574 507,235
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 HZE=F

R PSRRI

—NF+=ZA=+—HLFE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued

The Group’s land and buildings were stated at valuations made at 31st December
2019 and 2018. The land and buildings were last revalued by an independent
professional valuer, at 31st December 2019 and 2018, at market value basis
which is determined by reference to market evidence of recent transactions
for similar properties. The revaluation gave rise to a revaluation surplus net
of applicable deferred income taxes of approximately HK$16,073,000 (2018:
HK$15,004,000) which has been credited to the property revaluation reserve.
Details of fair value measurements are set out in Note 6(d).

As at 31st December 2019, if the land and buildings had not been revalued, they
would have been included in these consolidated financial statements at historical
cost, less accumulated depreciation, of approximately HK$35,969,000 (2018:
HK$38,034,000).

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment have been charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

19.9% - BERRZRE®

REEZ T MREFDHER-_Z-—NLER=Z
—NE+ZA=+—B2BEFIER - T REF
HE—RBBYEEGBEIR_ZE-—NFR_Z
—N\F+ZA=t+—BRMEEERETER
N2EMSG FREMFEBR S5 ERERE -
EHEENRERRCEMEHEEESHRRL
16,073,000 7T (== — J\4F : 15,004,000 %
) WEFARMEEGHE - AR EEE
EIEEANELC)R

TAFtTA=+—H  HIHREFTR
%&Efﬁ HEmELKA (NG RFANE) QA
35,969,000/ 7T (=% —/\4 : 38,034,000/ L)
EARETER B M B ©

NEBMzYE  BERIMEBIFECREEBE
FKEHBRET ¢

2019 2018

—g-nE T )\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THBT

Cost of goods sold and services rendered SHE MR RS Z AR 13,810 12,710
Selling expenses HEER 5,307 2,674
Administrative expenses TERER 11,282 5,522
30,399 20,906

As at 31st December 2019, the Group had pledged land and buildings with w46 it - R=—ZE—NF+=-_A=+—H "

carrying amount of HK$171,200,000 (2018: HK$165,600,000) to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 46.

AEBEEIPRE €5 171,200,000 T (=T
—/\%F : 165,600,00087T) 2 13t RIEF AES
BTAEEZRITHE ©

As at 31 December 2019, the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets included RZB-NF+ZRA=+—8  sTAYE  BE
Bz FEREEEZRESBENT

in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Carrying amount Depreciation

RESHE e

For the year

As at 31st As at 1st ended 31st

December 2019 January 2019 December 2019

BE-—Z—N&

R=-ZE—hEF R=ZZE—hEF +=A=+—8

+=H=+-—H —HB—H LFE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET FET
Office premises WAEYE 4,344 5,404 (5,011)
Office equipment PENENY 1,502 62 (350)
Total 5,846 5,466 (5,361)
During the year ended 31st December 2019, total additions to right-of-use assets HEZT-NF+-A=1+—HILFE AW

¥ BMEERE2FERAEEENRERS5,741,000
/%71 °©

included in property, plant and equipment amounting to HK$5,741,000.
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

20.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 2. REM=E
2019 2018
—E-hEF —Z-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At valuation fhE
At 1st January n—A—H 54,000 52,300
Fair value gain A EEKE 1,800 1,700
At 31st December R+=—A=+—H 55,800 54,000
The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated statement of T SEERNRABRRER
profit or loss:
2019 2018
—E-hE T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Rental income (Note 8) HEUWA (H7E8) 3,911 3,708
Direct operating expense arising from investment ZE£HESWAZIKEYEIEE 2
properties that generate rental income BEEERE 380 359
The investment properties of the Group were last revalued by an independent AEEZ EMFETE —RBB ERMAEERR
professional valuer at 31st December 2019 and 2018 at market value basis, B NER_F-N\E+_A=+—HEmE
which is determined by reference to market evidence of recent transactions for EEFETEMN  D2EMS LRBYEEHR
similar properties. Details of fair value measurement are set out in Note 6(d). HZEREE - AR EEEFIBHNHE6) -
The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable ARIRA AT UG B AV I 2 KRR R & A R
operating leases are set out in Note 42. BRHIEEA2
As at 31st December 2019, the Group had pledged investment properties with KA FTE - R - AF+=—A=1—
carrying amount of HK$55,800,000 (2018: HK$54,000,000) to secure banking B - ANEERRE £ 55,800,000 7T (ZF—/\
facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 46. F : 54,000,00087T) ZIREWHEE THA - A

BSRTAKE ZRITRE
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

21.GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS N.BEREREE

Goodwill Intangible assets
Development Technical Customer
cost know-how relationships Total
BRAA a0 EFB% @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T THT THT
At 1st January 2018 R-B-N\E-A—-H
Cost A 769,499 5,006 2,234 123,721 130,961
Accumulated amortisation ZEBERAE
and impairment - (5,006) (584) (6,048) (11,638)
Net book amount REFE 769,499 - 1,650 117,673 119,323
Year ended 31st December 2018 B2-Z-\E+-A=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount R #E 769,499 - 1,650 117,673 119,323
Additions WE - 9,582 - - 9,582
Disposal HE - = (30) = (30)
Amortisation B - (1,987) (799) (8,271) (11,057)
Exchange realignment 5 R 1,674 (5) 4 236 235
Closing net book amount R FE 771,173 7,590 825 109,638 118,053
At 31st December 2018 and RZE-\F+=-A=+-HRK
1st January 2019 “E-hE-A-H
Cost AR 771,173 14,583 2,209 123,962 140,754
Accumulated amortisation and EEERAE
impairment - (6,993) (1,384) (14,324) (22,701)
Net book amount REFME 771,173 7,590 825 109,638 118,053
Year ended 31st December 2019 BE_Z-NE+-A=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount HAARE A 77,173 7,590 825 109,638 118,053
Additions hE - 5,372 - - 5,372
Amortisation B - (6,557) (799) (8,267) (15,623)
Exchange realignment B 3 AR (4,357) (12) - (547) (559)
Closing net book amount HRREFE 766,816 6,393 26 100,824 107,243
At 31st December 2019 RZB-hE+ZA=t-H
Cost D% 766,816 19,887 2,197 123,289 145,373
Accumulated amortisation and ZEEB A
impairment - (13,494) (2,171) (22,465) (38,130)
Net book amount RmFE 766,816 6,393 26 100,824 107,243
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

21.GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Continued)

During the year ended 31st December 2019, amortisation of approximately
HK$15,623,000 (2018: HK$11,057,000) has been charged to “cost of services
rendered” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Goodwill is attributable to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") of the
Grid Dynamics Group and is allocated to the IT Services operating segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined from value in use
calculations based on cash flow projections from formally approved financial
budgets and forecasts covering a five-year period. The cash flows for the
subsequent years are extrapolated from the fifth year cash flow using 2.0% (2018:
2.1%) growth rate, and discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 19.1% (2018:
20.13%).

The discount rate reflects current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rate used was based on historical
growth and past experience and did not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the business in which the CGU operates.

The recoverable amount has been determined to be higher than the carrying
amount of the CGU, and thus no impairment is required.

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

N.BERELEE

REBEE-ZT-—NE+_A=1+—"HIFE - &Y
#4915,623,000# 7T ( ZZF— )\ 4F : 11,057,000
T0) B A B R Z R AR 2 A AN IR F0BR -

722 57 B 5 A58 [E Grid Dynamics £ @AY 3R € &=
EB ((ReEEBM])  WHREEARRR

BEEDER

R E A BN 2 AR E S EE YRR B ER R
BSTEE (R A3 &R 2 TR BLR = A F HIRTE
B MEAEBENEET - HRFENRESRE
REERFNHRSRERA2.0% (ZT—N\F:
2.1%) FIE R KIS - WFABAAIEE19.1%
(ZZ—)\4F : 20.13% ) #1TEE3R ©

BER KRR T B AT S H B EEER G
RRSELEMFENEAR - ARAERETIR
BESEERLBELRAE  THBAREES
BAURERK REPFIEIERE -

AYCcHEEBEESSRNRSELEN 2 KA
B - WBAELRE -

2. BE QRS

2019 2018

—Z-hF —ZT—)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1st January n—HA—H 27,662 46,948

Disposal of partial interest in an associate BB N A EB DR - (336)

Share of results of associates N E (8,287) (5,428)
Share of other comprehensive FE(RE N R H 2k (E518)

income/(loss) of associates 193 (431)

Impairment loss on interests in associates B8N RIRE RS BB B 18 - (11,900)

Dividends received B IR S (154) (485)

Exchange realignment PE H 8% 211 (706)

At 31st December R+ZA=+—H 19,625 27,662
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 2. BENTEIERw

Particulars of the Group’s unlisted associates at 31st December 2019 and 2018 RZE-NEFRZZT—N\F+ZA=+—H ' &
are as follows: SE 2 I EIBE R AFIEAT
Country/place Percentage of nominal value
of incorporation  of issued ordinary share capital
and operations  held indirectly by the Company
Name of associate MR R AR 2 AAREESE Principal activities
BN R BB BxR ERTEBRAZBEHL FEXK
2019 2018
—E-RAEFE ZZ)N\F
iN Systems (Macao) Limited Macau 24% 24% Provision of engineering and
BEZRERE CRF) BRAR] JBRFT software services
TR T2 R AR TS
ASL Automated Services (Thailand) Limited Thailand 49% 49% Provision of engineering and
= software services
TR T2 BB AR TS
i-Sprint Holdings Limited (“i-Sprint”) Cayman Islands 35.42% 35.42% Investment holding
HEHS REZR
i-Sprint Innovations (HK) Limited Hong Kong 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing, and
ZHFE (B B BERAR] B implementing technology

risk management products
TR 57 86 2 BRI

[ e I E e 3R TS
Beijing i-Sprint Technology Co., Ltd. PRC 35.42% 35.42% Provision of software
IREARREEREERR s development, distributing,

implementing and

supporting technology

risk management products
RETMMRE - D Bk
XERMERERERES

i-Sprint (Beijing) Innovations Co., Ltd. PRC 35.42% 35.42% Investment holding
A (b)) BB REEAF a3 AR
i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd Singapore 35.42% 35.42% Provision of developing,

Hrhnig distributing, implementing

and supporting technology
risk management products
RMHEE 2 Bk
XERMER E R EmER
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22 BE&E N T RER o)

Particulars of the Group’s unlisted associates at 31st December 2019 and 2018 RZZE-NERZZT—N\F+ZA=+—H ' &
are as follows: (Continued) FEEZIELMHEARFEBET - (8)

Country/place Percentage of nominal value
of incorporation  of issued ordinary share capital
and operations  held indirectly by the Company

Name of associate AR RKEE 2 AAREESE Principal activities
BE AT ER Bx 2 ERTEBERETZEML FEEK
2019 2018

—B-hE —T)\F

i-Sprint Innovations Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing,
L il implementing and

supporting technology

risk management products

RO - BHERSRRM

Jee\ i i B 7 e S T
i-Sprint Innovations Inc. us 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing and
ESET implementing technology

risk management products
R R B iR

[\ B B BB E SR RS

i-Sprint Investment Limited Hong Kong 35.42% 35.42% Investment holding
BB REER

i-Sprint Innovations (Thailand) Co. Ltd Thailand 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing,
R implementing and

supporting technology
risk management products

RO - BHEMSURRAM

[R\Be B IR L A
At 31st December 2019, the management of the Group carried out impairment RZZE-NF+ZA=+—0 AEEERED
review on the carrying amount of the investment in i-Sprint Group by comparing FERIEERi-Sprint EEIR AT AEABEGER
the estimated recoverable amount using the value in use with the carrying A El& FREAREE - $50-Sprint &R EIIR & ABR

amount of the investment in i-Sprint Group. EEEITRERE °
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 2. B N TR )

In determining the value in use of the investment, the Group estimated the REERENFEREER - A&BE & HE i-Sprint
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by SETEHE A 2 BET R R € 2 (B 1Ei-Sprint
i-Sprint Group, including cash flows from the operations of i-Sprint Group and EEXBKEEENRERNERRRER) 2R
estimated terminal value. Based on the assessment, the recoverable amount B o RIS - i-Sprint EEH A KRE B RE
of i-Sprint Group is higher than its carrying amount. No impairment loss was BREE - Bt RBZE-Z—NF+-A=1+—
recognised on the interests in i-Sprint Group was recognised in the consolidated HIEFE - R EaRIER-Sprint EE iR
statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31st December 2019 (2018: ERREEE (ZZ—/\F : 11,900,000 % 7T) °
HK$11,900,000).
The financial information of i-Sprint Group, which are material associates FRAEREARZ EZ2HE A F]i-Sprint & B 2 8
accounted for using the equity method, are as below: BERT
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Non-current assets EMENEE 38,288 42,457
Current assets MENEE 60,855 56,550
Current liabilities mEEE (75,954) (56,042)
Net assets FEE 23,189 42,965
Revenue A 122,353 155,341
Loss for the year FAEE (23,427) (17,012)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hh 2wk (B8) 546 (1,219)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAREEEIBEE (22,881) (18,231)
Group's share of: REBEG :
Loss for the year FREE (8,298) (5,848)
Other comprehensive income/(l0ss) Hib2mEas (E18) 193 (431)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZEEESE (8,105) (6,279)
Dividend received 2 U E - _
Note:i-Sprint Group have initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Mzt : -Sprint R B EERALET RPN ETRERER
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1st January 2019 to recognise right-of- MBREERFE 165  WHR-FT—NF—A
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$2,731,000 relating to leases which were previously —BZ VA RETTRE - U ERIRIEES S
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative FTERENTRO R AKERE 2 EBHEERR
information is not restated. FREEEREERREA2,731,000487T ° BIR

ZIE LA R BT o
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

22 B¢ N R R o)
BHREEEA S B AT RE BRI GRFY)

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The financial information of iN Systems (Macao) Limited, which is not a material

associate of the Group, is as below:

BRABZHHEEHMT

2019 2018
—EB-hE —ZE—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiExT T

Group’s aggregate share of net assets NEEE FEE— AR QA
of an associate IR EAEBER 743 886

Group's share of: REBEEAL

Profit for the year F R A 11 420
Other comprehensive income Hi 2 mikas _ _
Total comprehensive income for the year FREmKSERE 11 420

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying

it B R B R R 22 B R i-Sprint SR [ R B B A
R CRPY) AR RIS B 2 & REE 2 8 8RN

amount of each of the investments in i-Sprint Group and iN Systems (Macao)

Limited is set out below: T
iN Systems
(Macao) Limited
i-Sprint Group BEZRGRE
i-Sprint &£ [E (RP9) BRAF
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hEFE —T)\F ZB-hF —T)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT FBT FHT
Total net assets of associates BN R F A ERRE 23,189 42,965 3,096 3,689
Portion of ownership interests held by Group  ASEBFTHA 2 B AR 35.42% 35.42% 24% 24%
Group’s share of net assets of associates NEFEENIEARFEE 8,213 15,218 743 886
Others HAh (4,460) (3,453) - -
Goodwill (EES 31,429 31,311 - -
35,182 43,076 743 886
Less: Provision for impairment OB ER (16,300) (16,300) - =
Carrying amount of the interests in associates F4r& 8175 W% TR
in the consolidated financial statements B E N RS RRE (A 18,882 26,776 743 886
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of ASL Automated
Services (Thailand) Limited. The amounts of unrecognised share of results of this
associate, extracted from the relevant management accounts of the associate,
both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

22 BN\ T RERR o)

REEEB AR EHERELFE (h ASL Automated Services
(Thailand) Limited &518  [E{G 2Bt & R BRI ZF A
REBFZABREES T (FEEHE AR 28
BEEEREB)MT

2019 2018
—g-nEF  —T)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT

Unrecognised share of profit of an associate FARMEREN —EHE QA
for the year iy (1) (22)
Other comprehensive income H b2 EWE - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEE RS BTE (1) (22)

Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of REFARTEREG — [ AT
an associate Z B 583 584

23.EQUITY INVESTMENT 3. RERE
2019 2018
—E-NF =2\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Financial asset at FVOCI RAABEZBHMEZEANRREIIREZSREE

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value IE FTIREIRE - RO EBE 598 598
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The Group entered into the agreement with Teamsun, Pansky Technology
Corporation Ltd. and Beijing Honggiao Technology Co., Ltd. to establish a
company in the PRC, pursuant to which the Group committed to subscribe for
10% equity interest in the PRC company with capital contribution of Renminbi
(“RMB")10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$11,965,000). As at 31st December
2019, the Group has injected RMB500,000 (equivalent to HK$598,000) (2018:
RMB500,000 (equivalent to HK$598,000)) to the equity investment.

The Group designated its investment in this unlisted investment as financial asset
at FVOCI, as this investment is held as long-term strategic investments that is not
expected to be sold in the short to medium term.

Details of the fair value of the unlisted equity investment has been measured are
described in Note 6(d).
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REBEEFBRE - RARHEAR AR KRIEREA
BREBR AR H#E  RPBRKYI—RAD
A R - ARSEEEGE DAL E AR 10,000,000
7t (48 & 711,965,000 7T ) R Z + B A A
10% K- RZFE—NF+_A=+—H &
£ 82 E A AR 500,000 7T (#8 & 7 598,000
i) (ZZE—N\F : AR 500,000t (F8E %
598,000787T)) Tzl iR E -
REBHGHNZIELTRE 2R ERE AR AR
BEEZAEMEAREIIE  REAZKE T
TERBRESIEIRE - T ERPREHAALE -
AR EMREREZ AR BEZFE - SRK
FE6(d).
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 24.1ZEH&s 2@ I A

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line TRMITAESFBEREERAR TIIEIE :
items below:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RBHERARIEZERMEE
Trade receivables FEUE 558 344,219 315,007
Other receivables and deposits Hfh FEUGRIE iz & 25,978 16,845
Finance lease receivables FEU B E TH E FIE 7,675 4,474
Restricted bank deposits PR HIRITIF A 556 762
Bank balances and cash IR MBS 456,058 292,183
834,486 629,271
Financial asset at FVOCI BRAARBEZBEMZERGZEIEZ
(non-recycling) SREE (FAEE)
Equity investment fRiERE 598 598
835,084 629,869
Financial liabilities c@mas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBHERAIRECSREE
Trade payables BB S50 360,282 258,940
Other payables and accruals HAb A RIE R IEETE R 184,612 139,415
Borrowings BE 439,770 481,715
Lease liabilities HERE 5,945 =
990,609 880,070

Financial liabilities at fair value through RAABEZERERIIRNERMEAE

profit or loss

Contingent consideration payable FERTSARAE - 69,565

Financial liabilities at fair value ERAnBEERERIIENE/RARE
through profit or loss 75,017 -
1,065,626 949,635
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

25.INVENTORIES

5.7

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT

Inventories
— Goods held for resale - FIEEEZEY 78,399 80,816
— Goods pending for customers’ acceptance - BRERPENZED 109,706 40,996
188,105 121,812
Other contract costs E A& LI 79,833 56,783
267,938 178,595

Goods held for resale and goods pending for customers’ acceptance mainly
represent computer equipment and software products.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the cost of inventories recognised
as expenses and included in “cost of goods sold” and “cost of services rendered”
amounted to approximately HK$887,876,000 and HK$128,855,000 (2018:
HK$687,683,000 and HK$97,481,000), respectively.

Other contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to
salesperson whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sales
contacts and fulfillment costs that generates or enhances resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying performance obligations and expected to be
recovered.

Other contract costs are recognised as expenses and included in “cost of goods
sold” and “cost of services rendered” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the period in which revenue is recognised. The amount of capitalised
costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was HK$268,642,000 (2018:
HK$219,350,000). There was no impairment in relation to the opening balance
of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised during the year ended 31st December
2019 (2018: Nil).

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

174

FEEE BN RAREPEMAZENTIERE
s 5 A R B M EE A

HE_ZT—NEF+_A=1+—HLEEEER
ABRTWEATHEERAN] R RERE 2K
K] ZHEEKAR D R4 #887,876,000% 7T &
128,855,0007% 7T (= Z — )\ : 687,683,000/
Tt} 97,481,000/ 7T) °

Hit e IR A ERREHE RSN TP HE
BRZHEABSNZEEHERS RATNESL
SFIE MK AN ETRAE EL RIS AR @z A
KEERZEHORLER -

Hih & AR AR RS ERR 2 AN ESRE B
mRTPERRMAY - Wit ATSHERA] R [R
HREZKA] - FARBEFERZERNE
X 7 & 8 5268,642,0008 (=T — \F ¢
219,350,000/ 7T) © BEAMEEAS 2 BRI 45 sl
HE-_T-—HhF+-_A=1+—RHIEERERXL
TR BB ERE (ZS—\F - &) o

26. FEWRE 5 718

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiET FABT

Trade receivables — gross FEWE 5 308 - 4858 346,377 324,424
Less: ECL allowance B REEEEIERE (2,158) (9,417)
Trade receivables — net FEURE 55038 - F 344,219 315,007

The Group has granted credit to substantially all of its customers for 30 days
and has credit control procedures to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy are set out in Note 6(b).
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables, is

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

26. FEWNE Z FIE )

REBEEZR - BKRE SR REDTT

as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
0 - 30 days 0E 30K 160,655 149,555
31 - 60 days 31E60K 79,678 96,852
61 —90 days 61290k 69,664 37,137
Over 90 days BB 90K 36,380 40,880
346,377 324,424

The movement in the Group’s ECL allowance of trade receivables is as follows:

AEEREWE S FORNE R EEEREEEE N

T
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
At 1st January ®n—HA—H 9,417 5,685
Amount written off during the year FAMHESHE (4,195) -
ECL allowance TREAE BB Ia 296 4,254
Reversal of ECL allowance TEEE B s IR R AR R (3,268) (289)
Exchange realignment RS (92) (233)
At 31st December R+=—A=+—H 2,158 9,417

Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there
is no expectation of recovering additional cash. The Group does not hold any

collateral as security.

The gross trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

& °

BEERTR 228 KRR BER TS WK E IR
TR - ARE Y BSATAERRERE

FEURE S RIAERE AT 5 E M HE

2019 2018

—Z-hE - N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHETT

HKD PETT 221,458 197,319
usD =TT 115,440 107,151
RMB AR 473 4,769
Thailand Baht (“THB") Rk ([FREK]) 5,204 4,474
Macau Pataca (“MOP") SEPTEE (DRFPIEE ) 1,684 6,625
New Taiwan dollars (“NTD") HeE(Hmat]) 2,001 2,830
Others HAh 117 1,256
346,377 324,424

As at 31st December 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts of trade receivables

approximate their fair values.

RZB-NF+-_A=+—BR-_Z-/\F+=

A=t-8"
BIEAEE -

WE SR RE T EEE NS
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=1 P = xhH
27.FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 27. B R EHE IR
The total minimum lease receivables under finance leases and their present values AR AR R R & E S IER BIR B 2 &K FEURAE
at the reporting date are as follows: EREREBRE -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi&T FBT
Non-current receivables: IR EN RS ¢
Gross finance lease receivables FEW B E M ERIE AR EE 5,335 1,185
Unearned finance income REREUZ B E WA (389) (57)
4,946 1,128
Current receivables: TENEURFRIE ¢
Gross finance lease receivables FEU R E T E R IH AR R 3,023 3,468
Unearned finance income REELZ BB WA (294) (122)
2,729 3,346
Gross receivables from finance leases: REBMERSE ZEWIBHLE :
Not later than 1 year —FA 3,023 3,468
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FERERAFA 5,335 1,185
Gross finance lease receivables JEU R B TH E FRIE A RS 8,358 4,653
Unearned finance income RERELZ B ERA (683) (179)
Net finance lease receivables FE U b S RE R AR 7,675 4,474
The net finance lease receivables ERmEHEREFERRUATEHIN
are analysed as follows:
— Not later than 1 year -—FR 2,729 3,346
— Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - —FBEAFA 4,946 1,128
7,675 4,474
h1E . o
28.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 28. HAttERRIR - IRERFAF
=h
PREPAYMENTS FRIH
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FAT
Other receivables E b EYGRIE 9,234 4,258
Deposits Ze 5,715 6,106
Prepayments TERFRIE 44,157 27,751
Amount due from ultimate holding company BAEIERR A AR R 832 832
Amount due from an immediate holding company B 2% 2 /R 1,836 1,072
Amount due from an associate — B A BRI 9,193 5,409
Other receivables, deposits and HA eI - ke MTER - 85
prepayments — gross 70,967 45,428
Less: ECL allowance B TR E B R EE (832) (832)
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments — net E M fEIRFRIA « 1&& RFEI A - FE 70,135 44,596
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

28.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 28 HftFEWFIE - RE RFE(T

=hH -
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) lTAIE(%ET)
As at 31st December 2019 and 2018, amounts due from ultimate holding RZZE—NFR=T—N\F+-A=+—H &
company, immediate holding company and an associate are unsecured, interest- IR A BIRER - BRI A AR R R —fEHgE
free and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts approximate their fair RARFREER  REREEKREE - ANE
values due to their short maturities. RHME  REZREEEAALEERS °
The balances (before ECL allowance) are denominated in the following currencies: e GTATRERE BB 1B RUERT) T0A T3 & ¥ 5T
A :
2019 2018
=E-hF ZTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
HKD BT 13,988 17,918
THB TR 11,253 6,439
RMB ARE 1,451 1,514
NTD e 605 908
usb T 43,114 18,298
Others Efib 556 351
70,967 45,428
As at 31st December 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts of other receivables RZZE-NFR=ZZT—N\F+A=+—H8 H
and deposits approximate their fair values. fh EUCRIE KR & 2 BRE @ B E N EEAE
e
A4 >
29.CONTRACT ASSETS . 5NEE
As at 31st December 2019 and 2018, the balance represented contract costs RZB-NER=ZE—/\F+_A=+—RH#&#%
incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses and progress billings. FEPTEE 4 2 & AR DN 2 MR AR B FEsR s 18

FEEZ K -
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30.RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 30.ZR&IBITERREBITER
BALANCES AND CASH REE

As at 31st December 2019, bank balances carry interest at market rates with an REZZE—NF+ZA=+—8 " RITEKRET
average interest rate of 0.51% (2018: 0.99%) per annum. As at 31st December BHEEFE - FANMESFREF051% (ZF
2019, restricted bank deposits carried interest at market rates with an average —N\F:099%)  R=ZFT—NF+_A=+—
interest rate of 1.53% (2018: 0.38%) per annum. B - ZBRHRITERILZTEF R L - FHF=R
REE153% (ZF—/\F : 0.38%) °

RITFER KRR AT T E

Bank balances and cash are denominated in the following currencies:

178

2019 2018

—E-hE —T—N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiH&T FHT

HKD BT 104,381 102,849
RMB AR 3,825 19,294
NTD e 7,230 5,995
usb == 324,014 145,713
Others Eitb 16,608 18,332
456,058 292,183

As at 31st December 2019, included in restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$556,000 (2018: HK$762,000) are pledged to secure the performance bonds

of the Group.

Restricted bank deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

REZZ-NAFF+_A=+—H  BEEXRHIR
TT1E R A 47 556,000 % 7T (ZZF—/\£ : 762,000
BIL) AR BERRITEORE 2 IR @ -

ERHBITFFATINEEEE -

2019 2018

—EB-hE T )\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT T

MOP SEPTHE 556 243
NTD ek - 519
556 762
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31.SHARE CAPITAL 31. AR

Number
of shares Amount
RFEE x|
‘000 HK$'000
TR T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each SREEO0.10 BT 2EER
Authorised: EERA
At 1st January 2018, 31st December 2018, R=ZF-NE—A—H8 "
1st January 2019 and 31st December 2019 —E2-N\Ft+=ZHA=+—H8"
—E-hE-A—-BK
—E-hAF+=A=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
At 1st January 2018 RZT—NF—A—H 670,544 67,054
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise REBIR R TR BT 2 SRR
of share options 545 54
Bonus issue (Note (i) BEATALAR (BRRE (i) 134,135 13,414
At 31st December 2018 and 1st January 2019 R=F—N\E+=-A=+—-HEK
—Z2-NF-A—H 805,224 80,522
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise R TR T 2 H AR
of share options 111 11
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion BRI MR E S R T 2 TR
of convertible bonds (Note (i) (BRFEE (i) 21,978 2,198
At 31st December 2019 R=B-NE+=A=+—H 827,313 82,731
Notes: Fff%E
()  Bonus issue (i)  EEATALRR

(ii)

On 16th May 2018, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting to approve the bonus issue of shares (“2018
Bonus Issue”) of par value HK$0.10 each which was issued on the basis of two bonus
share for every ten existing shares on 29th May 2018. As of that date, there was a
total of 670,676,804 shares in issue, resulting in the issuance of 134,135,360 of bonus
shares under 2018 Bonus Issue.

Conversion of convertible bonds

On 20th November 2019, a bondholder of the convertible bonds has completed
the conversion of Convertible Bond with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 into
21,978,022 shares at the conversion price of HK$0.91 per share. Details are set out in
Note 35(ii).

All the shares in issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing

shares of the Company in all respects.
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(ii)

R=ZZF—N\ERA+/ A AAARERKER
FRE FEXBB—HLBERER - UIDERT
FREEI0B TMAR(I =T — \NFHITL
BRl) BITHEANR-_Z—NERA-THIES
HAETRREBRDEZMRAR - BHEZBH -
BT 2 LB A E 5 670,676,804 % - AMIRE
ZF— \FEATARIMEAT 134,135,360 ARALAR ©

BRI A

R-ZZ—h&+—A=+A HP—ZELHEE
ATT{E784 %8 20,000,000 7 T 2 7] #2 A8 (& 5 i Mt
A2 BRRHE - AEAR0.91 BT 2R EE R
B% o BE1& A ££ 21,978,022 B & @ IR O Ao 3% ) 31T
FRZESFFAA o sHFHRMTE 35(i) ©

AEENETOABERNEERARERES T
EHIRA B Z A RS o
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=h
32.TRADE PAYABLES 32. B+ B 5 IR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the reporting date, based on B SFRIERERBIRBRNREEE 2Rk D
payment due date, is as follows: IR UNNE
2019 2018
—g-nE BT )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Current BNHR 228,233 185,967
Within 30 days 30 KA 74,101 46,729
31 -60 days 31 260K 21,428 10,688
61 —90 days 61£290K 8,978 3,248
Over 90 days #8390 K 27,542 12,308
360,282 258,940
The balances are denominated in the following currencies: WERATIAT Y| EEEEHE -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
HKD BT 235,522 198,109
RMB AR 801 1,340
usbD ETT 90,442 43,998
THB BT 31,790 8,906
NTD e 1,359 6,170
Others HAfb 368 417
360,282 258,940
At the reporting date, the carrying values of trade payables approximate their fair REIRE - ENESFIEZRABEREAQREE
values. B -
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E =
33.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS B.HMEENRERETER
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\fF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T Fib7%
Other payables E b R RIE 15,765 17,997
Accruals Rt &R 167,232 119,728
Amount due to ultimate holding company (Note (i))/R £x#%4% B% A =178 (B EE () 1,189 1,208
Amounts due to associates (Note (i) REgE N BRI (RE () 426 482
184,612 139,415
Notes: B &E -
(i)  The amounts due to ultimate holding company and associates are unsecured, interest () REBRERIRRBERNR ZFRIAREER 2
free and are repayable on demand. B RBIRERAEE -
The balances are denominated in the following currencies: REERTIA TSI B RHE -
2019 2018
—ZE-hE —Z-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
HKD BT 107,511 77,057
usD % 68,884 55,780
RMB AR¥E 4,364 2,197
NTD Mek 1,121 1,185
Others Hth 2,732 3,196
184,612 139,415
At the reporting date, the carrying values of other payables and accruals REIRR - EENFIRRER B 2 REES
approximate their fair values. HRAnBEES -
32
34.RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 34. FE Wk 2=
Receipts in advance represent advance payments received prior to delivery B s BN E an AT 2 Bk (AR B A
of goods which is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss NEERGBERER) - RIRHRS A EUZ
upon the delivery of goods; and provision of service which is recognised in the BR(EREBATFE X ARG SHRERS
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the service period stipulated in the BRRER) - B ZBEMNFIAR BB £
respective customer contract. Contract liabilities arising from billings in advance SRELZ BNAEANEKKSSE

of performance recognised and from receiving deposits of orders are reported as
receipts in advance.

As at 1st January 2019, receipt in advance amounted to HK$132,017,000 (2018: RZZTE—-—NAhF-—H-—B BRKER
HK$126,711,000), of which HK$112,321,000 (2018: HK$109,597,000) has been 132,017,000/ 7T ( —Z —/\ 4 : 126,711,000/8
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31st December 2019. TL) B ERE112,321,0008 T (=T — )\ F :

109,597,000 L) EREBE=_T—NF+=H
=T —HIFEERABRA °
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35.BORROWINGS B.EE

182

2019 2018
—ZE-NEF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Current TENER
Bank borrowings, secured (Note (i) BEMRITEE (HEEG) 191,113 224,290
Convertible bonds (Note (ii)) AR &S (ML (i) 248,657 =
439,770 224,290
Non-current IERBN LD
Convertible bonds (Note (ii)) RIHRRR & 5 (BT (i) - 257,425
439,770 481,715
Notes: Fff%E
(i)  Bank borrowings, secured () BERRITEE
The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as follows: AEBZBITEEEFPOT :
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within one year or on demand —FANRIRE RIEE 191,113 224,290

As at 31st December 2018, bank borrowings of approximately HK$224,290,000 are
repayable by five semi-annually instalments commencing from 29th March 2018 to
20th February 2020 and bears interest at floating rates. The bank borrowings are
denominated in HKD with an effective interest rate of 4.68% per annum.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Group entered into a revised banking
facilities with the bank in which the repayment terms of the outstanding balances
of bank borrowings immediately before the modification was changed to repayable
by 60 equal monthly instalments commencing from 29th March 2019. As a result,
a modification loss of approximately HK$2,547,000 was recognised and included
in finance costs. As at 31st December 2019, the bank borrowings bears interest at
floating interest rate and are denominated in HKD with an effective interest rate of
4.82% per annum.

As at 31st December 2019, the bank borrowings are secured by:

(1) the legal charges over the Group’s land and buildings with carrying amount of
approximately HK$171,200,000 (2018: HK$165,600,000) (Note 46);

(2)  the legal charges over the Group’s investment properties with carrying amount of
HK$55,800,000 (2018: HK$54,000,000) (Note 46);

(3) the guarantees given by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group
up to a limit of HK250,000,000;

(4) assignment of rental and sales proceeds from the Group’s land and buildings and
investment properties; and

(5) assignment of insurance of all insurance policies (other than third party liabilities
and public liabilities) over the Group’s land and buildings and investment
properties.
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R=Z—N\F+=A=+—8 " #224,290,000
BLTZHTEEEAE-S—\E=A=+1B#
HEZTE-TF A=+ AHME B¥FEE—
R DREEEE - WLAFENFIRT B - SRITEE
LABTTEHE - BRFENER4.68% °

HE_Z-NF+-A=+—HILFE *5H
BIRITAI L AERTIRITRLE - Bt - BB
HATRITEREAEEZ BHNEENREENA

“E-NFZA-TABREANTHEAFE
DHINRER - Bt - E2UEE#R 2,547,000 8T
EEBRLAARTBERE - RZF—AF+=
A=+—8  RITEERFBA KT SILAET
FHE BRFHNERS4.82% -

RZEBE-—NAF+ZA=+—8 ' RITEENUTSI
B IRMEHAR -

(1) ZAN&E®EEM{E171,200,0008 7T (=F— N\
£ 1 165,600,000 77T) 2 T RIEF ZIEE
A (FizE46)

(2) ZANEMEBRME(ES55,800,00087C( = — )\ :
54,000,000 7T ) 2 I & ¥ 3 1E 2 /% TE 7
(MizE46) :

(3) HARAREASEETHEBARIELZ&S
PR %875 250,000,000 7T 2 #E(F

4 HEEAEEHEFRREMEZHESRHE
Bl &

(65) HEAEELWREFRRENEMERE
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35.BORROWINGS (Continued) 3B.EE @

Notes: (Continued) BisE : (48)

() BHEBRITEEE
EHEFZRTREAGEBAAIEBETHEA
A2 ETHBEEMBHBERBAAEER -
ZELABRRNES BB L 2 BRTHE - 4
REEERZ - FHERERUEEREREE -

(i)  Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)

The banking facilities of term loan is subject to the fulfillment of certain financial
and non-financial covenants relating to certain subsidiaries of the Group, which are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
was to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become repayable on
demand.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is up to the date AEETEHERLETRABR  BHEZE—
with the scheduled repayments of the loans and does not consider it probable that BERRFTEERER  EAKERRERNEEEE
the banks will exercise its discretion to demand repayment for so long as the Group MBZEERMBERAT - RITTARATBITEER

continues to meet these requirements. IEREESIE -

ERITA 2 REBIBFITEMNIRZRE R GRAAER
T R-ZB-NAFR_F-NF+_A=+—
B UERITEESEARBARE -

(i) Convertible bonds (i) AIRRRES

RZZ—+tF=A=+—H8 RNEBEETUSET
BEAI - A4 %4 350,000,000 L HZ B AT
&% ([ ATk ES ) -

RELHBE - AIRREFITRER1.2087TH)
IR B (F] T3R8 ) #3275 291,666,666 % I &
R (TA#f% ) e AR =—ZE—+FExA/\BEITAL

Subject to repayment on demand clauses which can be exercised at the banks’ sole
discretion, the above bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities as at 31st
December 2019 and 2018.

On 21st March 2017, the Group issued HKD denominated zero coupon convertible
bonds of a principal amount of HK$350,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”).

At the issue date, the Convertible Bonds can be converted into 291,666,666 shares
(the “Convertible Shares”) at the initial conversion price of HK$1.20 per share
(subject to adjustment). As a result of the bonus issue on 8th June 2017, the number

of Convertible Shares and the conversion price per share have been adjusted to & - IRAR AT AR 5 2 IR AR - AR AR AR 17
321,100,917 shares and HK$1.09 per share respectively, pursuant to the terms and H B RIRRED 5 RIFEEE 321,100,917 R R F

conditions of the Convertible Bonds. 1.09%87T °

RZZ—+FN\A-+HA HF—ZELHEE
A {74584 100,000,000 7 7T 2 A # AR fE 5
Fffi #5 2 3R R4 - DASAR1.0978 T 2 AR (B iR
TR o A £91,743, 119 @A O AL 2 K 31T
THEFFAEARAIBRRES ZASRETRE
250,000,000 7T °

BR == N\F5 A/NBBITARR (PHEE313)) -

Al A 1D 2k B B R 229,357,798 B & & 1% 1.09
ST 274,725,274 B R FRX0.91 7T ©

On 25th August 2017, one of the bondholders, exercised the conversion right
attaching to the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$100,000,000 at
conversion price of HK$1.09 per share. A total of 91,743,119 ordinary shares were
allotted and issued to the bondholder and the aggregate outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds has been reduced to HK$250,000,000.

As a result of the bonus issue on 8th June 2018 as detailed in Note 31(i), the
number of Convertible Shares and conversion price has been further adjusted from
229,357,798 shares with conversion price of HK$1.09 per share to 274,725,274 shares
with conversion price of HK$0.91 per share.

The Convertible Bonds are convertible during the period commencing from the 90th ATREFREHAIRRESERREORR
day after the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds and ending on the 5th business BEABRRESFIPE T _TF=A=-+—H
day prior to the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds on 21st March 2020 (the ([MBEFZIEA DATFE AEE B 1L BfEF T8
“Maturity Date”). Unless previously purchased or converted for Conversion Shares, the o BRIEAIRARARS SERTE BB Bl sk &R - T A
Company shall on the Maturity Date redeem the outstanding principal amount of the NARER B ER B RE B R 2 AR &R 2
Convertible Bonds together with the accrued return of 3% internal rate of return per R&FE - ERERE ZREF 3% 2 A =T

annum.

The conversion option embedded in the Convertible Bonds meet the definition of
equity instrument of the Company, and is classified as equity and included in the

B2 2t -

AR ES AR A SRR S A D REE T AN
EE - o BAERNATRRESEE - &

convertible bonds reserves. The liability component was initially recognised at its fair B IR ERR IR AR E - RRIZE AT

value and was subsequently measured at amortised cost. As at 31st December 2019,

E-RZT-NF+ZA=+—8  TBRRES

the Convertible Bonds contain two components i.e. liability and equity. BIEEERERMED

On 20th November 2019, one of the bondholders, exercised the conversion right
attaching to the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000 at
conversion price of HK$0.91 per share (the “Conversion”). A total of 21,978,022
ordinary shares were allotted and issued to the bondholder and the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds has been reduced to

HK$230,000,000.

RZZT—hGF+—A=+8 HF—ZEHEFH
AT 1784 58 20,000,000 7 7T 2 7] #2B% {5 5 BT fft
7B RE - IR 0.9 BTz R EE R T A
B (Mezd8i]) - BE1R A 3£21,978,022 R EBBRE
BERBETTZESFEAA - IRRESZAS
#8%8 TN F& = 230,000,000 7T °
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35 BORROWI NGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(ii)  Convertible bonds (Continued)

Upon the Conversion, the Group derecognised the liability component of approximately
HK$19,861,000 and transferred this amount with equity component (convertible bond
reserve) of approximately HK$888,000 into share capital and share premium with
the amount of HK$2,198,000 and approximately HK$18,551,000 respectively, using
the method in consistency with that used initially to allocate the net proceeds on the
Convertible Bonds issuance date.

The movement of liability component of the Convertible Bonds recognised in the

B.EE @

fiE - ()
(i) AR ES ()

TRZBIR % AEBLILERATRRES S
& 24 919,861,000/ 7T » BRI S ZH 2 7]
AR 15 5 76 1 49,888,000 7 7T 7 Bl E Ak A AR AR 49
2,198,000 7 7T M A A s (B BR 47 18,551,000 A 7T
Fr A7 = L9144 2 Be AT R AR B A 31T B HAFT 18 3K
EFEAMAE -

RNEEMBERRARARR  TRRES 2 AES

consolidated statement of financial position is as follows: HEEESFOT :
2019 2018
—E-hE S ANGS
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
At 1st January n—HA—H 257,425 245,182
Imputed interest expense HEF SR 11,093 12,243
Conversion of Convertible Bonds AR ES 2 ik (19,861) =
At 31st December Rt+=—BA=+—H 248,657 257,425

Imputed interest expense of the Convertible Bonds is calculated using the effective
interest method by applying effective interest rate of 4.99% per annum to the liability
component.

36. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

184

The components of deferred income tax (liabilities)/assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movement during the year
are as follows:

R EFAESS ZGEEF SR ERERERER
K4.99% EAEBMIEFE -

36. LTS
FARGETBERRARTERZELEMEH (B
&)/ BEZHD REEBT|RIT :

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T—N\F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FHAT
At 1st January ®n—HA—H (71,036) (70,706)
Tax charged to other comprehensive income BHE M2 E I ERTIE (3,176) (2,965)
Tax credited to profit or loss (Note 16) BEmst ATIE (KisE 16) 12,158 2,681
Exchange realignment ME 3 B 96 (46)
At 31st December R+=—A=+—H (61,958) (71,036)

The investments in the PRC, Thailand and the US incorporated operations give
rise to taxable temporary differences arising from the distribution of profits by
way of withholding tax.

As at 31st December 2019, no deferred income tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are
subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Thailand
and the US. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investment
in subsidiaries in Thailand and the US for which deferred income tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$303,910,000 as at 31st
December 2019 (2018: HK$214,922,000).

Annual Report 2019 & #f

RENRRE - B R KB 2 2 RIE 4 R
TRMEER  REZAEMRIZ A 5K M A
B o

RIZ-NF+-A=+—0 AEELERRN
2R N R BRI < MT B 2 R 2 AR i B AT E &
ZIEMBMERRIEASH - NAREERR - %
SMB R RN RFERAKRAIBED KA &R
RZZB-NAF+_A=+—H BERFERE
BHfBEARKREGHNEREZRSHRAR
303,910,000 7T (ZF — J\FF : 214,922,000 7
T0) WEMERRIEP ST A E -
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36. ELEFTEH =

36. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the
extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable
profits is probable. As at 31st December 2019, the Group had total tax losses
of approximately HK$16,706,000 (2018: HK$24,835,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of tax loss of approximately HK$16,706,000 (2018: HK$24,835,000) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams, of which approximately HK$11,927,000
(2018: HK$17,882,000) will expire within 1 to 5 years, approximately
HK$4,679,000 (2018: HK$6,853,000) will expire within 6 to 10 years and
HK$100,000 (2018: HK$100,000) with unlimited expiry date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority. The
movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

AR IBER iR A B IBF R A Al sL BB AR
RPERB BN T AR IR E BRIER RIELEFTER
BE RZE—NAF+ZA=+—8B ~5H
B IEEIB2 %45 16,706,0008 T (ZF— N\
£ : 24,835,000 7T ) O] AVEHE R A= F © B
A AR B T8 R SR 208 FI SRR - B 4% BL AR TE S 18
2 #16,706,00078 7L (=Z — )\ F : 24,835,000
PEIT) BERIRIEATIS A E - HH4911,927,000
BIL(=Z— )\ 17,882,000/ L) BN —=
AEANEHE - M#4,679,0008L( =T — N\
4 1 6,853,000 70) R ANETFRE B RL
100,000/ 7T (=Z — )\ £F : 100,000 It ) & %
PR

EAERKAMTIREERHEBTIRRENA
TENITHER - AZSEERABERR—HEE
BB AISTHAER - RIEMSHEE A BRI
IS B EEARES - RFER  BEMSHEE
REE (PERER IR E SR AR T

Temporary
Accelerated tax Temporary difference of
depreciation difference of  share-based
and other temporary  Revaluation intangible payment
differences  of properties assets expenses Total
R A
MEFERER EVEEr EBIAER
HthERMER WEER ERMERE EORHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT THT THT THT
At 1st January 2018 RZE-\F—F—H (1,973) (43,687) (25,046) - (70,706)
Charged to other comprehensive income BE2ENET MR - (2,965) = = (2,965)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 16) PMERERETA 148 = 1,905 628 2,681
Exchange realignment i BE 4 - (50) - (46)
At 315t December 2018 and 1st January 2019 RZE-\E+ZA=1—H
R=Z-nE-A-H (1,821) (46,652) (23.191) 628 (71,036)
Charged to other comprehensive income BEMZERETNR - (3,176) - - (3,176)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 16) RERAETA 312 - 1,904 9,942 12,158
Exchange realignment A% (26) - 115 7 96
At 31st December 2019 R=B-hn%E+-B=1+-AH (1,535) (49,828) (21,172) 10,577 (61,958)
The analysis of deferred income tax is as follows: BIEFTERR 2 AT
2019 2018
—E-hEF T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TABT
Deferred income tax assets BEMSHREE 16,341 5,384
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTSRAE (78,299) (76,420)
(61,958) (71,036)
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37.LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s

lease liabilities:

3.VHEAE

TRENAEERER B2 A OTHRRE

2019 2018
—ZE-hF —ZT—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Total minimum lease payments: RIRE SRR -
Due within one year —FRE|E 2,952 -
Due in the second to fifth years —ERFANETE 3,434 =
6,386 -
Future finance charges on lease liabilities RREEBRBEZMBER (441) =
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 5,945 -
2019 2018
—Z-hE ZTN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Present value of minimum lease payments: HEAERE -
Due within one year —FRE|H 2,709 -
Due in the second to fifth years —ERFARE 3,236 -
5,945
Less: Portion due within one year included B REERBEE TN —FA
under current liabilities B HARY B9 (2,709) =
Portion due after one year included under BEEFRBEET —F&
non-current liabilities EI| B8y 617 3,236 -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1st January 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating

leases under HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31st December 2018 has
not been restated. Details of transitions to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2(a).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash outflows for the leases

are HK$39,362,000.

186 Annual Report 2019 43R

AEBEERAEETEWERREREETBR
SREBE6 UHR-T-NAF-A—RAZ
HOESRETTHE - U ERTRBEE B &5 ER
BRSO BAKEHEZFRHERREER
B RZBE-N\F+-_A=+—HZUBEHT
BB - BEEBBMBRELERNE165E 25+
BERHTEE 2(a) ©
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company'’s share option scheme which was adopted on 8th August 2002 (the
“2002 Share Option Scheme”) was expired and a new share option scheme was
adopted by an ordinary resolution passed at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 13th March 2017 (the “2017 Share Option Scheme”).

Upon the expiry of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, no further option can be
offered thereunder but any options granted prior to such expiry but not yet
exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable.

(i) 2002 Share Option Scheme

Under the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the Directors of the Company may
grant options to eligible employees, including Directors and its subsidiaries,
to subscribe for shares in the Company. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of offer,
upon payment of HK$1 as consideration per grant. There is no general
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before
it can be exercised but the Directors of the Company are empowered to
impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any
particular option. The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Directors of the Company at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be less than
the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant of the options; (b) the average of the closing prices of
the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options; and (c) the nominal value of a
share. The 2002 Share Option Scheme expired on 7th August 2012.

38. BB IR RE T &l

ARBR =TT _F )\ A\ B RARBRRE S
BEREW ([ — T _FEEREE)) - B
AER T —EF=AT=AZERERBHAE L
BRI RREMRG ([ — 2 FERER
&) e

BN —TE_FREREABIELER - ARFET

S BRUIEZHEABARE - mATARER B ATX

R RIT IR BB A AN RN AT AR AR T ©

() =T -_FEKREE
RIE-ZT _FBEEEE - ARREERT
MEEREE (BRARRARENBARZ
) REBREABERQBRD - BRI
T FRERGERT R AR 2 AR
RIE 2 B BE - TSBBA R R EARE
M2 BBTRNZ10% - REMFERT
EMALZBRENRBZENEE - 75
BEARRNEMREZEETRNZ1%

ER LB ARE AN H B 28 KA
ZH 0 BEMEBERBEASMN UBTEAR
B - B WE—RRTEZRBEAERE AT
158 8 B I 40 ZB 5 B B AR 2 (T s 1K
B - AR R ERERENR B EAS TR
PRy - BB INEM RIEHIR - AITTER
ez R B AN R EE2ENBET
HEE R A — A ERER H A HESH 10
FB/RITE -

TEETRAAAREREE @ EF I E IR
RT=FFZ2EEE : @ BRNRBRER
H B ERE R X P 2 T (B - (b) IR B
BAER L A SR R AR 5 AR T2 F
BRHE: ROBRHEE  —TZ -8
KA EER =S ——F N\AtHER -
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(i) 2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

38. FE IR REEH &l e

188

The following table discloses details of the share options held by employees
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme and movements in such holdings

during the years ended 31st December 2019 and 2018:

0]

—EEFERESE ()

THEEBA SRR - TT R
HEZBRERRRE-T—NER-F
—NFt=AZt— B EEREHE 2
B

2019 =F-NEF
Number of options
EREHE
Exercise At 1st Granted Lapsed Exercised At 31st
price January during during during December
per share 2019 the year the year the year 2019
R=B-1§ RZB-1E
Grant date RHAH SRTEE -B-H EREL FREH EpfE t-A=1-A
19th March 2012 “EZ-“EZRthA HK$0.704 557,100 - - - 557,100
0.704 37
2nd May 2012 “2-"£3ACA HK$0.728 170,228 - - - 170,228
0.728 787
721328 - - - 721328
Weighted average exercise MEFHBRITER HKS0.710 - - - HKS0.710
price per share 0.710%7 0.710%7%
Number of options exercisable R=B-1E
at 31st December 2019 TZRA=t-H
ITRNERESE 721328
Weighted average exercise pice RZB-hE
per share of options exercisable TZR=1-H
at 31st December 2019 TENBEREN HK$0.710
MEFHSRITEE 0.710%7%
Weighted average remaining METFER 22 years
contractual life AHES 225
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-
38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued 38. IR AEET &l o)
() 2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued) () —SST-FERETSE®)
2018 —E-N\F
Number of options
BiREHA

At st Granted Lapsed Exercised Adjusted At 31st

Exercise price January during during during during December

per share 2018 the year the year the year the year 2018

RZE-N\F RIZ-N\%

BRITER —A-H Gt b ERXR ERfTR ERHEE t-A=1-H

(Note) (Note)
Grant date et (RizE) (RizE)

19th March 2012 “T_£=AthA HKS$0.704 464,253 - - - 92,847 557,100
0.704 %7

2nd May 2012 g el = HK$0.728 141,857 = = = 28,371 170,228
0.728 %7

606,110 - - - 121,218 727,328

Weighted average exercise MEFSERTEE HK$0.852 - - - HK$0.710 HK$0.710

price per share 0.852/87 071057 071057

Number of options exercisable ~ R=F—/\E

at 31st December 2018 T-A=1-H
AR ERER A 727,328
Weighted average exercise price. W=Z—/\F
per share of options tZA=t-H
exercisable at BEsE e 5 HK$0.710
315t Decerber 2018 METHBRITER 07107
Weighted average remaining ~ AIET5 % 3.2 years
contractual life BNES 328
Note: The number of outstanding share options and exercise price per share Fff%E MARITEE 2 AR ER B RERITEER
have been adjusted as a result of the 2018 Bonus Issue of the Company HE =T — \FETARERE (K=
as detailed in Note 31(i), details of the adjustments are disclosed in the 313)) - FAEFBEERAQRBHA
Company’s announcement dated 8th June 2018. T N\FRANBZAE -
The options granted on 19th March 2012 and 2nd May 2012 were vested RZZE——F=A+HhBER=ZT—=FhA
equally on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. ZHEEMERED CREEEEBNE—

FRFEDAFERHEHRE
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

190

(ii) 2017 Share Option Scheme

2017 Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 13th March
2017 and is valid and effective for a period of ten years from 13th March
2017.

The purpose of the 2017 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Company and/or its subsidiaries. The Board may,
at its discretion, grant options to any eligible employee, executive or officer
including Directors of the Company or its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares of the Company. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 Share Option
Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at 13th March 2017, the date of approval of
the adoption of the 2017 Share Option Scheme. Unless approved by the
shareholders of the Company, the total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each eligible participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of offer, upon
payment of HK$1 as consideration per grant. The Board may at its absolute
discretion impose any minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised and/or any performance targets which must be
achieved before the option can be exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Directors of the Company
at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
10 years after it has been granted.

The exercise price is determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
higher of (a) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant of the options; (b)
the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the options; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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-
38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued 38. IR AEET &l o)
(ii) 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) Z=—tFHERETE (@)
The following table discloses details of the share options held by employees TREBESERREE(RRBES)BE_T
(including Directors) under the 2017 Share Option Scheme and movements —t+FEREFEZERERREBZE_F
in such holdings during the years ended 31st December 2019 and 2018: —NEZFE-N\FT+ZA=+—HIEFE%
LA EBEE
2019 =E-hEF
Number of options
BREHE
Exercise At 1st Granted Lapsed Exercised At 31st
price January during during during December
per share 2019 the year the year the year 2019
RZB-0% R=B-h%
Grant date EHAH SRiTHE -R-B FRfEd EREH i +=R=t-A
31st March 2017 ZE-tE=fA=1-A HK$0.970 23,862,300 - (693,825) (111,375) 23,057,100
097087
28th April 2017 “Z-tEMA=T A HK$0.909 7,260,000 - - - 7,260,000
090987
13th December 2017 “E-tE+ZAt=R HK$0.867 1,665,600 - (218,400) - 1,447,200
0.867387
32,781,900 - (912,225) (111,375) 31,764,300
Weighted average exercise NETHISRTEE HK$0.951 - HK$0.945 HK$0.970 HK$0.951
price per share 0.951 %7 0.945% 7 09707 0.951 %7

Number of options exercisable ~ R=F—f1.5

at 31st December 2019 TZB=1-H
UTENERERR 15,169,510
Weighted average exercise R=B-1%
price per share of options TZB=1-H
exercisable at iTRNEREN HK$0.960
315t December 2019 METABRTER 0.960 &7
Weighted average remaining ~ MET IR 7.30 years
contractual life AHEH 1306
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 38. B AERT & )
(i) 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) = —tFBRETE 5
2018 —E-N\F
Number of options
kA
Exercise At 1st Granted Lapsed Exercised Adjusted At 31st
price January during during during during December
per share 2018 the year the year the year the year 2018
RZF-N\E RIZ-N\%
BRITER -A-H EREH ERKi ERfife ERBE T-A=T-H
(Note) (Note)
Grant date ek (fiz) (B3E)
31st March 2017 “F—+F=A=1-H HK$0.970 20,834,000 = (522,500) (544,500) 4,095,300 23,862,300
0.970%7
28th April 2017 “I—tFNA=+N\A HK$0.909 6,050,000 = = = 1,210,000 7,260,000
0.909% 7T
13th December 2017 S 2 oy HK$0.867 1,388,000 = = = 271,600 1,665,600
0.8670/87C
28,272,000 - (522,500) (544,500) 5,582,900 32,787,900
Weighted average exercise MEHIERITREE HK$1.142 = HK$1.019 HK$1.050 HK$0.951 HK$0.951
price per share 1142587 101977 10507 0.951 T 0.951 8T
Number of options RIB-N\F
exercisable at TZR=1-H
315t December 2018 AfIfRRERESE 7,971,975

Weighted average exercise RIB-N\E
price per share of options TZR=1-H

exercisable at AfTEmEREN HK$0.963
315t December 2018 METHERITER 0963757
Weighted average IETSRIER 8.20 years
remaining contractual life 2NEE 820%
Note: The number of outstanding share options and exercise price per share have Mzt : MARITHEZERESE RERITFEED
been adjusted as a result of the 2018 Bonus Issue as detailed in Note 31(i), HE =T — NFBITAMRHE3G) 1B
details of the adjustments are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated AR ARFBEERAQRARAR=T
8th June 2018. —NERANBZAL -
During the year ended 31st December 2019, there was no share options REBEE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HILFE "
granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme. WA T — - FRRET 8 TR B ARER
& o
During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Group recognised total REE-T—NF+-A=+—HIFE -
expense of approximately HK$1,731,000 (2018: HK$3,221,000) in relation AEBRGEERRTPERE_S—+F8B
to equity-settled share-based payment transactions under the 2017 Share BRIEFTEI T ARMDAER I H 2 BRAZL
Option Scheme and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 1,731,000 7 (=& — /\£ : 3,221,000
with a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve. T0) WA LARR 1 A B 2 (B AR o
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(iii) GDI Share Option Scheme

The adoption of the share option scheme (“GDI Share Option Scheme”)
of a subsidiary of the Company, Grid Dynamics International Inc. (“Grid
Dynamics”), were approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting on 21st December 2018 (the “Adoption Date”).
The GDI Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years
from 21st December 2018 or until its termination by the board of directors
of Grid Dynamics (“GDI Board"), whichever is earlier.

The purpose of the GDI Share Option Scheme is to advance the interests
of Grid Dynamics and its shareholders by providing an incentive to attract,
retain and reward persons performing services for Grid Dynamics and any
entities that Grid Dynamics designates as within Grid Dynamics, its parent
companies or subsidiaries and by motivating such persons to contribute to
the growth and profitability of Grid Dynamics.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the GDI Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of Grid Dynamics which, unless otherwise permitted under
the Listing Rules, must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Grid Dynamics’s shares in issue as at 21st December 2018, the date of
approval of the adoption of the GDI Share Option Scheme. Grid Dynamics
may seek approval by its shareholders and the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting to refresh the 10% limit such that the total number of
the Grid Dynamics’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the GDI Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of Grid Dynamics under the limit as “refreshed” shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of the Grid Dynamics's shares in issue as at
the date of approval to refresh such limit. Grid Dynamics may seek separate
approval by its shareholders and the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting for granting options beyond the 10% limit above, provided that the
options in excess of such limit are granted only to participants specifically
identified by Grid Dynamics and the Company before such approval is
sought.

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company, the aggregate
number of Grid Dynamics’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any twelve-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Grid Dynamics's shares in issue (the “Single Participant Limit”).

Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
participants and to have taken effect when the duplicate of the stock option
agreement comprising acceptance of the offer has been duly signed by the
participants within 28 days. No payment is required to accept an offer.
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

194

(iii) GDI Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The GDI Board shall have the full and final power and authority, in its
discretion, to determine any minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised and/or any performance targets which must
be achieved before an option can be exercised.

The options will be exercisable until the expiration of ten years after the
effective date of grant of such option, or such other applicable date (i.e.
no incentive stock option granted to a person who, at the time an option
is granted to such person, owns stock possessing more than ten percent of
the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Participating
Company Group, shall be exercisable after the expiration of five years after
the effective date of grant of such option, and with the exception of (i) an
option granted to an officer, a director of the Participating Company Group
(the “GDI Scheme Director”) or a consultant, a person engaged to provide
consulting or advisory services (other than as an employee or a GDI Scheme
Director) to the Participating Company Group and (ii) an option that is
exercisable based on the accomplishment of specific performance-based
milestones, no option shall become exercisable at a rate less than twenty
percent per year over a period of five years from the effective date of grant
of such option, subject to the participant’s continued service).

The exercise price for each option will be determined by the GDI Board
and shall be not less than the fair market value of a Grid Dynamics’s
share, as determined by an independent third party valuation company
engaged by Grid Dynamics, on the effective date of grant of the option.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, an option may be granted with an exercise
price lower than the minimum exercise price set forth above if such option
is granted pursuant to an assumption or substitution for another option in
a manner qualifying under the provisions of Section 424(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986. However, the exercise price of options to be granted
after the Company has resolved to seek a separate listing of Grid Dynamics
on any stock exchange and up to the listing date of Grid Dynamics must be
not lower than the new issue price (if any).
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38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (coninued) 38. BRI HERT &l )
(i) GDI Share Option Scheme (Continued) (iii) GDI B R RSt 8l ()
The following table discloses details of the share options granted by Grid N R # % Grid Dynamics #% ) GDI & & #E 5t
Dynamics under the GDI Share Option Scheme and movements in such B ERERREZE-Z—NFER=F—N
grants during the years ended 31st December 2019 and 2018: FT_A=T—HILFEZERL 228
15
2019 —ZE-hEF
Number of options
BREHE
Exercise At 1st Granted Lapsed Exercised At 31st
price January during during during December
per share 2019 the year the year the year 2019
RZB-hE RZB-NE
Grant date B AH BRTERE -A-H FREH FREN ERTE +ZA=1-H
21st December 2018 “E-\ft-A=t+-H UsD7.54 2,250,000 - - (210,000) 2,040,000
154%7
22nd May 2019 —§-hERA=1+=A USD7.54 - 20,000 - - 20,000
154%7
22nd May 2019 “E-NERLA=TZH USD7.55 - 582,339 - (15,435) 566,904
155%T
2,250,000 602,339 - (225,435) 2,626,904
Weighted average exercise ~ MEFHISRTHEE UsD7.54 USD7.55 - UsD7.54 UsD7.54
price per share 15457 155%% VAT ESS 15457
Number of options RZZ-NE
exercisable at +=A=1-8
31st December 2019 AiTENERERE 951,246
Weighted average exercise ~R=ZF—NF
price per share of options +=A=1+-H
exercisable at ATEREREN UsD7.54
31st December 2019 NELEBRITER 754 %7
Weighted average MEFHHRENER 8.99 years
remaining contractual life 8.99F
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38. BB IR HERT 8l o)
(iii) GDI B R et 81 ()

38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(iii) GDI Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2018 —E2-N\F
Number of options
FRIRESR
Exercise At 1st Granted Lapsed Exercised At 31st
price January during during during December
per share 2018 the year the year the year 2018
RZT-N\¥ RZE-N\F
Grant date =k BRITEE —A—H ERRE ERRI FNaE +=A=+—H
21st December 2018 —Z-\f+-A=1—-H USD7.54 = 2,250,000 = - 2,250,000
754%TC
Weighted average METHERITEE - USD7.54 = = USD7.54
exercise price per share 7.54%TC 754
Number of options exercisable R =F—/\F
at 31st December 2018 +=A=t+-H
A {7fER RS A 562,500
Weighted average exercise RZZ-N\F
price per share of options +=A=1+-H
exercisable at AfTRMERER UsD7.54
31st December 2018 METEERITEE 71.54% T
Weighted average remaining ~ NIEFHFIHAOFS 9.9 years
contractual life 99F

RREE-_T-NEF+-_A=+—HLEE
HRRE A BRET S - AR B EEETH
BERRE A (EBE TR - E e B
B ARBERERKR318ET - 3.38
E(ZZT—\F :2.11FT-2.21%5) °
ZEXMEZHABIRNOT

In respect of the share options granted during the year ended 31st
December 2019, the estimated fair values of the options on the dates
of grant were calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The
estimated fair values amounted to USD3.18 — USD3.38 (2018: USD2.11 —
USD2.21) per option. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Granted on

22nd May

2019

R=ZTB—IF

EA-+=-ARH

Share price at grant date A B B0 AR (B USD9.252
9.252 % T

Exercise price at grant date RIF L BERTTEE USD7.54/USD7.55
7.54% 57T, 71.55% 7T

Expected volatility TEHRIR 1R 38.70%
Option life fERR iR ER 10 years
104

Risk-free rate £ [ B 1) 2 2.38%
Expected dividend TEEAAR 2 4.0%
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38. FE IR REEH &l e

38.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(iii) GDI Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the comparable companies of Grid Dynamics for the closing share price for
the period of 10 years before the date of grant.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Group recognised total
expense of approximately HK$24,146,000 (2018: HK$19,862,000) in
relation to equity-settled share-based payment transactions under the GDI
Share Option Scheme and included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss with a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve.

39.FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(iii) GDI BB R g =t & ()

& HA R 8 Ty DA B HA AT 1 4F 23 R Grid
Dynamics Z LB A &I IR W T B 2 B 1
TBETE

REE-—Z-AE+-A=+—HIFE -
RNE BN AR A B & P HER GDI B AR =T &
TUARR D AERE S 2 #F 4924,146,000
BT (—ZF— )\ : 19,862,000/ 7T ) I 7
VARR D A B S MR AR

NBAABEERERIIRLN
cReE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fix FAxT

Convertible preferred shares and related AIAMRB SRR &R
put option (Note (a)) TERAFRH HARE (PFE (a) 61,303 =
Put option liability (Note (b)) R HAE (P (b)) 13,714 -
75,017 -

Notes:

(a)

Convertible preferred shares and related put option

On 6th May 2019, Grid Dynamics, a subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
US, entered into a subscription agreement with BGV Opportunity Fund LP (“BGV"), a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level, whereby Grid Dynamics agreed
to allot and issued 622,027 common stock (the “Common Shares”) and 622,027 Series
A preferred stock (the “Convertible Preferred Shares”) (collectively, the “Securities”)
at a total consideration of USD15,000,000 (the “Subscription”). The Subscription was
completed on 15th May 2019 (the “Date of Initial Completion”).

The significant terms of the Convertible Preferred Shares are as follows:
Voting rights

Holders of Convertible Preferred Shares shall have the right to vote at any general
meeting of Grid Dynamics on an as-converted basis, and not as a separate class, except
as required by law.

Dividend

Holders of Convertible Preferred Shares shall be entitled to payment of dividends on an
as-converted basis as and when dividends are paid on Common Shares. Such right to
dividends shall not be cumulative and no right to dividend shall accrue by reason that
no dividend was declared during a particular period, nor shall any undeclared or unpaid
dividend bear or accrue interest.
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39. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROF'T OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

198

(a)

Convertible preferred shares and related put option (Continued)
Liquidation preference

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Grid Dynamics, each
Convertible Preferred Shares shall be entitled to USD 24.1147 plus declared and unpaid
dividends (or, if greater, the amount that the Convertible Preferred Shares would receive
on an as-converted basis). The balance of any proceeds shall be distributed pro rata to
holders of Common Shares.

Conversion option

Holders of Convertible Preferred Shares shall have the option to convert Convertible
Preferred Shares to Grid Dynamics ordinary shares at an initial conversion price of USD
14.8647 per share, subject to adjustments for stock issuances, splits, combinations,
dividends, distributions, merger and reorganisation and similar events. Also subject
certain events, each of Convertible Preferred Shares shall be automatically converted
into Grid Dynamics ordinary shares at applicable conversion ratio and conversion price.

Put option on Convertible Preferred Shares granted by the Company (“Put Option on

CPS")

In connection with the Subscription, the Company, being the largest shareholder of
Grid Dynamics, granted a Put Option on CPS to BGV on the Date of Initial Completion.
In the event the Board resolves not to proceed with an initial public offering of shares in
Grid Dynamics on a stock exchange in the US (“IPO") within three years from the Date
of Initial Completion (except for non-fulfilment of applicable requirements for listing on
the part of Grid Dynamics or reasons beyond the control of the Company), BGV shall
have the right to require, within 60 days of such board resolution, the Company to
purchase all or part of the Convertible Preferred Shares then held by BGV at an amount
equal to the original subscription price plus an annual return of 20% (simple interest).
The consideration payable upon exercise of the Put Option on CPS was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between the parties having considered the historical
growth rate of Grid Dynamics. The Put Option on CPS shall terminate at the earlier of
the closing of the IPO of Grid Dynamics and the third anniversary of the date of grant
of the Put Option on CPS.

Put option on Common Shares granted by the Company (“Put Option on CS")

In connection with the Subscription, the Company granted a Put Option on CS to
BGV on the Date of Initial Completion. In the event the Board resolves not to proceed
with an initial public offering of shares in Grid Dynamics on a stock exchange in the
US within three years from the Date of Initial Completion (except for non-fulfilment
of applicable requirements for listing on the part of Grid Dynamics or reasons beyond
the control of the Company), BGV shall have the right to require, within 60 days of
such board resolution, the Company to purchase all or part of the Common Shares
then held by BGV at an amount equal to the original subscription price plus an annual
return of 20% (simple interest). The consideration payable upon exercise of the Put
Option on CS was determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties
having considered the historical growth rate of Grid Dynamics. The Put Option on CS
shall terminate at the earlier of the closing of the IPO of Grid Dynamics and the third
anniversary of the date of grant of the Put Option on CS.
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39.FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 39. Z DR BEEEBERI KLY
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) EWMEE®

The Convertible Preferred Shares is designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL and AERESEIRTIIEE AR A R BEFE BB
the put option is measured at FVTPL on initial recognition and are measured at NERAE  MRGHAERIBERRERLE
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. BEFEBEmTE  WEAREENE  MARE

E*“if),ﬁ\iéﬁ’é}ééqﬂ HER

The Convertible Preferred Shares, the Put Option on CPS and the Put Option on RARB2EHRBEEEGEMTREZ B GE
CS were valued at fair value by the Company with reference to an independent ?ﬁ’&/"ﬁfg@%%—ﬁﬁ AR E SRR - AT AR B 5 AR
valuation provided by an independent firm of professional valuers. On initial Roh B & T AR R ERRE o WA TR R
recognition, the total fair value of convertible preferred shares and related Eﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁf’i%&ﬁ ﬁﬁ R BRE I & @ AR aR h HR
put option and Put Option on CS amounted to approximately USD9,246,000 T2 N BE A #9,246,0003% 7T (HHE R4
(equivalent to approximately HK$72,565,000) and are estimated using the 72,565,000 7T) © WER A HIEE BEA RiERS
option-pricing model and equity allocation model. DEAEREI TR ©
Key valuation assumptions used to determine the fair value of the Convertible RZZE—NF+ZA=+—08 ' AREEAI#RRKR
Preferred Shares, Put Option on CPS and Put Option on CS as at 31st December BSEAR - AIARRE SEAR R A Bt I E @ AR eR a2
2019 are as follows: B2 AR BEZEEHERRET
As at
31st December
2019
R=—Z—h&F
+=A=+—A
— Volatility - K2 38.17%
— Risk free rate — fJE fa = 1.586%
— Probability of liquidation - BBz AR 10%
— Probability of redemption — fE[ElZ AT RE M 10%
— Probability of conversion - Bz A RE 80%
During the year ended 31st December 2019, there was no conversion of the HEZT-NGF+-A=+—HIEFE ' &7
Convertible Preferred Shares and no redemption of the Securities. BB LIRS - JMEERE
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40.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
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THE COMPANY

40. A =) B FEAR SR 3R

2019 2018
—g-nE T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBRT T
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE K& 140 385
Investments in subsidiaries RIBRARZIRE 428,893 1
Deferred income tax assets BEEFTS R EE 114 102
429,147 488
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HiEWEIE - 2e RIERHRIE 581 440
Amount due from immediate holding company — E IR A G Rk 1,836 1,072
Amounts due from subsidiaries {E)EENGIDSEN 472,726 895,217
Amount due from an associate —MEEE R RRK 64 64
Tax recoverable AT Bl A I8 340 416
Bank balances and cash RITGER KBS 1,453 2,125
477,000 899,334
Total assets BEE 906,147 899,822
Equity s
Share capital [ 82,731 80,522
Share premium A&7 (B AR 395,830 377,146
Reserves (Note) i (P EE) 97,526 115,110
Total equity iR 576,087 572,778
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings BE - 257,425
Current liabilities nRENEE
Other payables and accruals H e FIE R BT E 11,605 7,059
Borrowings B8 248,657 -
Amount due to ultimate holding company REAEIR A B 5RI8 86 88
Amount due to a subsidiary X —EHB A RZRIE 69,712 62,472
330,060 69,619
Total liabilities N =Li 330,060 327,044
Total equity and liabilities HiEERAE 906,147 899,822
Net current assets TENE R 146,940 829,715
Total assets less current liabilities REERREAE 576,087 830,203
Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 25th March EFeR T -TF=A-t+RHBHETRET
2020. o
WANG Weihang WANG Yueou
F#/M TEB
Director Director
= =

Annual Report 2019 & #f



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PSRRI

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

40.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40.7 2 B B AR R 3= )
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: Mzt « AARIFERZ ZEHHT
Share- Retained
Convertible based earnings/
bonds payment  (Accumulated
Special reserve reserve losses)
reserve AR BABR{B S -0 RERBA/ Total
BElfRE BHEHE X tktE (REHEX) @5t
(Note (i)
(B )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT THT THET T
At 1st January 2018 R=F—\§—A—8 95,513 11,097 4,425 8,232 119,267
Profit for the year FRmF - - - 12,924 12,924
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise TR R T LR
of share options - - (183) - (183)
Issue of ordinary shares on bonus issue BATAIRT BT SRR - = = (13,414) (13,414)
Forfeiture of unclaimed dividend SRR ERRE - - - 2 2
Recognition of equity-settled HRURD AERL T 2HAZ
share-based payments - - 3,221 - 3,221
Lapse of share options transferred BRERBANZ KNERE
to retained earnings - - (37) 37 -
Final dividend for the year ended EKEEE-_T—tF+-A=1—H
31st December 2017 EFEZ KRS = = = (6,707) (6,707)
At 31st December 2018 and R=—ZT—\&+-A=1+—H
1st January 2019 k=FT-NF—F—H 95,513 11,097 7,426 1,074 115,110
Loss for the year FREE - - - (18,391) (18,391)
Issue of ordinary shares upon TR T LR
exercise of share options - - (36) - (36)
Recognition of equity-settled BRURDRAERL 2 X
share-based payments - - 1,731 - 1,731
Lapse of share options BRERBANZ KAERE
transferred to retained earnings - - 97) 97 -
Conversion of convertible bonds AARES Bk = (888) = = (888)
At 31st December 2019 R-ZB-NF+=A=t—-H 95,513 10,209 9,024 (17,220) 97,526
(i)  The special reserve of the Company represents the difference between the (i) ARAZEFRIREERBEFEARARBR
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange for the issued share BB AR B TIRAMET 2 IRDEESE
capital of the subsidiaries and the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired Pl B AR EEFEZ5 - REAR
in prior years. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the E—NN\—F2aE(KER]) MAAE
contributed surplus shall not be distributable if there are reasonable grounds for BIEAIEIE THIEIE - RIBA RS TAH S
believing that: K -
(1) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities (1) ARRRFRMELNREEERES
as they become due; or ER R NEE X
(2) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the ) ARREEZAIEREBEHEMIRE
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium BEREBETRAARBRDRERZ
account. FERI
(i)  Asat 31st December 2019, in the opinion of the directors, the aggregate amount i) RZZE-—NLF+ZA=+—HH EFR
of reserves available for distribution to equity holders of the Company was 7" IESIRTARRRAFTEAZREE
approximately HK$78,293,000 (2018: HK$96,587,000). 48 %8 #) 578,293,000 T ( =T — )\ &

96,587,000/87T) °
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

41.CASH FLOW INFORMATION NBEETREEH
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) REEBZREWA
2019 2018
—Z-hFE —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Profit before income tax R PS5 Bl g A 139,381 127,335
Adjustments for: R
— Share of results of associates (Note 22) - FE(GE & A R AR (7R 22) 8,287 5,428
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 21) - B AESHE (MEE21) 15,623 11,057
— Depreciation of property, plant and - - WBERRETE
equipment (Note 19) (PfF5E19) 30,399 20,906
— Loss on disposal of property, plant and - HEWE  BERZEZ
equipment (Note 9) B8 (FI5E9) 6 22
— Loss on disposal of intangible assets -HEEREEZER - 30
— Impairment loss on interests in associates - B N AR RERE
(Note 22) (HfizE22) - 11,900
— Fair value gain on revaluation of investment - BMREMEZ AR EE
properties (Note 20) Weas (Bt 20) (1,800) (1,700)
— (Reversal of)/Provision for obsolete -REGFE (BR) BEZFE
inventories, net (Note 12) (f7E12) (67) 43
— Interest income (Note 8) — A B (FF7E8) (1,901) (785)
— Interest expenses (Note 11) - R B (F=E11) 23,734 22,726
— Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  — AN BERE L M2 FHX 25,877 23,083
— Provision for impairment - BB S5 BRI E R
of trade receivables (Note 26) (PftE 26) 296 4,254
— Provision for impairment — H e IE 2 R ERE
of other receivables (Note 12) (Mg3E12) - 832
— Bad debt expenses (Note 12) - R E (FEE12) - 14
— Reversal of provision for impairment of - BUWE 5B R E R
trade receivables (Note 26) (FfzE26) (3,268) (289)
— Professional fees related to equity transactions - JX#EXX 5 18R 2 BEE A 14,377 -
— Write off of inventories (Note 12) - FEME (FE12) 243 98
— Changes in fair value on contingent - ERNSAREBZ AR EBEES)
consideration payable (Note 6(d)) (M5 6(d)) 921 3,093
— Changes in fair value on financial -BARBEEBRERIIGNEMAE
liabilities at FVTPL (Note 6(d)) Z A EEEE (I 6(d) 1,861 =
Changes in working capital: EBEESEE
— Inventories -FE (89,519) (50,653)
— Trade receivables - [EUE 5 50E (26,162) (41,469)
— Finance lease receivables - ER R E R ERIE (3.201) 2,443
— Other receivables, deposits - EtEWFIE - Re Rk
and prepayments TERRRIE (26,198) (4,838)
— Contract assets -BREE (101,827) (56,023)
— Restricted bank deposits — SR BRI TR 206 3,388
— Trade payables - ENE 5 k1E 103,043 81,069
— Other payables and accruals - Hh e IR R BT B A 41,859 18,508
— Receipts in advance - Al 45,676 5,019
Cash generated from operations KBTS 2 BN 197,846 185,491
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

NIREREER @
(b) ETEEENEBNYE

41.CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

TREJIBE-ZT-NEFR_ZT-NF+=

A=t+—RHIFERERDEENAENE

The table below set out the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities for the ended 31st December 2019 and 2018:

Financial
Bank  Convertible Lease liabilities
borrowings bonds liabilities at FVTPL Total
RAREEE
ik =Eng
RITEE RRES HEEE HemaE st
(Note)
(Bl =)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT T FAT
At 1st January 2018 R=Z—/\F—R—H 247,927 245,182 - - 493,109
Cash flows Henme
~ Repayment of bank borrowings - ERFTEE (25,000) - - - (25,000)
- Interest paid - BRFIE (9,044) - = - (9,044)
Non-cash changes IR EH
~ Finance costs (Note 11) - B (Bt 11) 10,436 12,243 = = 22,679
At 31st December 2018 RZZ-\F+=-HA=+—H 224,319 257,425 - - 481,744
Impact on initial application BAREREBMEREER
of HKFRS 16 (Note 2(a)) F165% 272 (M5t 20)) - - 5,565 - 5,565
At 1t January 2019 (adjusted) R-Z-NE—F—B(EHE) 24319 257,425 5,565 - 487,309
Cash flows Reng
— Repayment of bank borrowings - BERITEE (33,750) - - - (33,750)
— Interest paid - BFE (11,571) - - - (11,571)
— Proceeds from issuance -BITRARBEERER
of financial liabilities at FVTPL SRR SR A B2 TSR - - - 72,565 72,565
— Principal portion of lease payments - HE[ZA L 5 - - (5,361) - (5,361)
— Interest portion - HERFFSEM (FFE11)
of lease payments (Note 11) - - (347) - (347)
Non-cash changes FReEH
— Finance costs (Note 11) - BRAAR (FifsE11) 12,142 11,093 347 - 23,582
— Entering into new leases (Note 19) - IMAFTE (HizE19) - - 5,741 - 5,741
— Conversion of convertible bonds - B A2 RES - (19,861) - = (19,861)
~ Fair value changes recognised - RE&ERZ AR BEEEY
in profit or loss - - - 1,861 1,861
— Exchange difference -ERER - - - 591 591
At 31st December 2019 R-ZE-hF+=-B=+-H 191,140 248,657 5,945 75,017 520,759
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

Do ~— IpT~ A '\ [
41.CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) NBEETREER
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) RIEETHELNEBNHEHER®
activities (Continued)
Note: B &E
The following table shows the breakdown of the bank borrowings and interest payable T:?é%iéﬂjﬁé‘:?*ni&:;ﬁ*)\iJr:H =t—HiR
as at 31st December 2019 and 2018: e R REMFIE 2R :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Bank borrowings (Note 35(i) RITIEE (MI7E 35()) 191,113 224,290
Interest payable (included in other JERIAILE (BIEFEE A BRI
payables and accruals) RIEFTERA) 27 29
191,140 224,319
=
42.LEASE COMMITMENTS 0. HERE
As lessee ERAEA
At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term leases (2018: total R|EHRE, RPEE 2 BEAE(ZF—N
future minimum lease payments payable by the Group under non-cancellable F - A EREA AR & RO 2 R EM
operating leases) are as follows: KB BEALE) T -
2019 2018
—E-REF —ZT-N\F
Office Office Office Office
premises equipment premises equipment
WAEYE WNERE EEYNEL ) E S ENES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHExT FHET FHET
Within one year —FRN 10,882 38 19,574 316
Later than 1 year and not —FEEREFA
later than 5 years - - 2,077 46
Later than 5 years hFE - - - 7
10,882 38 21,651 369
Other than as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2019, the Group had BREMBEAIN RZFE—NAFTZA=1+—
committed to a lease for premises in which the lease had not yet commenced. H ANEEERHAEHRFG 2 HAEYERS
The total future cash outflows for this leases amounting to HK$7,069,000 in RIH) o ZHE Z RRARIBE R A7,069,000 7
aggregate. JC °
As at 31st December 2019, leases for office premises, staff quarter and computer RZZBE-—NF+ZA=+—H BRAEWE "
equipment are negotiated for an average term of one year (2018: one to five BETIEEREMREBLN TR —FHER—
years) and the rentals are fixed over the terms of the leases. K(ZZE—N\F: —Z27F) HELPHEORER
B
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

== o=
42.LEASE COMMITMENTS (continved 2. FBEHAE
As lessor fEREEA
At 31st December 2019, the Group had contracted with tenants and an associate RZZBE-—NF+ZA=+—0  AEBEHHD
in respect of office premises under operating leases as follows: Xy E Sl b ol=i Sl Sl NCIEIF o) U]
™
2019 2018
—E-hF AN
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Not later than one year —FRA 3,818 4,716
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FERAFA - 4,304
3,818 9,020
Leases for office premises are negotiated for an average term of two years (2018: MAEMEZRHFEHEMEFE —X(ZE
one to five years) and the rentals are fixed over the terms of the leases. —N\E: —Z=1F)  r HERBEHABEE -
43.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 43. B AR
2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contracted but not provided for: EEEEER -
Capital expenditure in respect of property, M - BEREHEERNFY
plant and equipment 240 654
Capital expenditure in respect of investment EanTAZREZARRARZ
in equity instrument 10,596 10,816
10,836 11,470
—_— =1 ZN £
44.DISPOSAL OF PARTIAL INTERESTS IN A 4. HER—REKMEARHD#
3z
SUBSIDIARY
(a) Disposal of partial equity interest in Grid Dynamics (a) H% Grid Dynamics 357 IR HERE 2
During the year ended 31st December 2019, GDD International Holdings BE_Z-—hAFt+-A=1t—HLFE " K
Limited (“GDD"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, disposed SEz—H2EHNE /AT GDD International
342,500 and 82,936 common stock of equity interest in Grid Dynamics to Holdings Limited ([ GDD.) [a]— 44 Grid Dynamics
a director of Grid Dynamics and a company controlled by a director of Grid ¥ £ &k — A B Grid Dynamics #E 5 £ 4l
Dynamics at a consideration of USD2,055,000 (equivalent to approximately Z A Al 5 Al i 342,500 8% K 82,936 %
HK$16,117,000) and USD1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately Grid DynamicsE Bk E = KE D 5l B
HK$7,844,000), respectively. 2,055,000 & 7T (A& 7247 16,117,000 % 7T.)
%2.1,000,000% 7T ( 18 & 7 497,844,000
JT) °
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R PSRRI

—NF+=ZA=+—HLFE

44.DISPOSAL OF PARTIAL INTERESTS IN A 44, tHEEA 2 Fft B 1 B EB 0 #E

SU BS' DlARY (Continued)

(b) Issuance of Common Shares of Grid Dynamics

As disclosed in Note 39, during the year ended 31st December 2019, Grid
Dynamics issued 622,027 Common Shares to BGV, which represents 4.93%
of the enlarged issued share capital of Grid Dynamics.

(9]

Exercise of share options of Grid Dynamics

During the year ended 31st December 2019, an employee and a director
of Grid Dynamics exercised 64,410 and 161,025 share options of Grid
Dynamics respectively, and resulted in the issuance of 225,435 common
stock of Grid Dynamics, which represents 1.75% of the enlarged issued
share capital of Grid Dynamics.

Upon completion of the above transactions, the Group’s shareholdings in Grid
Dynamics was diluted to 90.09% without losing control over Grid Dynamics,
accordingly the above transactions were accounted for as transactions with
owner with an increase in non-controlling interests.

45.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st December 2019, the Group had approximately HK$556,000 (2018:
HK$726,000) restricted bank deposit held as security for performance bonds. As
at 31st December 2019, performance bonds of approximately HK$85,878,000
(2018: HK$68,536,000) have been issued by the bank on behalf of the Group to
customers as security of contracts.

46.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

206

As at 31st December 2019, land and buildings with carrying amount of
HK$171,200,000 (2018: HK$165,600,000) (Note 19) and investment properties
with carrying amount of HK$55,800,000 (2018: HK$54,000,000) (Note 20) were
pledged to secure the Group’s bank borrowings.

As at 31st December 2019, the Group’s restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$556,000 (2018: HK$762,000) were pledged to secure the performance
bonds of the Group (Note 30).

Annual Report 2019 & #f
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ﬁﬁ(ii)
(b) 31T Grid Dynamics & i@ %
BERKE3 BE_T—-LE+=A

=+—H 1% E  Grid Dynamics @ BGV %
77622,027 % E i@ AR + 14 Grid Dynamics 4§
BAREETTRAMN4.93% -

171 Grid Dynamics & & #&

HE-Z-NF+-_A=+—HILtFE "
Grid DynamicsZ — & {EE R —BEE 5 Al
17 1£64,41019 % 161,02517 Grid Dynamics
BENRAE - BEE417 225,435 8% Grid Dynamics
@A + {5 Grid Dynamics & & K 1% B 31T
FRANEY 1.75% ©

SEAK £l A 5 1% 7N & E 5 Grid Dynamics 2
R = #58 £90.09% + M I & K X ¥ Grid
Dynamics Z 24 o Btk - i3 57051 8R R
INIEER RS 2 R R 5 -

HAREE

RZZE—NAF+—A=+—8 XEBZZREH
#RIT1F A 556,000 48 7T (= F — /\ 4 : 726,000
BIT)EREBARBZER - RZZT—hF
TZRA=1+—H  RIORERAERGE TEFIER
BRI 2 BAIRE 45 85,878,000 7L (=F
—/\4F : 68,536,000/ 7T) °

BEEEH

—NFE+ZA=+—8 ' AE@MZ LT
MEFZHREE 4% 5171,200,0008 T( ==
— /4 : 165,600,000 7) (FizE19) RI&E Y
¥ 7 BRI < %5 55,800,0008 0 (=T — /\F :
54,000,000 7T) (Mi7E20) B AIEALE 2 R1T
BB 2

T—NE+_A=+—8  AEBZZREH
%Eﬁ?(‘ K #7556,0007% 7T (ZZF—/\F : 762,000
BT DRAEREB 2 BHRE Z KB
30) °
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

47.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31st December 2019, Hong Kong Teamsun owns 55.03% (2018: 56.54%)
of the Company’s issued shares. The remaining 44.97% (2018: 43.46%) of the
Company’s issued shares are widely held. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is Teamsun.

(a) Transactions with related parties

41.BEEAETRS

R-ZZE—hAE+_A=1+—8 EBEBX
KEBARNRARMD 255.03% (=T — /\F:
56.54%) ' #2 N 44.97% (ZF—)\F : 43.46%)
RN R EMATFIEE - AR RISKRERAR A
FERER o

(a) HRABEA T ZXR 5

2019 2018
—2-NEF —T—\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Nature of transaction REME
Ultimate holding company: BARERAT :
Expenses charged to the Group AEEL T ZHAX - 90
Fellow subsidiaries: ERKMEAR :
Service fee charged to the Group* AEEZ BRI ER * 78 244
The associates: BERT
Sales by the Group AEBEHEE 2,034 3,281
Purchases by the Group AEERE 9,159 4,170
Staff costs charged by the Group AEEFWRZEIFAY 92 123
Rental income charged by the Group AEEFKZHSKWA 377 367

Sale and purchase of goods and services are transacted at normal
commercial terms that are consistently applied to all customers and vendors.

Rental income was transacted with reference to the rental rates prevailing in
the market.

(b) The Group’s balances with related parties are set out in Notes 28 and 33.

(c) Key management personnel remuneration are disclosed in Notes 14 and 15.

Note:

* The related party transactions in respect of service fee charged to the Group by
fellow subsidiary above constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the directors’ report.

EmkRiGERRMETPRERX —RER
ZIERRARGERETRS °

HEWATIZEMSERNBESKTEE

(b) 7% BEREE A L+ 2 f A AE RS F 5T 28
K33

(c) FEBBASMESIRMTE14 K% 15 AHE -

* BAKEXNRANBARREE 2 ERBAEA
IRGERAERSFFEMERS (EER LT
FAIF14AE) - LHRBIFE AAEMREZKE
RESGREHHML -
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE —T—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

48.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES B.ETENB AT ZFE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st December 2019 and RZE-NERZZT—N\F+ZA=+—H ' &
2018 are as follows: DRl ZEENBARIFREMT

Country/place of

incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
establishment  paid share capital/ issued share
and operation registered capital capital held
ML L ERTR by the Company
Name of subsidiary kg HERAK NG E Principal activities
) YNGR EEE: HfER ERTREBEI TEXEH
2019 2018

—2-nE —T-N\F

Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding, sale of computer
BERL(B8) BRAH 5 55,350,000 non- products and solutions and provision
voting deferred shares” of hardware services (including

HK$55,350,002 installation and maintenance services)

2 Bk and software services (including

55,350,000 % software development, consulting

ERERETER" and professional services)

55,350,002 7T REER HEBRERRMRATR

RARGIEH RS (BRELERRE
BRAS) BBk BRs (B HERF R 3

BERREERS)

ELM Computer Technologies Limited Hong Kong 12,000,000 100% 100% Sale of computer products and
MM EREHRER AR B ordinary shares solutions and provision of hardware
HK$12,000,000 services (including installation and

12,000,000 fx maintenance services) and software

ik services (including software

12,000,000 87T development, consulting and

professional services)

HEBNER KBRS RRIEM
B RS (BERERRERSE) &
R (BHERERE - BEER

BER)

ASL Softwing Investment Holdings Hong Kong 10 ordinary shares 100%* 100%* Investment holding

Limited B HK$10 REER
BB EERERAA 10 A B Ak
10747T
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For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE—T—NF+_A=+—HILFE

48.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 48.FEMIB AT Z&EEw

(Continued)

—E-hEER=TE-N\EFE+=ZA=t+—H ' &
Al EEMBARGHEOT « (&)

A

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st December 2019 and

P14

2018 are as follows: (Continued)

Country/place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully

Percentage of

establishment  paid share capital/ issued share
and operation registered capital capital held
SR, B L EBITR by the Company
Name of subsidiary kg2 HERAE AT i Principal activities
) PNGTEE EX/ 2 EMER BRTREESE TEEHR
2019 2018
“E-hEFE ZTN\F

CSA Automated (Macau) Limited Macau Registered capital 100% 100%  Investment holding, sale of computer
BE R ORF) AR AR JRP MOP$ 10,000 products and solutions and provision
AE R of hardware services (including
BP9 10,000 7T installation and maintenance services)
and software services (including
software development, consulting
and professional services)
RERR  SHEBRERRBATR
R R (BELRERRE
AR ) SRR AR TS (B AR R 2
e )
ASL Automated (Thailand) Thailand 1,110,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding, sale of computer
Limited RE shares products and solutions and provision
THB50,000,000 of hardware services (including
1,110,000 A% & &R installation and maintenance services)
Z=#% 50,000,000 7T and software services (including
software development, consulting
and professional services)
RERR  SHEBRERRBATR
R R (BELRERRE
AR ) SRR AR S (B FERN R 2
ES S )
Guangzhou Automated Systems PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Sale of computer products and
Limited (Note 1) s HK$40,000,000 solutions and provision of hardware
BENREEEEERRERAH AR services (including installation and

(FFEE1)

40,000,000 87T

Automated Systems Holdings Limited & E) R 4t E AR A ]

maintenance services) and software
services (including software
development, consulting and
professional services)

THE BIMER KBRS R RIRME
BEHART (B R R RIRERTS) &
IR (RAER % - BRI R
BER)
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48.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES

210

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st December 2019 and ®n

DAz EEZMBARFEOT : (&)

2018 are as follows: (Continued)

Country/place of
incorporation/

Issued and fully

Percentage of

B.ETEMB AR ZFHE @

E-NER-Z-N\F+_A=+—RB" &

=

establishment  paid share capital/ issued share
and operation registered capital capital held
S AR, B L EBITR by the Company
Name of subsidiary kg2 HERE A s Principal activities
) PNGTEE R/t EMEAR EBRITRAEDL TEEH
2019 2018
—B-hE —T)\&F
ASL Security Solutions Limited Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%* Investment holding
HEES HK$0.1 REER
1REER
0.1787T
ASL Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands* 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%*  Investment holding, sale of computer
KBRS usD1 products and solutions and provision
1 B B A% of hardware services (including
E installation and maintenance services)
and software services (including
software development, consulting
and professional services)
REZR - HEBRKERRBATR
RIREEH RS (BELERRE
RS Rt PR 7S (BB R 2
BERREERE)
ELM Technologies Holdings British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%* Investment holding
Limited HEERAS usD1 REZER
1 IR AL
(E
Express Success Limited British Virgin Islands 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%* Property holding
BRI UsD2 MERE
2R
2ETT
Express Returns Limited British Virgin Islands* 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%* Property holding
KRELES usD2 ESSEC]
2REER
2ET
Express Profits British Virgin Islands* 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%* Property holding
Development Limited KBRS usD2 MERE
2R AR
2ETT
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48.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 48.FEMIB AT Z&EEw

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st December 2019 and

2018 are as follows: (Continued)

Country/place of
incorporation/

Issued and fully

P14

A

Percentage of

“ENERZF-\F+TZA=t—H &
Az EBMBARFEIT « ()

establishment  paid share capital/ issued share
and operation registered capital capital held
SR, B L EBITR by the Company
Name of subsidiary kg2 HERAE AT i Principal activities
o) PN BR/ EMER ERITRAEDL TEEHR
2019 2018
“BE-hE —T)\&
Automated Systems Fortune British Virgin Islands* 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%* Investment holding, international
Investment Holdings Limited HEELHS usD1 trading, fund investment and
1IREER treasury management
(E REZR  BERES  EeRER
EoEE
GDB International Investment British Virgin Islands 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%* Investment holding
Limited KBRS USD54,650,001 REER
(Note 2) (Fffz£2) 2R
54,650,001 37T
GDD International Holding US 100 common stocks 100% 100% Investment holding
Company xB USD54,650,100 REZER
100 AR A%
54,650,100 % 7T
Grid Dynamics US 12,847,462 common 90.09% 100% Provision of service in Information
(Note 3) (Ff{z£3) el stocks technology (“IT") engineering
UsDs, 117,128 ER ([EARE ) Ti2RR%
12,847,462 3 & A%
8,117,128 % T
Grid Dynamics DOO Beograd Serbia Registered capital 90.09% 100% Provision of service in computer
— Novi Beograd ERMED RSD30,000 programming
A E AR BRTERS
30,000 Ef#ED
FWm
Tonomi, Inc. US 1,000 common stocks N/A 100% Provision of service in IT engineering
(Note 4) (FfizE4) E 35 USD1,948,585 TEA BB TR RS
1,000 & &R
1,948,585 T
Limited Liability Company Russia Registered capital 90.09% 100% Provision of service in software
“Grid Dynamics Russia” AT RUB10,000 development, consulting and
AR relating professional service
10,000 i Z& &y R - BREREEEERE
B
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48.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 48. EEMBE AR Z2#F1E @

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st December 2019 and RZZ-NFERZF-—N\F+=ZA=+—H &
2018 are as follows: (Continued) REIZ EZMBARFELT : (&)

Country/place of

incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
establishment  paid share capital/ issued share
and operation registered capital capital held
S AR, B L EBITR by the Company
Name of subsidiary kg2 HERE A s Principal activities
) PNGTEE R/t EMEAR EBRITRAEDL TEEH
2019 2018

ZE-RF ZT)\F

Grid Dynamics Poland Spétka z Poland 100 ordinary shares 90.09% 100% Provision of service in software
ograniczong odpowiedzialnoscig it PLN5,000 development, consulting and
100 AR i A% relating professional service
5,000 X H ZZ 717 RMFE - BERBEERRY
Limited liability Company Ukraine Registered capital 90.09% 100% Provision of service in software
“Grid Dynamics Ukraine” Bni UAH2,500 development, consulting and
AR relating professional service
2,500 HFE - R RABR S E R

SR BEE R
Limited Liability Company Ukraine Registered capital 90.09% 100% Provision of service in software
"Cometera Ukraine” 5n UAH1,000 development, consulting and
AR relating professional service
1,000 R - BRRAEREERY

ERBREXMN
Limited Liability Company Ukraine Registered capital 90.09% 100% Provision of service and support
“GD Ukraine” == | UAH1,000 on behalf of Grid Dynamics
AR and its customers
1,000 &7 H R Grid Dynamics R £ &P
IRERM REPRIB RS IR
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48.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 48.FEMIB AT Z&EEw

(Continued)

Notes:

1. Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited was registered in the PRC as a wholly foreign-
owned enterprise.

2. During the year ended 31st December 2019, GDB International Investment Limited

issued 1 new ordinary share at USD54,650,000.

3. During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Group disposed partial interest in Grid
Dynamics. For details, please refer to Note 44.

4. Tonomi, Inc. was liquidated on 5th March 2019.

The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the Company, carry practically

no rights to dividends nor to receive notice of nor to attend or vote at any general

meeting of the Company nor to participate in any distribution on winding up.

# These companies operate in Hong Kong.

* Subsidiaries held directly by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,

principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the reporting period.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited & E) R 4t E AR A ]

B

=

BENDREXIEE SRHRER A RN & B A5
BBER -

2. BUE-—ZT-—h&E+-_A=+—BL4%E " GDB
International Investment Limited A 54,650,000 3
TCEAT 1 RS -

3. HUEZT-AF+-A=+—HILLEE FT&£E
i & Grid Dynamics 5 5 # 2= © ¥ 1B E 2 B KT &
44 o

4. Tonomi, Inc R=ZZ—NF=ARBEHE -

f EBRERETERYIERALARRFE - EBENRTS
ZERE - WRAARMEMRREASHESE R
FERAGTARE LRE - 2EERREDEMA
DIRE) B AER] o

o BRERRREBEE o

*  ARREERAZMEBAR -

BEREA ERAVIARANMBAREEXERFE

EESERAEEEEFENERRD - EFERRET
HMERARNFESBBERITE

RAFREER - HENBRRETEANERES -
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49.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

214

(i) Completion of the disposal and spin-off of Grid

Dynamics

On 13th November 2019, the Company, Grid Dynamics, ChaSerg Technology
Acquisition Corp. (“ChaSerg”), CS Merger Sub 1 Inc. and CS Merger Sub 2 LLC entered
into a conditional merger agreement in relation to the mergers. The transactions
contemplated under the merger agreement involving the acquisition of Grid Dynamics
by ChaSerg, a special purpose acquisition company the shares of which are listed on
Nasdag, are effectively an injection of Grid Dynamics in exchange for cash and equity
interest in ChaSerg and thereby effecting the separate listing of Grid Dynamics on
Nasdaq.

On 5th March 2020 (pacific time), the Group has completed the disposal and spin-off
of Grid Dynamics (the “Completion”). Upon Completion, Grid Dynamics has effectively
become a wholly owned subsidiary of Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc. (“GDH", formerly
known as ChaSerg) and Grid Dynamics is effectively listed on Nasdaq (ticker symbol
of GDH: GDYN). Immediately upon Completion, the Company was interested in
approximately 38.3% of the issued share capital of GDH as at the date of Completion,
being the single largest shareholder of GDH, and was entitled to appoint up to two
directors to the board of GDH. As a result, Grid Dynamics is no longer a subsidiary of
the Company, the Company’s interest in GDH is treated as interest in an associate and
accounted for using equity method. Details of which are as set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13th November 2019, the circular of the Company dated 31st
December 2019 and the announcement of the Company dated 8th March 2020,
respectively.

(ii) Redemption of convertible bonds

On 23rd March 2020, the Group has made full redemption of outstanding principal
amount of the Convertible Bonds of HK$230,000,000 with accrued interests (Note
35(ii)) (“Full redemption”). Upon the completion of the Full Redemption, no Convertible
Bonds remain outstanding.

(iii) Proposed final dividend and special dividend

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Directors proposed to declare a final dividend of
3.0 HK cent per share for the year ended 31st December 2019 and a special dividend
of 7.3 HK cents per share (Note 17).

(iv) Outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease

The outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19") since early 2020 has posed
a tremendous challenge to the overall global economy. The Group has been closely
monitoring the impact of the development of COVID-19 on the Group’s businesses
and services to customers. As of this stage, the Group’s business and operations remain
broadly normal. There may be adverse effect on the subsequent financial performance,
depending on the development of COVID-19 and its impact on the economic
conditions. The Group will closely monitor the situation and, to the extent applicable,
taking proactive actions to minimize the impact of COVID-19.
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49. HEMERER

0]

(i)

Kb EEE KD FGrid

Dynamics

RZZE-—AF+—-—A+=H AA7 " Grd
Dynamics * ChaSerg Technology Acquisition Corp.
([ChaSerg]) * CS Merger Sub 1 Inc. & CS Merger
Sub 2 LLCREA BFETHAT LB IR & Otk - 1R
1A Ot BE1T 2 X 5% ChaSerg (— a7 B
WKE AR ERMHEMNETER ) KW Grid
Dynamics * & £ A0F A Grid Dynamics SAIRELR
% Iz ChaSerg 2 iR # - #11 < Grid Dynamics 7£ 4%
HEREE k-

RZZ-ZEF=ARB(XFFER)  K&EBT
BREEEE RS Grid Dynamics ([ D #F 7R L) °
AHFFERIE ¢ Grid Dynamics 5K 4 Grid Dynamics
Holdings, Inc. ((GDH]J + Al ## ChaSerg) 2 & & B
& A &) & Grid Dynamics E £ 49 i 52 _+ 1 (GDH
ZBRERIER [GDYN]) - ZEED KL - AR
AR GDHR TERK B HiE B 1TARA4X138.3% * &
GDH 2 B—HARK - REEEEGDHEEE 2
BZMAES ° B 0 Grid Dynamics N HEEARA
AIEHIE A R] + AR A GDH Z #Eas & 1 R (el
EAEE R WIREREAR - A ERSFFIE -
A2ERRRIBRS AT —NF+—A+=
AZRE  ZE—NWF+-A=+t—HzZRARAK
ZECTF=ANBHZRAE -

RE ARk ES

R-ZE-TE-A—+=R, AEBZREERL K
fE [ 7K 4584 230,000,000 7T 2 A # f (& 558
B FEET LS (Bt e 35G1) ([FREHER] ) - B ER
TERK & - BEERTIARRE S AR IEEE o

(iii) BRI R B R 45 B IR B

RBERR  EFERRNBE_T-NF+=
A=+—BLEFESK3.0BIIz RBAKRE KGR
7382 FRIAR S (FEE17) ©

(iv) 37 B AR 0 55 R 3%

HATEARFES ([COVID-19])) B =T =T F1IEH
AR - EABRBEREESRERKE - ~5E
EFYIERCOVID-19 2 BEREAEEZ EHRE
FRHBzZHE - BRER  AEEZEBEREED
REIEH ° {828 COVID-19 MR I B #4807 AR
R EMTE - HAls BRI RIBIERT
FFE -  AEBMBFYERGHAMNR - SWEBB
&R T ERERE BN HE#E COVID-19 FrAs 2RV S22
E&IK -



Particulars of Investment Properties

REVFF1E

For the year ended 31st December 2019 BE T —NF+_A=+—HILtFE

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties at 31st December 2019 are as follows: WRZZT—NF+_A=+—H  AEBEZKEWEF
BT -

Location Gross floor area (sq.ft) Use

1 BERRCFAR) A%

Units 1 to 7 and 15 to 21 on 12th Floor 11,744 sq.ft Commercial
Topsail Plaza 11,744 FHR [EES
11 On Sum Street

Shatin

New Territories

Hong Kong

BB

R

A

ZIHET 11 5E

E|EES

12B1ZTHRKRISE215RER

Car parking space No. P4 on Ground Floor 125 sq.ft Commercial
Topsail Plaza 125 FAR [EES
11 On Sum Street

Shatin

New Territories

Hong Kong

BB

R

WH

LB 11 5

E|EES

N P4 EEL
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Automated Systems Holdings Limited — Information of
Major Subsidiaries, Associates and Relevant Centers

BHFAEBERAT - ZHE - BEQARBET LN

HONG KONG

Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

ELM Computer Technologies Limited
16/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2541 9900

Fax: (852) 2541 1338

i-Sprint Innovations (HK) Limited
Room 6-7, 10/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2608 6226

Fax: (852) 2645 8069

Automated Center of Excellence (ACoE)
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

Service Center

15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

Security Operation Center Plus (SOC+)
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936
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&E
BEIRG (BB BRAR
HEMADH

ZIOE 1158

#|EES 1518

3% 1 (852) 2601 6998
fBE : (852) 2601 6936

M ESEHL AR A A
EEMALH
20115

E|EES 1612

B3 1 (852) 2541 9900
fEH : (852) 2541 1338

ZilFE (B8) RHRAR AR
EEMADHE

ZOE 115
EEES1086-7E

B ¢ (852) 2608 6226
{8H : (852) 2645 8069

BB ZF A0 (ACOE)
HEMADH

ZIOE 1158

#E|EES 1518

3% 1 (852) 2601 6998
{EH : (852) 2601 6936

BRAG L
EEMALH

2 1155

E|EES 1512

3% 1 (852) 2601 6998
fEH : (852) 2601 6936

Z2EER L+ (SOCH+)
EEMADE

ZOE 115

E|EES 1512

3% 1 (852) 2601 6998
f8H : (852) 2601 6936
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MAINLAND CHINA

Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited
Unit 1402A, 1403A

No.185 Yuexiu South Road

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou, China
(Postal Code: 510100)

Tel: (86) 20 2203 8111

Fax: (86) 20 2203 8000

Offshore Delivery Excellence Center (ODEC)
Unit 1402A, 1403A

No.185 Yuexiu South Road

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou, China

(Postal Code: 510100)

Tel: (86) 20 2203 8111

Fax: (86) 20 2203 8000

Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited
Unit A17, 3 Floor

Unit AO5, BO8, AO1, 5 Floor

Daxin Building

No. 604-2, Renmin North Road

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou, China
(Postal Code: 510180)

Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited

P E A it

BINREZEE SRR AR AR
P E M TS R

IS 1859

1402A ~ 1403A BT

(B34 : 510100)

3% 1 (86) 20 2203 8111

fEH : (86) 20 2203 8000

YBHNE AT A0 (ODEC)
B E M T TS @
M 185 %%

1402A  1403A BT
(#B4% : 510100)

3% 1 (86) 202203 8111
{EH : (86) 20 2203 8000

BNMRBEERE SR AR AR

PR EMN TS @

AR 604-2 5%

3IEA17 BTS2 A0S ~ BOS « A0T BT
(Ep4% : 510180)

BIMRESRESREERAR

Unit 913A PEEATEER
F2 Building SCETEE 27 5%
Luguyuyuan, No.27 Wenxuan Road BAGREF2ERI13AE T

Yuelu District, Changsha, China
(Postal Code: 410000

Beijing i-Sprint Technology Ltd

Room A 0909 Shougang International Tower
No. 60 Xizhimen North Street

Haidian District, Beijing, China

(Postal Code: 100082)

Tel: (86) 10 8273 6009

i-Sprint Innovations (Beijing) Ltd

Room A 0909 Shougang International Tower
No. 60 Xizhimen North Street

Haidian District, Beijing, China

(Postal Code: 100082)

Tel: (86) 10 8273 6009

i-Sprint Innovations China (Zhuhai, CoE)
4/F, Block B-2

Southern Software Park

No.1 Software Road

Zhuhai, Guangdong, China

(Postal Code: 519080)

Tel: (86) 75 6632 2668

Fax: (86) 75 6632 2660

(EB4% © 410000)

I RLZAEREEREFAR

b RTERRAEEPIEAE 605
IR EHEBREAEIE 095 E
(BB4% : 100082)

T 1 (86) 10 8273 6009

i () BHE AR EE AR
b RTERREEPIEAE 605
IR EHEEREAEIE095EE
(Eb4% © 100082)

3% 1 (86) 10 8273 6009

Tl RHR R A0
EMERRHER 157
5 77 R [E] B2 AR PO
(B4R : 519080)

E 3% 1 (86) 75 6632 2668
{BH : (86) 75 6632 2660
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MACAU

CSA Automated (Macau) Limited

Alameda Dr. Carlos D’Assumpcao, No. 180
Edificio Tong Nam Ah Comercial Campo
14 Andar O-R, Macau

Tel: (853) 2878 6392

Fax: (853) 2878 6390

iN Systems (Macao) Limited

Alameda Dr. Carlos D’Assumpcao, No. 180
Edificio Tong Nam Ah Comercial Campo
14 Andar R, Macau

Tel: (853) 2878 6392

Fax: (853) 2878 6390

THAILAND

ASL Automated (Thailand) Limited

283/42 Home Place Office Building

Unit 0901, 9th Floor

Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thonglor 13), Sukhumvit Road
Klongtan Nua, Vadhana

Bangkok 10110, Thailand

Tel: (662) 185 3206

Fax: (662) 185 3207

ASL Automated Services (Thailand) Limited
283/42 Home Place Office Building

Unit 0902, 9th Floor

Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thonglor 13), Sukhumvit Road
Klongtan Nua, Vadhana

Bangkok 10110, Thailand

Tel: (662) 185 3206

Fax: (662) 185 3207

i-Sprint Innovations (Thailand) Co., Ltd
Level 32, Interchange 21

399 Sukumvit Road, North-Klongtoey
Wattana, Bangkok, 10110, Thailand
Tel: (662) 185 3206

Fax: (662) 185 3207

SINGAPORE

i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd

Blk 750D Lobby 1 Chai Chee Road
#08-01 Viva Business Park
Singapore 469 004

Tel: (65) 6244 3900

Fax: (65) 6244 8900
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BEI R4 CBPY) BRAR
SERPIR £ A E5 180 9%
REREERD

141 0-RE

3% 1 (853) 2878 6392
fEH : (853) 2878 6390

BERFRHE CRP) AR AR
JRPIR E A E5 180 %%
REEEERDL

141RE

B ¢ (853) 2878 6392
{55 : (853) 2878 6390

2 El

ASL Automated (Thailand) Limited
283/42 Home Place Office Building
Unit 0901, 9th Floor

Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thonglor 13)
Sukhumvit Road,

Klongtan Nua, Vadhana

Bangkok 10110, Thailand

BEE 0 (662) 185 3206

{8 H : (662) 185 3207

ASL Automated Services (Thailand) Limited
283/42 Home Place Office Building

Unit 0902, 9th Floor

Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thonglor 13), Sukhumvit Road
Klongtan Nua, Vadhana

Bangkok 10110, Thailand

% ih ¢ (662) 185 3206

{8 H : (662) 185 3207

i-Sprint Innovations (Thailand) Co., Ltd
Level 32, Interchange 21

399 Sukumvit Road, North-Klongtoey
Wattana, Bangkok, 10110, Thailand
EiE : (662) 185 3206

5 : (662) 185 3207

IR

i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd
Blk 750D Lobby 1 Chai Chee Road
#08-01 Viva Business Park
Singapore 469 004

: (65) 6244 3900
%ﬁ (65) 6244 8900
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MALAYSIA

i-Sprint Innovations Sdn Bhd
V-SQ @ PJ City Centre
5-13A-01, Jalan Utara
46200 Bandar Petaling Jaya
Selangor, Malaysia

Tel: (60) 3 7932 5688

Fax: (60) 3 7931 5688

POLAND

Limited Liability Company “Grid Dynamics Poland”

Aleja 3 Maja 9, 3rd Floor
Krakéw, 30-062, Poland
Tel: (48) 12 380 1616

Heritage Gates, ul. Rzezniczej 28
Wroctaw 50-529

SERBIA

Grid Dynamics LLC Beograd - Novi Beograd

115 Bulevar Mihajla Pupina
Belgrade, 11070, Serbia

RUSSIA
Limited Liability Company “Grid Dynamics”
Main Office and Legal Address

Chapaeva Street 15, Liter A
Saint Petersburg, 197101, Russia
Tel: (7) 812 640 3876

Fax: (7) 812 313 9640

Representative Office in Saint-Petersburg

22 Liter A Petrogradskaya Embankment
Saint Petersburg, 197046, Russia

Tel: (7) 812 640 3876

Fax: (7) 812 313 9640

Branch Office in Saratov

38/114 Vavilova Street, Saratov, 410012, Russia
Tel: (7) 8452 67 4878

Representative Office in Saratov

145 Liter A Rabochaya Street, Saratov, 410012, Russia
Tel: (7) 8452 67 4878

BRAD

i-Sprint Innovations Sdn Bhd
V-SQ @ PJ City Centre
5-13A-01, Jalan Utara
46200 Bandar Petaling Jaya
Selangor, Malaysia

S ¢ (60) 37932 5688
{#H : (60) 3 7931 5688

]
Limited Liability Company “Grid Dynamics Poland”

Aleja 3 Maja 9, 3rd Floor
Krakéw, 30-062, Poland
EiE 0 (48) 123801616

Heritage Gates, ul. Rzezniczej 28
Wroctaw 50-529

EfMgED

Grid Dynamics LLC Beograd - Novi Beograd

115 Bulevar Mihajla Pupina
Belgrade, 11070, Serbia

AT

Limited Liability Company “Grid Dynamics”
Main Office and Legal Address
Chapaeva Street 15, Liter A

Saint Petersburg, 197101, Russia

E 5 0 (7) 812 640 3876
{25 :(7)812 313 9640

EERGENRKERPEE

22 Liter A Petrogradskaya Embankment,
Saint Petersburg, 197046, Russia

E 35 1 (7) 812 640 3876

{8H : (7)812 313 9640

ERAERNT AT

38/114 Vavilova Street, Saratov, 410012, Russia
E:E : (7) 8452 67 4878

ERARRNRERPER

145 Liter A Rabochaya Street, Saratov, 410012, Russia
Tel: (7) 8452 67 4878
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UKRAINE

Limited Liability Company “Grid Dynamics Ukraine”

6 Danilevskogo Street, Kharkiv, 61058, Ukraine

Representative Office

5 Vesnina St., Kharkiv, 61023, Ukraine
Tel: (38) 057 728 5233

Representative Office

Limited Liability Company “GD Ukraine”
54 Pushkinska Street, Kharkiv, 61057, Ukraine

Representative Office

5 Vesnina St., Kharkiv, 61023, Ukraine
Tel: (38) 057 728 5233

Representative Office

72 Velyka Vasylkivska St., Kyiv 79000, Ukraine

Representative Office

5 Pidmurna St., Lviv, 79019

UNITED STATES

Grid Dynamics International, Inc.
5000 Executive Parkway, Suite 520
San Ramon, CA 94583, United States
Tel: (1) 650 523 5000

Grid Dynamics International, Inc.
5345 Towne Square Drive
Suite# 275, Plano

TX 75024, United States

Tel: (469) 353 6279

i-Sprint Innovations Inc.
197 Route 18 South
Suite 3000

East Brunswick, NJ 08816
Tel: (1) 201 604 3545
Fax: (1) 732 422 0178
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Limited Liability Company “Grid Dynamics Ukraine”

6 Danilevskogo Street, Kharkiv, 61058, Ukraine

REWEE

5 Vesnina St., Kharkiv, 61023, Ukraine
E 55 ¢ (38) 057 728 5233

REPEE

Limited Liability Company “GD Ukraine”
54 Pushkinska Street, Kharkiv, 61057, Ukraine

REWER

5 Vesnina St., Kharkiv, 61023, Ukraine
EaE 1 (38) 057 728 5233

REWEE

72 Velyka Vasylkivska St., Kyiv 79000, Ukraine

REPEE

5 Pidmurna St., Lviv, 79019

EE]

Grid Dynamics International, Inc.
5000 Executive Parkway, Suite 520
San Ramon, CA 94583, United States
%54 ¢ (1) 650 523 5000

Grid Dynamics International, Inc.
5345 Towne Square Drive
Suite# 275, Plano

TX 75024, United States

Tel: (469) 353 6279

i-Sprint Innovations Inc.
197 Route 18 South
Suite 3000

East Brunswick, NJ 08816
G 0 (1) 201 604 3545
fBE :(1)7324220178
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A Member of the Teamsun Group

Automated Systems Holdings Limited
BERRAEEBRAA

15th Floor, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2601 6998 Fax: (852) 2601 6936
Home Page: http://www.asl.com.hk
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